**American Red Cross** 

# Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021

# HEALTHCARE



The American Red Cross Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021 is overseen by the American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council and is part of the American Red Cross training services programs. The emergency care procedures outlined in these updates and guidelines reflect the standard of knowledge and accepted emergency practices in the United States at the time these updates and guidelines were published. It is the reader's responsibility to stay informed of changes in emergency care procedures.

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS (the "Terms and Conditions") BEFORE AGREEING TO ACCESS, USE OR DOWNLOAD THE FOLLOWING AMERICAN NATIONAL RED CROSS MATERIALS. BY PURCHASING, DOWNLOADING, OR OTHERWISE USING OR ACCESSING THE MATERIALS, YOU ACKNOWLEDGE AND HEREBY AGREE TO BE LEGALLY BOUND BY BOTH THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND THE AMERICAN NATIONAL RED CROSS TERMS OF USE (AVAILABLE AT redcross.org/terms-of-use). YOU AGREE THAT THE INCLUDED MATERIALS ARE PROVIDED "AS IS" AND WITHOUT WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, AND THAT **ANY ACCESS TO OR USE OF THESE MATERIALS IS AT YOUR OWN RISK**.

The following materials (including downloadable electronic materials, as applicable) including all content, graphics, images and logos, are copyrighted by, and the exclusive property of, The American National Red Cross ("Red Cross"). Unless otherwise indicated in writing by the Red Cross, the Red Cross grants you ("Recipient") the limited right to download, print, photocopy and use the electronic materials, subject to the following restrictions:

- The Recipient is prohibited from creating new electronic versions of the materials.
- The Recipient is prohibited from revising, altering, adapting or modifying the materials, which includes removing, altering or covering any copyright notices, Red Cross marks, logos or other proprietary notices placed or embedded in the materials.
- The Recipient is prohibited from creating any derivative works incorporating, in part or in whole, the content of the materials.
- The Recipient is prohibited from downloading the materials, or any part of the materials, and putting them on Recipient's own website or any other third-party website without advance written permission of the Red Cross.
- The Recipient is prohibited from removing these Terms and Conditions in otherwise-permitted copies, and is likewise prohibited from making any additional representations or warranties relating to the materials.

Any rights not expressly granted herein are reserved by the Red Cross. The Red Cross does not permit its materials to be reproduced or published without advance written permission from the Red Cross. To request permission to reproduce or publish Red Cross materials, please submit your written request to The American National Red Cross by going to the Contact Us page on redcross.org and filling out the General Inquiry Form.

Copyright © 2022 by The American National Red Cross. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

The Red Cross emblem, and the American Red Cross name and logos are trademarks of The American National Red Cross and protected by various national statutes.



# **Science and Technical Content**

The scientific content and evidence within the American Red Cross Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021 are consistent with the most current science and treatment recommendations from:

- The International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR)
- The International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC)
- The Policy Statements, Evidence Reviews and Guidelines of:
  - American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP)
  - American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP)
  - American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG)
  - American College of Surgeons (ACS)
  - Committee on Tactical Combat Casualty Care (CoTCCC)
  - Obstetric Life Support<sup>™</sup> (OBLS<sup>™</sup>)
  - · Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) and the American College of Critical Care Medicine (ACCM)
  - Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC)

### **Dedication**

The American Red Cross Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021 are dedicated to the nurses, physicians, prehospital professionals, therapists, technicians, law enforcement, fire/rescue, advanced practice professionals, lifeguards, first responders, lay responders and all other professionals and individuals who are prepared and willing to take action when an emergency strikes or when a person is in need of care. These updates and guidelines are also dedicated to the employees and volunteers of the American Red Cross who contribute their time and talent to supporting and teaching lifesaving skills worldwide.

# **Acknowledgments**

Many individuals shared in the development of the American Red Cross Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021 in various scientific, technical, editorial, creative and supportive ways. Their commitment to excellence made these updates and guidelines possible.



### **Content Direction**

The development of these updates and guidelines would not have been possible without the leadership, valuable insights and dedication of the subject matter experts, who generously shared their time to ensure the highest quality programs.

David Markenson, MD, MBA, FCCM, FAAP, FACEP, FACHE Scientific Advisory Council Co-Chair Chief Medical Officer, American Red Cross

E. M. "Nici" Singletary, MD, FACEP Scientific Advisory Council Co-Chair Professor, Department of Emergency Medicine University of Virginia

Nathan P. Charlton, MD Scientific Advisory Council, First Aid Subcouncil Chair Associate Professor, Department of Emergency Medicine University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

Jeffrey L. Pellegrino, PhD, MPH, EMT-B/FF, EMS-I Scientific Advisory Council, Education Subcouncil Chair Assistant Professor of Emergency Management and Homeland Security University of Akron Akron, Ohio William Dominic Ramos, MS, PhD Aquatics Subcouncil Chair Indiana University Bloomington, Indiana

Joseph W. Rossano, MD Scientific Advisory Council, Resuscitation Subcouncil Chair Chief, Division of Cardiology Co-Executive Director of the Cardiac Center Jennifer Terker Endowed Chair in Pediatric Cardiology Associate Professor of Pediatrics at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia and the Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Mark Whelchel, DNP, RN, ACNP-BC, CCRN American Red Cross Director, Healthcare and Pre-Hospital Education

### **American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council**

Since 1909, the American Red Cross has provided best-in-class resuscitation, first aid and safety education and certification, enabling students to obtain the competency required for effective recognition and care and leading to better outcomes for all those treated.

Behind every course stands a team of experts ensuring that what is taught is based on the latest clinical and educational science. This team, known as the American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council, is a panel of 60+ nationally and internationally recognized experts from a variety of medical, nursing, EMS, scientific, educational and academic disciplines.

With members from a broad range of professional specialties, the Council has an important advantage: a broad, multidisciplinary expertise in evaluating existing and new assessment methodologies and technologies, therapies, and procedures, and the educational methods to teach them. Additionally, with on-the-ground experience, its members bring the know-how for real-world experience. The Council provides authoritative guidance on resuscitation, first aid, CPR, nursing, prehospital medicine, emergency and critical care, rescue practices, emergency preparedness, aquatics, disaster health and education.

We encourage you to visit our Scientific Advisory Resource Center at redcross.org/science.

We would like to extend our gratitude to the members of the American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council for their guidance and ongoing commitment:

David Markenson, MD, MBA, FCCM, FAAP, FACEP, FACHE Scientific Advisory Council Co-Chair Chief Medical Officer, American Red Cross E. M. "Nici" Singletary, MD, FACEP Scientific Advisory Council Co-Chair Professor, Department of Emergency Medicine University of Virginia



#### **Aquatics Subcouncil**

William Dominic Ramos, MS, PhD Aquatics Subcouncil Chair Indiana University Bloomington, Indiana

Angela K. Beale-Tawfeeq, PhD Chair Associate Professor Department of STEAM Education College of Education, Rowan University Glassboro, New Jersey

Roy Fielding, MS, LGIT, WSIT<sup>†</sup> Senior Lecturer in the Department of Kinesiology, University of North Carolina at Charlotte Vice-Chair of both the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Model Aquatic Health Code Technical Committee on Bather Supervision and Lifeguarding, and the Technical Committee on Recirculation and Filtering Charlotte, North Carolina

#### **Education Subcouncil**

Jeffrey L. Pellegrino, PhD, MPH, EMT-B/FF, EMS-I Education Subcouncil Chair Assistant Professor of Emergency Management and Homeland Security University of Akron Akron, Ohio

Nicholas Asselin, DO, MS Education Subcouncil Vice Chair Department of Emergency Medicine Division of EMS Alpert Medical School of Brown University LifePACT Critical Care Transport Providence, Rhode Island

Rita V. Burke, PhD, MPH Department of Preventive Medicine University of Southern California Los Angeles, California Jodi Jensen, PhD Assistant Professor and Director of Aquatics Hampton University Yorktown, Virginia

Leslie K. Kunz, BRec Supervisor—Citizen Services (Access 311) Department of Community Services City of St. John's Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Stephen J. Langendorfer, PhD Bowling Green, Ohio

Bridget L. McKinney, PhD(h), MS, BS District Supervisor, Miami Dade PSS PSWAP-Mentoring and Swim Organization, Inc.

Linda Quan, MD Bellevue, Washington Kevin M. Ryan, MD Assistant Professor of Emergency Medicine Boston University School of Medicine, Associate Medical Director, Boston EMS Boston, Massachusetts

Andrew Schmidt, DO, MPH Assistant Professor Department of Emergency Medicine University of Florida College of Medicine Jacksonville, Florida

Peter G. Wernicki, MD, FAAOS Orthopedic Surgeon, Pro Sports Vero Beach, Florida Assistant Clinical Professor of Orthopedic Surgery Florida State University College of Medicine

Brian Miller, MS, Mused, MEd, CHES Program Director, Health Sciences Chair, Institutional Review Board Cadaver Anatomy Lab Technician Murphy Deming College of Health Science, Mary Baldwin University Fishersville, Virginia

Gamze Ozogul, PhD Instructional Systems and Technology Department School of Education, Indiana University Bloomington, Indiana Thomas E. Sather, Ed.D, MS, MSS, CASP, CDR, MSC, USN Branch Chief, Training Operations Defense Health Agency Life Support Training Manager Assistant Professor, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Education and Training, Military Medical Treatment Facility Operations Division J-7 Education and Training Directorate Defense Health Agency (DHA) Falls Church, Virginia

<sup>†</sup>Deceased



IV

#### **First Aid Subcouncil**

Nathan P. Charlton, MD, FACEP First Aid Subcouncil Chair Associate Professor, Department of Emergency Medicine University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

S. Robert Seitz, MEd, RN, NRP First Aid Subcouncil Vice Chair Center of Emergency Medicine University of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

David C. Berry, PhD, MHA, AT, ATC, ATRIC, CKTP Professor/Professional Athletic Training Program Director Department of Kinesiology College of Health and Human Services Saginaw Valley State University University Center, Michigan

Adelita G. Cantu, PhD, RN Associate Professor, UT Health San Antonio School of Nursing San Antonio, Texas

Jestin Carlson, MD, MS, FACEP National Director of Clinical Education Allegheny Health Network US Acute Care Solutions Emergency Medicine Management Erie, Pennsylvania

Sarita A. Chung, MD, FAAP Department of Medicine Division of Emergency Medicine Children's Hospital Boston, Massachusetts

Yolanda Gilbert, MD, MBA, FAPA Chair, Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, National Medical Association Assistant Clinical Professor, Emory University School of Medicine Adjunct Assistant Clinical Professor, Morehouse School of Medicine Atlanta, GA Craig Goolsby, MD, MEd, FACEP Professor and Vice Chair, Department of Military and Emergency Medicine/Science Director National Center for Disaster Medicine and Public Health Uniformed Services University Bethesda, Maryland

Elizabeth K. Hewett, MD Assistant Professor of Pediatrics University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine Faculty Physician, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Morgan Hillier, MD, BSc, BKin, FRCPC, MSc Staff Emergency Physician Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre Toronto Medical Director Toronto Fire Services Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Angela H. Holian, PharmD, BCPS Emergency Medicine Clinical Pharmacist University of Virginia Health System Charlottesville, VA

Deanna Colburn Hostler, DPT, PhD, CCS Clinical Assistant Professor Department of Rehabilitation Sciences University at Buffalo Buffalo, New York

Robin M. Ikeda, MD, MPH, RADM, USPHS Associate Director for Policy and Strategy Office of the Director Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Atlanta, Georgia

Amy Kule, MD, FACEP Loyola University Medical Center Maywood, Illinois Matthew J. Levy, DO, MSc, FACEP, FAEMS, NRP Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Department of Emergency Medicine Baltimore, Maryland Howard County Government Department of Fire and Rescue Services Columbia, Maryland

Edward J. McManus, MD I.D. Care, Inc./I.D. Associates, P.A. Hillsborough, New Jersey

Nathaniel McQuay, MD Chief, Acute Care Surgery, University Hospitals Cleveland Medical Center Cleveland, OH

Aaron M. Orkin, MD, MSc, MPH, PhD(c), CCFP(EM), FRCPC Assistant Professor Department of Family and Community Medicine University of Toronto Emergency Physician, St. Joseph's Health Centre and Humber River Hospital Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Amita Sudhir, MD Associate Professor Department of Emergency Medicine University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

Jeffrey S. Upperman, MD Professor & Chair, Department of Pediatric Surgery Surgeon-in-Chief Vanderbilt Children's Hospital Nashville, Tennessee



#### Preparedness and Health Subcouncil

Dr. Steven J. Jensen, DPPD Preparedness and Health Subcouncil Chair Advisor, Emergency Management Lecturer California State University at Long Beach Long Beach, California

Theodore J. Gaensbauer, MD, FAPA, FAACAP Clinical Professor, Department of Psychiatry, University of Colorado Health and Sciences Center Denver, Colorado

#### **Resuscitation Subcouncil**

Joseph W. Rossano, MD Resuscitation Subcouncil Chair Chief, Division of Cardiology Co-Executive Director of the Cardiac Center, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Jennifer Terker Endowed Chair in Pediatric Cardiology, Perelman School of Medicine Associate Professor of Pediatrics at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia and the Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Bruce J. Barnhart, MSN, RN, CEP Senior Program Manager Arizona Emergency Medicine Research Center The University of Arizona College of Medicine-Phoenix Phoenix, Arizona

Lynn Boyle, MSN, RN, CCRN Nurse Manager-PICU The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Philadelphia, Pennsylvania Lauren M. Sauer, MS Assistant Professor of Emergency Medicine Department of Emergency Medicine Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Baltimore, Maryland

Richard N. Bradley, MD, FACEP 147th Medical Group Houston, Texas

Meredith Gibbons, MSN, CPNP Pediatric Nurse Practitioner Columbia University Medical Center New York, New York

Wendell E. Jones, MD, MBA, CPE, FACP Chief Medical Officer Veteran's Integrated Service, Network 17 Arlington, Texas

Andrew MacPherson, MD, CCFP-EM, FCFP Clinical Professor Department of Emergency Medicine University of British Columbia Royal Jubilee Hospital Victoria, British Columbia, Canada Samir K. Sinha, MD, DPhil, FRCPC, AGSF Peter and Shelagh Godsoe Chair in Geriatrics and Director of Geriatrics, Sinai Health System and the University Health Network Associate Professor of Medicine, Health Policy, Management and Evaluation University of Toronto and Assistant Professor of Medicine Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Mount Sinai Hospital Toronto, Ontario

Jacqueline Snelling, MS Arlington, Virginia

Bryan F. McNally, MD, MPH Professor, Department of Emergency Medicine Emory University School of Medicine Atlanta, Georgia

Ira Nemeth, MD Medical Director Ben Taub Emergency Department Senior Faculty, Baylor College of Medicine Houston, Texas

Joshua M. Tobin, MD Adjunct Clinical Associate Professor Stanford University Medical Center Stanford, California

Bryan M. White, MD, Col, USAF, MC, FACC, FASE, RPVI DHA Life Support Medical Director CMIO/ISC Chair - 99th MDG MTN/DHA J-7 LSSAC DHA CVCC Chair AF Cardiology Consultant Nellis AFB, NV

Lynn White, MS, FAEMS National Director of Clinical Practice Global Medical Response

#### First Aid (Ad Hoc)

Ryan Circh, MD, FAWM CarePoint Healthcare Greenwood Village, Colorado Deborah C. Mandell, VMD, ACVECC Veterinary Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, Pennsylvania Tod Schimelpfenig, WEMT, EMT-1, FAWM Curriculum Director NOLS Wilderness Medicine Lander, Wyoming



#### Preparedness and Disaster Health (Ad Hoc)

Keith A. Ball, MPS Jacksonville, Florida

Frederick "Skip" M. Burkle, Jr., MD, MPH, DTM, FAAP, FACEP Senior Fellow and Scientist Harvard Humanitarian Initiative Harvard University Senior International Public Policy Scholar Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars Nicoda Foster, MPH, PhD(c) Project Manager Office of the Director of Geriatrics Sinai Health System and the University Health Network Hospital Mount Sinai Hospital Toronto, Ontario, Canada

James A. Judge II, BPA, CEM, FPEM, EMT-P Senior Advisor, Scientific Advisory Council Emergency Management Director Volusia County Department of Public Protection Daytona Beach, Florida Thomas D. Kirsch, MD, MPH, FACEP Director National Center for Disaster Medicine and Public Health Professor Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Rockville, Maryland

#### Aquatics (Ad Hoc)

Austin R. Anderson, PhD Associate Professor University of Southern Indiana Evansville, Indiana

Teresa (Terri) Lees, MS Bel Aire, Kansas

#### **International Representatives**

Pascal Cassan, MD National Medical Advisor of the French Red Cross Head IFRC Global First Aid Reference Centre Nontrouge, France

Jeannene Crosby Coordinator Swimming and Water Safety Programs Canadian Red Cross Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

Shelley Dalke Director, Swimming and Water Safety Education Programs Canadian Red Cross Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada Mark Miller, MS Assistant Director of Aquatics, Indiana University Recreational Sports Bloomington, Indiana Jason Tucker Assistant Director of Aquatics, Indiana University Bloomington, Indiana

Ian Fitzpatrick First Aid Subcouncil Coordinator of Regulatory Compliance Canadian Red Cross, National Office Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

Don Marentette Director, First Aid Canadian Red Cross Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

Joanna Muise Senior Advisor First Aid Program Development Canadian Red Cross Dartmouth, Nova Scotia, Canada Shawna Peddle Director, Disaster Risk Reduction Canadian Red Cross, National Office Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

David Percy Commercial Operations Canadian Red Cross Toronto Ontario, Canada

Samina Talat Associate Vice President Health Innovations Canadian Red Cross Mississauga, Ontario, Canada

### **Program Development**

Special thanks to the program development team for their expertise to bring this program through to completion: Dominick Tolli, Danielle DiPalma, Cindy Tryniszewski, Laurie Willshire, Maureen Pancza, Ryan Wallace and Iperdesign.



# **Table of Contents**

#### **CHAPTER 1: BASIC LIFE SUPPORT**

Early Access	2
Public Access Defibrillation Programs	2
Dispatcher/Telecommunicator-Assisted CPR	3
Video-based Dispatcher-Assisted Instruction	3
Dispatcher Recognition of Cardiac Arrest	4
Harm from CPR to Victims not in Arrest	5
Dispatcher-Assisted Compression-Only CPR versus Conventional CPR	6
CPR Techniques and Sequence	7
Starting CPR (A-B-C versus C-A-B)	7
CPR Prior to Call for Help	7
Compression-Only CPR Versus Conventional CPR: EMS	8
Chest Compression Rate	9
Chest Compression Depth	10
Chest Wall Recoil	11
Compression-to-Ventilation Ratios for CPR	12
Pulse Check During CPR	13
CPR Prior to Defibrillation	13
Optimal Surface for CPR	15
Head-Up CPR	16
Alternative Cardiac Resuscitation Techniques	17
Tidal Volumes and Ventilation Rates	18
Bag-Mask Ventilation versus Mouth-to-Mask Ventilation	19
Feedback for CPR Quality	20
Harm to Those Performing CPR	22
Defibrillation	24
Defibrillator Electrode Pad Size and Placement	24
Opioid-Associated Emergencies	25
Suspected Opioid-Associated Emergency Resuscitation	25
Drowning Process Resuscitation	25
CPR for Drowning Process Resuscitation	26
Special Considerations in Drowning Process Resuscitation	28
Prehospital Oxygen in Drowning Process Resuscitation	29



1

#### **CHAPTER 2: ADVANCED LIFE SUPPORT**

Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation: Techniques and Process	32
Rhythm Analysis During Chest Compressions	32
CPR and Defibrillation in the Prone Patient	33
Consciousness During CPR	35
Oxygen Dose During CPR	36
Double Sequence Defibrillation	37
Steroids and Vasopressin for In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest	38
Drowning Process Resuscitation	40
Advanced Airway Management in Drowning Process Resuscitation	40
Mechanical Ventilation in Drowning in Drowning Process Resuscitation	41
Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation in Drowning Process Resuscitation	41
Criteria for Discharge in Patients Who Have Had a Drowning Event	42
Post-Cardiac Arrest Care	43
Early Coronary Angiography After Return of Spontaneous Circulation (ROSC)	43
Post-Cardiac Arrest Temperature Control	45
Initial Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock in Adults	47
Initial Resuscitation of Adults with Sepsis and Septic Shock	48
Timing of Antimicrobial Administration for Sepsis and Septic Shock	51
Vasoactive Agents for Adults with Septic Shock	52
Oxygenation and Ventilatory Management of Sepsis with Respiratory Failure	54
CHAPTER 3: PEDIATRIC ADVANCED LIFE SUPPORT	56
Pediatric Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation: Techniques and Process	57
CPR and Defibrillation in the Prone Patient	57
Post-Cardiac Arrest Temperature Control in Children and Infants	58
CHAPTER 4: NEONATAL LIFE SUPPORT	60
Neonatal Resuscitation	61
Preterm Cord Management	61
Term Cord Management	63
Positive Pressure Ventilations at Birth	65
Family Presence During Neonatal Resuscitation	66
CHAPTER 5: EDUCATION SCIENCE	68
Self-Directed Digital Basic Life Support Training	69
Opioid Overdose First Aid Education	71

#### APPENDIX A: ABBREVIATIONS IN FOCUSED UPDATES AND GUIDELINES 2021 79



# Introduction

### About the Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021

This focused update summarizes results of the scientific evidence evaluations and guideline reviews overseen by the American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council (ARCSAC) from 2020 to 2021 on topics related to Basic Life Support, Advanced Life Support, Pediatric Advanced Life Support, Neonatal Life Support and Education. Evidence summaries are provided that include data, reviews and guidance from:

- The American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council (ARCSAC)
- The International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR)
- The World Health Organization (WHO)
- The Society for Critical Care Medicine (SCCM)/American College of Critical Care Medicine (ACCM)
- The Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC)
- The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP)
- The American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP)
- Obstetric Life Support<sup>™</sup> (OBLS<sup>™</sup>)
- The American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG)
- The American College of Surgeons (ACS)
- The Stop the Bleed Campaign (STB)
- The Committee on Tactical Combat Casualty Care (Co-TCCC)
- Cardiac Arrest Registry to Enhance Survival (CARES)

Each chapter is organized by topic and contains the following recurring sections:

- An Evidence Summary, highlighting the most recent and important science, when available, to support the guidelines
- **Insights and Implications**, providing ARCSAC expert guidance and decisions, related observations, reviewer opinions or important gaps in knowledge or research

The **Red Cross Guidelines** include recommended actions for healthcare professionals and emergency responders, as appropriate. The American Red Cross Guidelines Highlights 2021 include those that are new, updated and reaffirmed:

- New: Guidelines are new for 2021.
- Updated: Guidelines have minor wording changes primarily for clarity.
- *Reaffirmed*: Guidelines are those that have undergone an updated systematic review, scoping review or search for new scientific literature and determined to remain valid.



### About the American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council

The American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council (ARCSAC) ensures the clinical and educational basis for Red Cross programs, products and guidance. The ARCSAC is a panel of 60+ nationally and internationally recognized experts in resuscitation, emergency medicine, critical care, infectious disease, trauma, nursing, first aid, education, special populations, prehospital medicine and systems, hospital-based medicine, quality and performance improvement, graduate and undergraduate medical education, continuing education, aquatics, and preparedness and disaster health. They review the available evidence to create scientific reviews, answers to questions, literature updates, and position statements. Their guidance is incorporated into curricula for all Red Cross courses. The ARCSAC has been instrumental in providing scientific reviews used in formulating evidence-based guidelines for the Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021, and for providing expert opinion when evidence is lacking. The digital publication of the Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021 will allow incorporation of critical new evidence or guidelines as needed, including sepsis, where the science is rapidly evolving.



**CHAPTER 1** 

# **Basic Life Support**



7

7

# **Early Access**

# **Public Access Defibrillation Programs**

Public access defibrillation (PAD) programs have been shown to improve survival with favorable neurological outcome in adults and children. Strategies for placement and deployment of automated external defibrillators (AEDs) used in PAD programs are active research topics.

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Public access defibrillation programs should be an essential part of the management of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest.
- REAFFIRMED Community leaders may consider determining the locations that have a high incidence of cardiac arrest in the local area and develop methods to have public access defibrillators available at these locations at the time of arrests.

### **Evidence Summary**

A 2017 ARCSAC review<sup>1</sup> evaluated public access defibrillator placement and found a weak correlation between accessibility of public access defibrillators and the location of cardiac arrests. Additionally, a 2020 ILCOR systematic review and consensus on science with treatment recommendations (CoSTR)<sup>2</sup> evaluated the implementation of a PAD program compared with traditional emergency medical service (EMS) response for adults and children with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA), demonstrating survival benefits with favorable neurological outcome at different timepoints associated with a PAD program.

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update identified seven new relevant studies.<sup>3-9</sup> Simulation studies and mathematical models were excluded. The identified studies focused on the use of public access AEDs, survival following use of public access AEDs and strategies for public access AED locations. One study looked at gender disparities in AED use. A brief summary of relevant studies follows.

A retrospective observational study evaluated the survival among persons with OHCA at the Copenhagen (Denmark) airport.<sup>3</sup> The study reported that of 23 nontraumatic OHCAs, nearly all of which were witnessed by bystanders, 73.9% received bystander CPR and 43.5% received bystander defibrillation. There was 100% survival among persons with an initial shockable rhythm and 56% survival of all persons. Those with OHCA at the airport were more likely to receive bystander defibrillation, to have return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) and to survive to hospital discharge. The authors concluded that the high proportion of bystander defibrillation indicates that bystanders will quickly apply and use an AED, when accessible. The findings also support developing and updating guidelines to strategically deploy accessible AEDs in areas with a high risk of OHCA.<sup>3</sup>

The use of and/or effectiveness of PAD was analyzed using data from a population-based registry of OHCA in Tokyo.<sup>4</sup> Another retrospective review using registry data in Osaka, Japan, reported improved clinical outcomes with public access AED use for OHCA irrespective of the first documented rhythm.<sup>5</sup> A retrospective review reported OHCA and public access AED use over a 10-year period in Poland.<sup>6</sup>



Gender disparities was the focus of a retrospective observational study<sup>7</sup> that analyzed data from the Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium registry between 2011 and 2015. The study looked for gender-based differences in OHCA location to determine what proportion might be eligible for a PAD program, and if gender is associated with AED use. Results reported that women have fewer OHCAs than men in public locations where an AED is available and are less likely to have AED application in public OHCA, even with bystander interventions.

One observational study<sup>8</sup> and a systematic review<sup>9</sup> focused on placement of public access AEDs. A retrospective observational study between 2014 and 2018 in Switzerland used a geodata processing tool to evaluate locations of historical OHCAs and public access AEDs and median distances between public access AEDs.<sup>8</sup> Analysis of areas with a high density of uncovered OHCAs, or hotspots, was used to identify proposed locations for placement of additional public access AEDs. OHCAs at home only had a coverage rate of 4.5%, although 79.3% of OHCAs occurred at home in this study.<sup>8</sup>

A systematic review with qualitative analysis evaluated studies of deployment strategies for public access AEDs.<sup>9</sup> Strategies identified for the deployment of AEDs included guidelines-based, grid-based and landmark-based deployment. The authors reported that the use of a grid-based AED deployment method increased the use of bystander defibrillation threefold and doubled survival at 30 days. It was concluded that while the optimal method could not be fully identified, a more efficient public access AED deployment method could be beneficial for coverage of OHCA and potential survival. The authors suggested optimizing public access defibrillator location by mathematical modeling and evaluation feedback.<sup>9</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

Although PAD programs are an active research topic, the literature update did not identify sufficient evidence to warrant a new scientific review and the guidelines remain unchanged. In the United States, use of public access defibrillators remains low, and further research is needed to identify barriers to their use.

# **Dispatcher/Telecommunicator-Assisted CPR**

Instructions provided to individuals who call 9-1-1 may be provided by an EMS dispatcher, or by a person designated as an EMS telecommunicator, separate from performing dispatch operations. The use of EMS dispatchers and telecommunicators to provide instructions for CPR and first aid has become an active research area, evaluating both skill performance and, to a lesser extent, patient-centered outcomes. Throughout this section, the term "dispatcher" is considered to include "telecommunicators" who function within an EMS system and who communicate with callers or provide instructions for care.

### Video-Based Dispatcher-Assisted Instruction

Communication between dispatch centers and lay responders at the scene of a cardiac arrest are typically through an audio connection on a cell phone. Recently, some dispatch centers have been able to provide cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) instruction by both audio and video communication modes. Does the addition of video to audio dispatcher CPR instructions improve clinical outcomes following cardiac arrest?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

• Video-based dispatcher instruction may be considered by dispatch centers as a supplement to standard audio instructions.



A 2021 systematic review by ILCOR<sup>10</sup> identified a single human observational study<sup>11</sup> with 1,720 adult OHCAs that reported benefits for outcomes of good neurological function at discharge, survival to discharge and prehospital ROSC with use of video-based dispatcher-assisted CPR instruction as compared with standard audio-based dispatcher instruction; however, these benefits were not observed when using adjusted data or propensity score matching analysis. Manikin simulation studies identified in this review showed improvement in chest compression rates and time to compressions with the use of video-based dispatcher-assisted instruction. A difference was not shown for other outcomes such as compression depth, hand position or recoil. Despite this, the reviewers felt that it is important to encourage research in this area and made a weak recommendation that the usefulness of video-based dispatch systems be assessed in clinical trials or research initiatives.<sup>10,12,13</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

An older systematic review included simulation studies showing a significantly improved chest compression rate with the use of video-based dispatcher-assisted CPR compared with audio-based dispatcher assistance, but with an associated delay in commencing bystander CPR.<sup>14</sup> Further clinical research is needed to identify potential benefits or harm associated with video-based dispatcher-assisted CPR. In light of the delay of CPR initiation, without further research, a new guideline cannot be supported at this time.

### **Dispatcher Recognition of Cardiac Arrest**

Recognition of cardiac arrest by dispatchers is critical for the rapid response by EMS and for assistance with bystander CPR instructions. How well a dispatcher can recognize cardiac arrest may be influenced by call characteristics, such as words, language, idioms or the emotional state of the caller.

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Dispatch centers should employ standardized and evidence-based protocols for recognition of cardiac arrest.
- Dispatch centers should monitor the diagnostic accuracy of recognition of cardiac arrest from use of any specific dispatch criteria or algorithms.

### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 diagnostic systematic review<sup>15</sup> by ILCOR evaluated studies of dispatcher recognition of cardiac arrest and call characteristics that might influence their ability to recognize cardiac arrest. Significant heterogeneity between studies and high risk of bias precluded meta-analyses. The use of different dispatching criteria or algorithms and the level of education was not found to impact diagnostic accuracy. Sensitivity for cardiac arrest from 46 studies ranged between 0.46 to 0.98, while specificity for cardiac arrest from 12 studies ranged from 0.32 to 1.00.<sup>15</sup>



### **Insights and Implications**

Studies included in the systematic review were from a variety of countries, with most from the European Union and the United Kingdom, and 10 from the United States. Differing standardized algorithms were used, such as the Advanced Medical Priority Dispatch<sup>™</sup> software, while other dispatch centers used dispatcher judgment or other criteria.

The chain of survival for cardiac arrest starts with recognition of cardiac arrest and activation of EMS, followed by early CPR. Thus, the ability of EMS dispatchers to accurately identify cardiac arrest is critical to saving lives, and monitoring accuracy in dispatcher recognition of cardiac arrest will aid future research. Machine learning as a supportive tool to assist dispatchers with recognition of cardiac arrest is a promising area of research. A recent randomized controlled trial (RCT)<sup>16</sup> of 5,242 emergency calls used a machine learning model listening to calls to determine if it could alert dispatchers in cases of suspected cardiac arrest. While there was no significant improvement in recognition of OHCA during calls in which the model alerted dispatchers compared with those in which it did not alert dispatchers, the machine learning model had a higher sensitivity than the dispatchers without alerts for recognizing confirmed cardiac arrest (85.0% versus 77.5%; P<0.001).

### Harm from CPR to Victims Not in Arrest

Bystanders who witness a possible cardiac arrest in the out-of-hospital setting may hesitate to perform CPR for fear they may cause harm to the person if they are not truly in cardiac arrest. When dispatchers provide direction, is this a valid concern and how should it be addressed?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

UPDATED

 Dispatchers should provide guidance to bystanders to begin CPR based on their assessment and without concern for harm to persons not in cardiac arrest.

### **Evidence Summary**

This topic underwent a literature update by ARCSAC in 2021 following a systematic review by ILCOR in 2020.<sup>2</sup> The 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify new studies directly addressing the question, and the Red Cross guidelines remain unchanged. However, a recent retrospective study<sup>17</sup> identified in the update used a legal research database to search for verdicts and settlements from all 50 states between 1989 and 2019 for personal injury or wrongful death lawsuits involving CPR. The authors identified and reviewed 170 cases directly related to CPR. Of the 170 cases, only three alleged harm due to providing CPR, while the other 167 cases were due to inadequate or delayed bystander CPR.

The 2020 systematic review<sup>2</sup> sought to identify studies demonstrating harm from the provision of chest compressions by lay responders to adults and children not in cardiac arrest in the out-of-hospital setting. Pooled data from retrospective reviews of 345 patients who were not in cardiac arrest but who received CPR by lay responders, found the most common injury reported was pain in the area of chest compression (incidence, 8.7%; 95% CI, 5.7–11.7%) followed by rib and clavicle fractures (1.7%; 95% CI, 0.4–3.1%). No clinically relevant visceral injury was reported.<sup>2</sup>



### **Insights and Implications**

The potential survival benefits from CPR initiated by lay responders for those in cardiac arrest outweigh the low risk of injury should a person not be in cardiac arrest when CPR is performed. Although the evidence was indirect, the legal database review<sup>17</sup> findings also support the guideline that lay responders should begin CPR based on their assessment and without concern for harm to persons not in cardiac arrest.

### Dispatcher-Assisted Compression-Only CPR Versus Conventional CPR

Red Cross guidelines call for dispatchers to provide instructions to callers who are untrained in CPR, or who are unable to recall CPR performance steps, when providing care for adults with suspected OHCA. Is there evidence to show improved patient outcomes with dispatcher-assisted standard or compression-only CPR (CO-CPR)?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Dispatchers should provide instructions to perform compression-only CPR for suspected out-of-hospital cardiac arrest to those untrained in CPR or who are unable to recall CPR performance steps.
- Dispatchers should provide support as needed for performance of compression-ventilation CPR by those trained in standard CPR who are able to recall CPR performance steps.

### **Evidence Summary**

No new studies meeting inclusion criteria were identified by a 2021 ARCSAC literature update. However, studies were identified on dispatcher-assisted CPR versus no CPR, and for dispatcher-assisted CPR versus bystander CPR. A 2017 ILCOR systematic review<sup>18</sup> included one RCT<sup>19</sup> that did not show a benefit for the outcome of favorable neurologic function with dispatcher-assisted instructions to give CO-CPR compared with instructions to give standard CPR with a compression-to-ventilation (CV) ratio of 15:2. Additionally, a meta-analysis of three RCTs<sup>19-21</sup> using a random-effect model showed no significant survival benefit from dispatcher-assisted instructions to give CO-CPR compared with dispatcher-assisted instructions to give standard CPR with a CV ratio of 15:2.<sup>18</sup>

Despite the lack of new evidence, the Red Cross recommends, as a good practice statement, that dispatchers also provide standard CPR instructional support, when needed, to those trained in standard CPR who are able to recall CPR performance steps.

### **Insights and Implications**

Although the evidence from the 2017 ILCOR review compared dispatcher-assisted CO-CPR with dispatcherassisted standard CPR with a CV ratio of 15:2, it is unlikely that these studies will be replicated with the use of the current CV ratio of 30:2 CPR.



# **CPR Techniques and Sequence**

### Starting CPR (A-B-C versus C-A-B)

The question of how to begin CPR—with compressions first or with ventilations first—was the subject of a 2020 ARCSAC Answer<sup>1</sup> and a 2021 ARCSAC literature update.

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Once cardiac arrest is recognized, resuscitation should begin with compressions.
- **REAFFIRMED** Healthcare professionals may consider rescue breaths or manual ventilations first in pediatric patients with primary respiratory etiologies of cardiac arrest.
- **REAFFIRMED** For the drowning process resuscitation, once cardiac arrest is recognized, resuscitation should begin with rescue breaths or manual ventilations.

### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not lead to a change in the 2020 ARCSAC Answer,<sup>20</sup> which recommended to continue teaching the airway-breathing-circulation (A-B-C) approach for assessment in all emergencies and, for adult cardiac arrest and sudden pediatric arrest, to begin CPR with compressions followed by ventilations (compressions-airway-breathing [C-A-B]). A retrospective review in 2020 analyzed data from the Cardiac Arrest Registry for Enhanced Survival (CARES) between 2013 and 2016 from 548 cases of cardiac arrest following drowning on whom information was available on the type of CPR performed.<sup>21</sup> Compression-ventilation CPR (CV-CPR) in 5- to 15-year-olds was reported to be significantly associated with neurologically favorable survival (aOR, 2.68; 95% CI, 1.10–6.77; *P*=0.03) compared with CO-CPR, supporting the need for ventilations in hypoxic cardiac arrest.<sup>21</sup> This study informed the recommendation that for the drowning process, resuscitation should begin with ventilations/rescue breaths (A-B-C).

### **Insights and Implications**

For adult cardiac arrest and sudden pediatric cardiac arrest, the correct resuscitation sequence is compressions first, followed by ventilations. However, not every cardiac arrest is due to a primary cardiac etiology; many patients in cardiac arrest may have very low levels of oxygen in their blood at the time of arrest. The priority for these victims is to get oxygen to the vital organs, particularly in cases such as drowning or with infants and children, since cardiac arrest in this population is most commonly the result of a respiratory issue. For pediatric patients in cardiac arrest due to a respiratory issue, healthcare professionals may consider providing breaths first; for lay responders, uniformity of approach outweighs the slight delay in ventilations when using compressions first. For resuscitation from drowning, it is vital to begin with ventilations because of the unique pathological process associated with drowning.

### **CPR Prior to Call for Help**

Mobile phones with audio command and speaker capability now make it possible to call 9-1-1 while simultaneously beginning CPR.



#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

REAFFIRMED •

 A mobile phone with a speaker, if available, should be used to call 9-1-1, allowing activation of emergency medical services to occur parallel to the beginning of CPR and to facilitate dispatcher guidance and/or support of CPR.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify any new relevant studies, and guidelines remain unchanged.

This topic was last reviewed by ILCOR in 2020.<sup>2</sup> The review included a single large cohort study<sup>22</sup> of OHCA with CPR performed with dispatcher assistance identified from a national registry. Although a CPR-first strategy was not shown to improve survival to hospital discharge when compared with a call-first strategy, a subgroup analysis with adjusted data suggested a survival benefit with favorable neurological outcome using a CPR-first strategy, and a survival benefit with favorable neurological outcome was reported in patients under 20 years of age with use of a CPR-first strategy (aOR, 3.74; 95% CI, 1.46–9.61).<sup>2</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

This guideline reflects the technological changes in cell phone design, their widespread use and the ability to simultaneously call 9-1-1 using voice command while beginning CPR. This shifts the focus to initiating CPR as quickly as possible and helps avoid the need to leave a cardiac arrest victim to call 9-1-1.

### **Compression-Only CPR Versus Conventional CPR: EMS**

What approach is recommended for EMS prehospital professionals to perform CPR that will minimize interruptions to chest compressions?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For healthcare professionals:
- A compression-to-ventilation (CV) ratio of 30:2 should be used in adults with cardiac arrest without an advanced airway.
- REAFFIRMED A CV ratio of 15:2 should be used in children and infants with cardiac arrest and with two healthcare or prehospital professionals trained in this technique.
- **REAFFIRMED** With an advanced airway in place, healthcare and prehospital professionals should not pause compressions for ventilations.
- REAFFIRMED Emergency medical services systems may consider alternative initial compression-only strategies for witnessed cardiac arrest.



A 2021 ARCSAC literature update from 2017 forward did not identify relevant studies to indicate the need for a new systematic scientific review or change in the guidelines. The wording of one guideline has been updated for clarity to show that the CV ratio of 30:2 is for adults with cardiac arrest and without an advanced airway, as compared to continuous compressions when an advanced airway is present and there is no pause for ventilations.

The Red Cross guidelines were informed by a 2017 ILCOR review<sup>18</sup> that evaluated continuous chest compression CPR for OHCA combined with:

- Positive pressure ventilations (PPVs) using bag-mask ventilation at 10 breaths per minute.
- An endotracheal tube.
- A supraglottic airway.
- Passive oxygenation through an oropharyngeal airway and an oxygen mask.

The review included one RCT<sup>23</sup> that did not find an increase in favorable neurological function or survival to discharge for patients receiving continuous chest compressions plus PPV without pauses for compressions, as compared with patients receiving conventional CPR with a CV ratio of 30:2 and ventilations delivered with positive pressure during a pause in compressions. One cohort study<sup>24</sup> reported improved favorable neurological function with continuous chest compressions and passive ventilation for three cycles, when compared with conventional CPR with a CV ratio of 30:2.

In a second included cohort study of patients with witnessed shockable cardiac arrest, a minimally interrupted approach using three cycles of 200 uninterrupted chest compressions, plus passive ventilation and before/after rhythm analysis delivering shocks as appropriate, was compared with conventional CPR (a mix of CV ratios of 15:2 and 30:2).<sup>25</sup> Although an increase in survival was reported with the minimally interrupted chest compression approach, improvement in favorable neurologic function rates were not associated with a minimally interrupted chest compression approach compared with conventional CPR. The ILCOR review recommended that EMS providers perform CPR with a CV ratio of 30:2 or continuous chest compressions with PPV delivered without pausing chest compressions until a tracheal tube or supraglottic device has been placed.<sup>18</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

Many EMS systems now use a minimally interrupted cardiac resuscitation strategy as part of a bundle of care as an alternative to conventional CPR with a CV ratio of 30:2 for witnessed OHCA.

### **Chest Compression Rate**

Is there a chest compression rate during CPR that is associated with higher rates of survival to hospital discharge with or without good neurological outcome?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**REAFFIRMED** • Chest compressions should be performed at a rate of 100 to 120 per minute for adults, children and infants.



A 2021 ARCSAC literature update on chest compression rate during CPR did not identify new relevant studies since January 2020 and guidelines remain unchanged. Evidence for chest compression rates used in CPR was last reviewed systematically in 2015 by ILCOR,<sup>27</sup> followed by a scoping review in 2020.<sup>2,28</sup>

The 2015 systematic review included large observational studies showing an association between increasing chest compression rates and declining chest compression depth, and a decrease in survival to hospital discharge with compression rates above 140 per minute.<sup>27</sup> A strong treatment recommendation was made for a manual chest compression rate of 100 to 120 per minute. The more recent scoping review<sup>2,28</sup> of chest compression rate, depth and chest wall recoil identified additional observational studies and one RCT evaluating chest compression rate; some studies evaluated compression rate in isolation, and others in conjunction with compression depth. Several studies suggested confounding interactions and advised caution when evaluating any chest compression component in isolation. The review concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support a new systematic review or change to treatment recommendations.<sup>2</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

The chest compression rate is defined as the rate used for each continuous period of chest compressions over 1 minute, excluding pauses.<sup>27</sup> Studies evaluating chest compression rate are primarily observational, from the OHCA setting, and do not account for potential interactions from compression depth, hand position and other components of chest compression. More recent studies of compression rate have focused on rescuer fatigue with compressions, use of automatic compression devices compared with manual compression, and real-time CPR feedback devices to help maintain correct compression rates and quality of chest compression.

### **Chest Compression Depth**

Is there a compression depth during CPR that is associated with higher rates of survival to discharge with or without good neurological outcome?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** During CPR, an adult chest should be compressed to a depth of at least 2 inches.
- REAFFIRMED During CPR, a child's and infant's chest should be compressed to a depth of at least one-third the anteroposterior diameter of the chest (about 2 inches for a child and about 1 1/2 inches for an infant).

### **Evidence Summary**

No new relevant studies of chest compression depth during CPR were identified by ARCSAC in a 2021 literature update, and the guidelines remain unchanged. Evidence for chest compression depth during CPR was last reviewed systematically in 2015 by ILCOR,<sup>27</sup> followed by a scoping review in 2020.<sup>2,28</sup>

The 2015 ILCOR systematic review<sup>27</sup> led to a strong treatment recommendation for a manual chest compression depth of approximately 2 inches (5 centimeters) in adults, and a weak recommendation was made for avoiding excessive chest compression depths (greater than 2.4 inches [6 centimeters] in an average adult). The upper limit for chest compression depth reflected evidence suggesting that a depth of more than 2.4 inches is associated with a higher rate of injuries in adults compared with a depth of 2 inches to 2.4 inches (5 centimeters).



The more recent scoping review<sup>2,28</sup> identified observational studies evaluating both chest compression rate and depth as well as one RCT and several observational studies evaluating depth alone. There was insufficient new evidence to support a systematic review or reconsideration of ILCOR treatment recommendations.<sup>2</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

Studies evaluating compression depth in isolation are commonly confounded by many factors, including body and chest size, as well as chest wall compliance. Studies identified but excluded in the ARCSAC literature update focus on other factors that may impact compression depth including:

- · Leaning on the chest.
- Kneeling on a bed to deliver compressions.
- Rescuer height and weight.
- Firmness of surfaces under a body.
- Use of mechanical compression devices versus manual compression.
- Compression cycle length.
- Use of real-time feedback devices.

Future guidance will likely reflect some of these factors as new studies emerge.

### **Chest Wall Recoil**

Chest wall recoil allows the chest to return to its normal position following a chest compression, allowing for venous return to the heart. Leaning on the chest wall between compressions restricts recoil and can increase intrathoracic pressure and reduce right heart filling and coronary perfusion pressure. Does maximizing chest wall recoil improve ROSC and clinical outcomes?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**REAFFIRMED** • During compressions for adults, children and infants, the chest wall should be allowed to fully recoil, and compression and recoil times should be approximately equal.

#### **Evidence Summary**

Evidence for chest wall recoil during CPR was the subject of a 2021 ARCSAC literature update and was last reviewed systematically in 2015 by ILCOR,<sup>27</sup> followed by a scoping review in 2020.<sup>2,28</sup> The 2021 ARCSAC literature update identified one recent randomized simulation trial that reported an association between rescuers' height and weight and the chest compression depth and recoil.<sup>29</sup> An older simulation study also reported an association between higher weight and body mass index (BMI), male sex and height, and a lower likelihood to achieve a complete chest wall recoil.<sup>30</sup> Other studies focus on the impact of real-time CPR feedback devices and rescuer physical fitness when providing CPR. These studies do not support a change in guidelines.



The 2015 systematic review<sup>27</sup> by ILCOR included evidence from two animal studies and one observational study in anesthetized children not in cardiac arrest, all reporting reduced coronary perfusion pressure with incomplete chest wall recoil. The pediatric study applied a force on the chest corresponding to 10% to 20% of body weight, with the finding of a proportional reduction in coronary perfusion pressure, but without effect on cardiac output.<sup>27</sup> The more recent scoping review<sup>2,28</sup> did not identify new studies related to chest wall leaning, highlighting an ongoing gap in research.

### **Insights and Implications**

The limited evidence supports full chest wall recoil between chest compressions to improve CPR quality. Studies of anthropomorphic variables on chest wall recoil have future implications for CPR instruction and skills training.

### **Compression-to-Ventilation Ratios for CPR**

The CPR compression-to-ventilation (CV) ratio for adults changed from 15:2 to 30:2 in 2005. Is there evidence to support an alternative CV ratio compared with 30:2 for CPR in adult cardiac arrest?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** A compression-to-ventilation (CV) ratio of 30:2 should be used for CPR in adults with cardiac arrest without an advanced airway.
- **REAFFIRMED** A CV ratio of 30:2 should be used for CPR in children and infants with cardiac arrest with one lay responder/ healthcare professional and without an advanced airway.
- **REAFFIRMED** A CV ratio of 15:2 should be used for CPR in children and infants with cardiac arrest and with two healthcare professionals trained in this technique.
- **REAFFIRMED** With an advanced airway in place, healthcare professionals trained in this technique should not pause compressions for ventilations during CPR.

### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update from 2017 forward did not identify new human studies evaluating alternative CV ratios for CPR in adults or children, and the guidelines remain unchanged. The Red Cross guidelines were informed by a 2017 ILCOR systematic review with meta-analyses, finding a benefit for favorable neurological function with a CV ratio of 30:2 compared with 15:2, and a higher survival rate with a 30:2 ratio.<sup>18</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

Other CV ratios have been evaluated in the past, including a retrospective cohort study showing improved survival with a ratio of 50:2 compared with a 15:2 ratio.<sup>26</sup> Despite the very low-certainty of the evidence included in the 2017 ILCOR systematic review, the meta-analysis supports a CV ratio of 30:2 and there is no new evidence to support an updated review or change to the guidelines.



### **Pulse Check During CPR**

Chest compression fraction (CCF) is the amount of time during cardiac arrest in which chest compressions are administered and may be calculated manually or by AED analytic software that permits identification of all interruptions greater than 2 seconds. Any interruption in chest compressions during CPR, such as for a pulse check, can contribute to a reduced CCF. Does interruption of CPR to perform a pulse (circulation) check, compared with no interruption of CPR, change outcomes, including ROSC, survival or CCF?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**REAFFIRMED** • When performing CPR, if signs of return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) are observed:

- Stop CPR and automated external defibrillator use.
- Check for breathing and a carotid or femoral pulse.
- Pauses should be minimized to less than 10 seconds.
- **REAFFIRMED** Routine pulse checks without signs of ROSC are not recommended.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify studies to support routine pulse checks during CPR for basic life support. A 2015 ARCSAC scientific review<sup>31</sup> and a 2015 ILCOR systematic review<sup>27</sup> did not identify human studies specific to this question. The 2021 ARCSAC literature update identified studies in monitored situations related to the use of a doppler and end-tidal capnography and electrocardiogram (ECG) morphology as a means of confirming pulse or ROSC. While these technologies may be useful in identifying ROSC in a monitored, advanced life support setting, there continues to be no evidence to support routine pulse checks during CPR for basic life support.

#### **Insights and Implications**

The value of a pulse check while CPR is in progress is uncertain, particularly in light of the difficulty in detecting a pulse despite training. Additionally, checking for a pulse during CPR has the potential to prolong pauses, leading to an associated reduction in CCF. If there are clinical, hemodynamic or end-tidal capnography signs of ROSC, it is reasonable to consider a pulse check if trained to do so.

### **CPR Prior to Defibrillation**

The optimal time to perform CPR prior to defibrillation is unclear.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**REAFFIRMED** • CPR should be performed prior to the availability of an automated external defibrillator and analysis of rhythm.









A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify any new human studies evaluating CPR intervals prior to defibrillation, and the guidelines remain unchanged. This topic was last reviewed systematically by ILCOR in 2020<sup>2</sup> without evidence of a clear survival benefit for OHCA following a prolonged period of CPR compared with a shorter period of CPR prior to defibrillation.

### **Insights and Implications**

The ideal time to perform CPR on adults and children with a shockable rhythm following OHCA remains a knowledge gap, but this time should not be extended beyond the arrival of an AED, turning the power on and applying the defibrillator pads.

### **Optimal Surface for CPR**

A firm surface is considered necessary to deliver chest compressions of adequate depth. What options for improving the firmness of a surface under a patient in cardiac arrest may be of benefit?



#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

UPDATED	•	It is reasonable to p	rform manual chest co	mpressions on a firr	n surface when possible.
---------	---	-----------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	--------------------------

- It is suggested that a person in cardiac arrest in the hospital setting not be moved from their bed to the floor to improve chest compression depth.
- If a person in cardiac arrest is in a bed with CPR mode to increase mattress stiffness, it is reasonable to activate this mode.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update from 2020 forward identified a single new simulation study<sup>32</sup> of an inflated dynamic overlay mattress, and a systematic review<sup>33</sup> of backboard use in CPR. The systematic review<sup>33</sup> confirmed findings from a 2020 ILCOR systematic review<sup>34</sup> of optimal surfaces for CPR, with a meta-analysis of 15 studies showing that the use of backboards during CPR increases chest compression depth by only 1.46 millimeters in manikins; while statistically significant, this finding is of questionable potential clinical significance.

The 2020 ILCOR systematic review<sup>34</sup> evaluated compression depth using manikins on various surfaces and concluded that the use of a backboard marginally improved compression depth, while increasing mattress stiffness or moving the manikin from a bed to the floor did not improve compression depth. Studies were not identified simulating out-of-hospital settings in which mattresses are typically softer than hospital mattresses, and thus ILCOR recommendations were limited to the in-hospital setting.

#### **Insights and Implications**

For in-hospital cardiac arrest (IHCA), patients are sometimes moved from the bed to the floor to improve the quality of CPR compressions. This action can be associated with potential injury to staff and patient and can delay starting CPR. The addition of a backboard in manikin studies appears to improve compression depth only marginally and can also delay starting CPR. However, if the patient is in a bed with CPR mode to increase mattress stiffness, this mode can be quickly activated. Previous studies have shown that compression depth can be adjusted to compensate for mattress compression;<sup>35</sup> feedback devices may also help healthcare professionals to achieve adequate compression depth during CPR on hospital mattresses.

### **Head-Up CPR**

Head-up CPR is a method shown in studies using cadaver and porcine models to improve cerebral blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure when combined with active compression-decompression plus impedance threshold devices. Does the use of head-up CPR in humans compared with conventional (supine) CPR improve survival to hospital or survival to hospital discharge with good neurological outcomes?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

Head-up CPR should not be routinely used for cardiac arrest.



NEW

A 2021 CoSTR<sup>36</sup> and systematic review<sup>12,13</sup> by ILCOR identified a single observational before-and-after clinical trial<sup>37</sup> of 1,835 adult OHCAs in a single prehospital system in the United States. Evidence from this trial was judged to be of very low certainty and at high risk of bias. Patients received either conventional (supine) CPR or head-up/torso-up CPR, both bundled with mechanical CPR and the use of an impedance threshold device. A "pit crew" approach was taken for rapid LUCAS<sup>®</sup> Chest Compression System placement, interrupting manual compressions for no more than 5 seconds. The head-up/torso-up CPR group underwent an initial priming period of supine CPR with oxygen administration but deferred positive pressure ventilations (PPV) for several minutes. Patients were then gradually placed in a reverse Trendelenburg position at approximately 20 degrees after placement of the mechanical CPR device and with simultaneous placement of an advanced airway connected to an impedance threshold device.

Data analysis from the systematic review<sup>36</sup> showed a higher rate of ROSC to hospital arrival for OHCA treated with approximately 20 degree head-up CPR compared with the group treated with supine CPR (RR, 1.90; 95% CI, 1.61–2.26; *P*<0.001; ARR, 16.1%; 95% CI, 20.0%–12.2%, or 161 more patients out of 1000 survived with the intervention [95% CI, 109 more patients out of 1000 to 225 more patients out of 1000 survived with the intervention]). In addition, the trial authors reported that there were no problems or physical complications observed or reported with the head-up/torso-up positioning group and angled mechanical CPR (n=1,489).<sup>37</sup> Improvements in ROSC were reported across all subgroups for demographics, presenting rhythm and provision of bystander CPR.

A weak treatment recommendation by ILCOR suggests against the routine use of head-up CPR and suggests that the usefulness of head-up CPR be assessed in clinical trials or research initiatives.<sup>36</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

This review was limited to a single clinical study that suggests that augmented flow CPR through the addition of active compression decompression with the use of an impedance threshold device, deferred PPV, and gradual head and torso elevation may lead to improved short-term outcomes from cardiac arrest. Neurological status at hospital discharge was not obtained in all patients, and other limitations of the study impact the certainty of evidence. While promising, additional clinical trials are needed to assess if this bundled technique will lead to improved outcomes following OHCA, including longer term survival and functional outcomes.

### **Alternative Cardiac Resuscitation Techniques**

Alternative techniques have been described for converting a malignant cardiac rhythm or for maintaining cardiac output to support consciousness. These include the use of a precordial thump for ventricular tachycardia (VT), "cough CPR" (in conscious patients) for ventricular fibrillation (VF), asystole or high-grade atrioventricular block, and percussion pacing ("fist pacing") for asystole or bradycardia. Is there evidence to support the use of these alternative techniques?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** A precordial thump and percussion pacing should not be used for cardiac arrest.
- **REAFFIRMED** "Cough CPR" should not be used for cardiac arrest.



A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify new human studies related to "cough CPR," precordial thumps, and percussion ("fist") pacing for adults in cardiac arrest, and guidelines remain unchanged. A 2020 ILCOR CoSTR<sup>2</sup> and accompanying systematic review<sup>38</sup> evaluated the use of cough CPR, precordial thumps and percussion pacing on clinical outcomes following cardiac arrest. The evidence evaluated in this review suggests that there is no association between the use of a precordial thump and survival to hospital discharge. Evidence was not identified showing improved clinical outcomes following cardiac arrest with the use of either cough CPR or percussion pacing.<sup>38</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

Studies of cough CPR are limited to a small cohort study of in-hospital patients with VT and case series from the cardiac catheterization laboratory and the coronary care unit. The evidence for percussion pacing was limited to case series. While there may be exceptional circumstances where these techniques are considered, such as for a witnessed IHCA in a monitored setting or catheterization laboratory, the Red Cross does not recommend their use for cardiac arrest.

### **Tidal Volumes and Ventilation Rates**

Guidelines for ventilation rates for children changed in 2020. For adults, guidelines for ventilation rates, tidal volumes and inspiratory rates have remained unchanged since 2010. Is there new science to suggest a need to reevaluate current guidelines?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- REAFFIRMED For adults with a pulse but insufficient respiratory effort, and during CPR with an advanced airway in place, 1 rescue breath/manual ventilation should be provided every 6 seconds.
- **REAFFIRMED** For children and infants with a pulse but insufficient respiratory effort, and during CPR with an advanced airway in place, 1 rescue breath/manual ventilation should be provided every 2 to 3 seconds.
- **REAFFIRMED** Rescue breaths and manual ventilations should be delivered over 1 second in adults, children and infants and with a volume that produces visible initiation of chest rise.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify new studies of inspiratory times, ventilation rates or tidal volumes for adults or children without advanced airways in place, and guidelines are unchanged.

Historically, guidelines for the inspiratory time to deliver mouth-to-mouth and bag-mask ventilations (BMV) in adults stem from a 2005 ILCOR CoSTR,<sup>39</sup> while guidelines for adult ventilatory rates and tidal volume reflect the treatment recommendations from a 2010 ILCOR review<sup>40</sup> of airway management. Guidelines for children and infants in respiratory arrest and cardiac arrest with an advanced airway in place changed in 2020 following publication of a large multicenter cohort study of ventilation in children receiving CPR with an advanced airway in place.<sup>41</sup> The recommended ventilatory rate was changed to 1 breath or ventilation every 2 to 3 seconds. This change reflects:



- A closer approximation with baseline physiologic pediatric respiratory rates.
- The likelihood of an underlying respiratory process preceding a cardiac event in children.
- The findings from the 2019 multicenter cohort study that evaluated ventilation rates during CPR performed in children with an advanced airway, showing that higher ventilation rates (at least 30 breaths/minute in infants and 25 or more breaths/minute in older children) were associated with higher odds of ROSC and survival to hospital discharge.<sup>41</sup>

For adults, evidence supporting the guidelines for delivery of a rescue breath or manual ventilation over 1 second includes a secondary analysis of case series<sup>42,43</sup> that included patients with advanced airways after OHCA. Ventilation rates above 10 per minute and inspiration times greater than 1 second were associated with no survival.<sup>39</sup> In addition, a 2005 study using a model of a simulated unprotected airway reported that a reduction of peak inspiratory time from 2 seconds to 1 second resulted in a significant increase in peak airway pressure and peak inspiratory flow rate, with no increase in stomach inflation.<sup>44</sup>

Evidence supporting guidelines for ventilatory rates and tidal volume in adults includes human studies showing that oxygenation and normocarbia were maintained in apneic adults who were ventilated with room air and tidal volumes of 600 ml, while supplemental oxygen was needed to reach adequate saturation levels when tidal volumes of 500 ml were used.<sup>40</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

Excessive ventilation (rate and volume) can cause gastric insufflation with regurgitation and aspiration, increased intrathoracic pressure, and decreased cardiac venous return and output, and should be avoided. For patients with an advanced airway in place during CPR, the reduced cardiac output should support a lower minute ventilation and tidal volume of about 500 ml to 600 ml (6 ml/kg to 7 ml/kg). For patients without an advanced airway in place, this volume equates to seeing the initiation of chest rise. Delivering ventilations over 1 second instead of 2 also allows for higher chest compression rates without increased risk of gastric insufflation.

### **Bag-Mask Ventilation Versus Mouth-to-Mask Ventilation**

Are clinical outcomes improved when a lay responder/healthcare professional uses BMV as compared with mouth-to-mask ventilation?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- REAFFIRMED A single person providing ventilations should use the mouth-to-mask technique rather than the bag-mask ventilation (BMV) technique.
- **REAFFIRMED** Multiple healthcare professionals may use the two-person BMV technique if properly trained and experienced in this method.



A 2021 updated scientific review by ARCSAC<sup>45</sup> sought evidence from January 2017 to January 2021 to support ventilation of a nonbreathing person with a BMV device compared with mouth-to-mask ventilation provided by a single person and when multiple trained lay responders or healthcare professionals are available. All clinical outcomes were considered. No studies met inclusion criteria, and guidelines remain unchanged.

This topic was previously reviewed by ARCSAC<sup>46</sup> in 2017 and included one narrative review, six observational manikin studies and one observational cadaver study. The evidence that was included was of low to very low certainty and suggested an association between the use of mouth-to-mask ventilation and improved ventilations, less interruptions of chest compressions and improved skill retention at 1 year when compared with the use of BMV. Hyperventilation was less common with mouth-to-mask or mouth-to-face shield ventilation and was more common with BMV. The review concluded that mouth-to-pocket mask remains the best technique to teach lay responders ventilation of nonbreathing patients. Bag-mask ventilation is a more difficult skill to learn and retain.

#### **Insights and Implications**

Rescue breaths can be delivered by mouth-to-mouth (with or without a barrier device), or mouth-to-mask (with inline filter/one-way valve) while manual ventilations can be delivered with a bag-mask device. The mouth-to-mask technique appears easier to learn and remember than the BMV technique, has not been associated with any reported disease transmission, and allows for fewer interruptions in chest compressions than BMV technique by a single rescuer.

### Feedback for CPR Quality

Feedback devices are commonly used in training to improve the quality of compressions and ventilation rate during CPR. These devices may include audiovisual feedback with visual feedback and corrective audio prompts; audio and tactile feedback indicating adequate chest compression depth and release; and metronome guidance for chest compression rate. Quality metrics and measures, such as pauses in compression and CCF, can be recorded and feedback provided in summary form following a resuscitation. Alternatively, feedback can be provided in real time while CPR is underway. Is there clinical evidence to support the use of real-time CPR feedback devices during real-life cardiac arrest?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Healthcare professionals may consider using feedback devices during real-time CPR performance.
- **REAFFIRMED** Instructors may choose to incorporate feedback devices during CPR training to improve CPR performance.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update sought to identify new studies evaluating the use of real-time CPR feedback devices during cardiac arrest. The identified studies support the current guidelines and include one new observational cohort study,<sup>47</sup> one RCT<sup>48</sup> and four systematic reviews,<sup>49-52</sup> including 3 meta-analyses.<sup>49,50,52</sup>



A prospective cohort study<sup>47</sup> of 292 OHCAs compared no-feedback with sensor-only feedback to collect compression depth data with real-time feedback for compression quality (depth, pauses and frequency). Real-time feedback was reported to not change compression depth significantly but did improve chest compression quality in terms of pauses in compressions and compression frequency.

A prospective RCT,<sup>48</sup> including 22 patients receiving chest compressions for IHCA, compared the use of standard manual chest compressions with compressions using a commercial feedback device. The study reported improved CPR quality and guidelines adherence scores with the feedback device, and a similar incidence of ROSC, survival to intensive care unit (ICU) discharge, and survival to hospital discharge with or without use of the feedback device.

A meta-analysis<sup>52</sup> of clinical RCTs with adult IHCA evaluated clinical outcomes following use of real-time chest compressions delivered without feedback compared with use of a free-standing audiovisual feedback device. Four trials were included, with three using the same brand of feedback device. The authors reported improvement in sustained ROSC (four studies), survival to hospital discharge (two studies), and survival to hospital discharge (three studies) with the use of audiovisual feedback compared with standard CPR.

A 2020 systematic review<sup>49</sup> evaluated the effect of real-time audiovisual CPR feedback device use for both OHCA and IHCA on ROSC, short-term survival and favorable neurological outcomes. Pooled results were reported to not confirm effectiveness of CPR feedback device use, and this was felt to reflect high heterogeneity that on subgroup analysis was due to the types of devices used. It was noted that outcomes were more favorable in studies using portable devices than in studies using AED-associated devices. The methodology, selection of studies and outcomes of this meta-analysis were the subject of a letter to the editor of the journal that published this review.<sup>53</sup>

A 2021 systematic review<sup>50</sup> sought evidence to determine if CPR with the use of either real-time or post-event feedback improves CPR quality or patient outcome compared with CPR without real-time or post-event feedback in OHCA. The authors reported that meta-analysis of studies of real-time feedback showed statistically improved compression depth and rate, but not CCF. For analysis of depth, this improvement was only seen after removing one of three studies because of heterogeneity. Post-event feedback improved depth and CCF. Patient outcomes (ROSC, survival to hospital, survival to hospital discharge) were not improved with real-time or post-event feedback. The authors concluded that based on limited and low-quality to very low-quality evidence, real-time and post-event feedback should be combined to improve CPR quality.

A second systematic review<sup>51</sup> from 2021 sought to assess the effectiveness of automated real-time feedback devices for improving CPR performance during training, simulation and real-life resuscitation in both adults and children. Three real-life CPR studies in adult patients were reported to demonstrate significant improvement with the use of feedback devices compared with CPR without the use of a feedback device.

Current guidelines are informed by a 2020 ILCOR systematic review and CoSTR,<sup>2</sup> which suggests the use of realtime audio-visual feedback and prompt devices during CPR in clinical practice as part of a comprehensive quality improvement program for cardiac arrest designed to ensure high-quality CPR delivery and resuscitation care across an EMS system. Although most studies in this review did not show a statistically significant association between the use of real-time feedback devices and improved clinical outcomes, there was no strong signal of harm associated with their use.<sup>2</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

The number of new studies evaluating real-time CPR feedback devices in real-life are limited and the systematic review conclusions are conflicting. Future studies will hopefully focus on device-to-device comparisons, IHCA versus OHCA, and AED-associated versus free-standing feedback devices.



### Harm to Those Performing CPR

Harm related to the provision of CPR is uncommon and may be physical (injury or illness) or emotional. The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has led to renewed interest in the risks of harm to oneself associated with performing CPR, particularly the potential for transmission of infectious disease. What evidence exists demonstrating harm to lay responders or healthcare professionals because of performing CPR?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- Although the risk of harm while performing CPR is considered low, precautions should be taken to minimize the risk of transmission of infectious disease or defibrillator-associated injury. This may include, but is not limited to:
  - Using standard precautions to provide patient care in all settings, to include performance of hand hygiene and use of personal protective equipment (PPE) (i.e., gloves, gown and a face mask) based on activities being performed and the risk assessment.
  - Using additional PPE, including an N95 or higher level respirator, and eye protection (goggles or face shield) for aerosol-generating procedures or resuscitation of patients. Disposable N95 respirators should be discarded after leaving the patient's room or care area.
  - Using an inline filter for mouth-to-mask or bag-mask ventilation.
  - Performing hand hygiene after removal and disposal of PPE or after providing CPR without PPE.
  - Avoiding touching a person in cardiac arrest when advised by automated external defibrillator prompts prior to the delivery of a shock.

### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC scientific review<sup>54</sup> evaluated the risk of infection during CPR and first aid, while an ARCSAC literature update sought studies describing other forms of harm to individuals providing CPR.

The ARCSAC Review and literature update identified one systematic review<sup>55</sup> (updated in 2021)<sup>12,13</sup> evaluating the risk of COVID-19 transmission to rescuers performing chest compressions, defibrillation and CPR. Of the included cohort studies, case-control studies, case reports and manikin RCTs, 2 case reports and a cadaver study reported generation of aerosols during delivery of chest compressions, defibrillation or CPR. It was concluded that chest compressions and CPR have the potential to generate aerosols, and suggested that in the current COVID-19 pandemic, healthcare professionals use PPE for aerosol-generating procedures during resuscitation, although it is reasonable to consider defibrillation before donning PPE in situations where the benefits may exceed the risks. For children in need of CPR, it is suggested that lay responders who are willing, trained and able, consider providing rescue breaths in addition to chest compressions.<sup>12,13,55</sup>

The 2021 ARCSAC scientific review<sup>54</sup> evaluated the risk of transmission of infectious disease (not solely coronavirus). Eight case reports identified in this review document transmission of a variety of infectious disease during resuscitation. In most cases, PPE in the form of gloves or a barrier device for rescue breathing were not used. In one retrospective cohort study,<sup>56</sup> 72 healthcare workers with respiratory symptoms were followed for diagnosis of COVID-19. Thirty-three of these workers were classified as high risk based on their job location and



39 persons were classified as general risk based on their job location. The high-risk group had a 2.13 relative risk of developing COVID-19 compared with the general risk group. Suboptimal hand hygiene and improper PPE (undefined) were associated with an increased risk of contracting COVID-19 (RR, 3.10; 95% CI, 1.43–6.73; and RR, 2.43; 95% CI, 1.34–4.39, respectively). One case-control study<sup>57</sup> evaluated 51 SARS- infected healthcare workers (compared with 426 uninfected controls) who had self-reported exposure to SARS patients and reported that chest compressions were significantly associated with high risk for infection (OR, 4.52; 95% CI, 1.08–18.81; P=0.031). However, in multivariate analysis it was not possible to distinguish between chest compressions and intubation. Wearing protective goggles, gloves and protective gowns were all found to reduce the risk of infection (P values 0.046, 0.011, 0.052, respectively; raw data not provided). Not wearing a mask was found to be a risk for contracting SARS (P=0.002).

A search of the grey literature identified an investigative report<sup>58</sup> by The Guardian and Kaiser Health News documenting 3,607 United States healthcare worker deaths from COVID-19 between March 2020 and April 2021, of which 7% were medical first responders. A subset of 654 first responder cases documented if there were concerns expressed (by patient, family or colleagues) about having adequate amounts of PPE available. Within this subset, 145 cases had concerns about having adequate amounts of PPE, 165 did not have concerns and, in 344, it was unknown.

Harm to rescuers from CPR was last reviewed systematically by ILCOR in 2010,<sup>59</sup> followed by a scoping review<sup>2</sup> in 2020. The original 2010 ILCOR systematic review<sup>59</sup> was a multifaceted evaluation of the evidence for the safety of rescuers during training and clinical CPR performance and while using defibrillators, and for the impact of barrier device use on reducing infectious disease transmission. Evidence was sought for adverse physical effects, including injuries or fatigue, psychological effects and for infectious disease transmission. Treatment recommendations stemming from this review included consideration of changing rescuers after about 2 minutes of CPR to prevent rescuer fatigue, while minimizing interruptions to compressions, and pausing compressions during delivery of a shock. It was deemed reasonable to wear PPE while performing CPR. Although evidence was limited, the provision of CPR was felt to be safe for rescuers, with few reports of disease transmission or injury.<sup>59</sup>

The 2020 ILCOR scoping review<sup>2</sup> of this topic identified several additional experimental studies and a case report. The identified studies primarily evaluated the safety of hands-on defibrillation while using gloves during chest compression. This review also noted that evidence supporting rescuer safety during CPR is limited, with few reports of possible disease transmission following mouth-to-mouth resuscitation, and a low incidence of defibrillator-related injuries to rescuers. The overall body of evidence was felt insufficient to warrant a full systematic review.<sup>2</sup>

### **Insights and Implications**

In general, the provision of CPR is considered low risk to providers. Physical injuries, such as back or muscle strain, may occur, and fatigue is common. There are relatively few reports of infectious disease transmission following provision of CPR. Despite the lack of direct evidence showing an association between chest compressions or defibrillation and transmission of COVID-19 to rescuers, lay responders and healthcare professionals can proactively reduce any risk through the use of PPE, when available, including the use of face masks, eye protection, gowns and gloves, and with hand hygiene.



# Defibrillation

### **Defibrillator Electrode Pad Size and Placement**

Defibrillator electrode pads are typically greater than 8 centimeters in diameter for adults and applied in an anterolateral position on the chest (avoiding breast tissue), or in an anteroposterior position. Does any other specific pad size, orientation, or position change outcomes?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Use adult defibrillator electrode pads and energy levels on adult patients. Defibrillator pad size and selection should be as recommended by the defibrillator manufacturer.
- **REAFFIRMED** Adult electrode pads should be applied per defibrillator manufacturer instructions in either an anterolateral or an anteroposterior position.
- **REAFFIRMED** Defibrillator electrode pads should not incorporate any breast tissue.

### **Evidence Summary**

No new RCTs were identified in a 2021 ARCSAC literature update, and guidelines remain unchanged. A 2016 animal study<sup>60</sup> using a porcine model found that small variations in pad placement can significantly affect defibrillation shock efficacy.

This topic was last reviewed systematically by ILCOR in 2010<sup>61</sup> followed by a scoping review in 2020<sup>2</sup> with no new evidence identified that directly addressed the question. It is likely that the ideal electrode pad placement will vary with factors such as the type of underlying cardiac rhythm, body habitus, pregnancy and the presence of implanted pacemakers and defibrillators.

### **Insights and Implications**

Defibrillator models function differently and may require the use of electrode pads designed to work with the specific model. Manufacturers typically have their own proprietary means of attaching electrode pads to their defibrillator model, and they are not interchangeable. Manufacturer's directions should be followed for the defibrillator model in use, with adult pads used for adults. Additional safety considerations include:

- Avoiding placement of defibrillator pads directly over implanted pacemakers or defibrillators or over jewelry or body piercings.
- Removing transdermal medication patches and wiping away any residual medication.
- Quickly shaving the areas where pads will be placed if excess chest hair interferes with pad-to-skin contact.


# **Opioid-Associated Emergencies**

# **Suspected Opioid-Associated Emergency Resuscitation**

High-quality CPR and AED use are the most important interventions for cardiac arrest. When opioids are suspected in a cardiac arrest, how should the delivery of naloxone be timed?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- CPR and automated external defibrillator (AED) use remain the first interventions for cardiac arrest in opioid overdose and should not be delayed or interrupted.
- **REAFFIRMED** For suspected cardiac arrest due to opioids, naloxone should be administered as soon as possible without disrupting or delaying CPR and AED use.

#### **Evidence Summary**

Naloxone administration during resuscitation was reviewed by ARCSAC<sup>62</sup> in 2017 and by ILCOR<sup>2</sup> in 2020. An ARCSAC 2021 literature update from January 2019 forward did not identify new studies to suggest a need for a repeat systematic review or possible change in guidance. Current guidelines are based on expert opinion due to lack of scientific evidence.

The 2020 ILCOR review<sup>2</sup> did not identify any studies in any setting comparing lay responder naloxone administration for suspected opioid-associated cardiac arrest in addition to standard CPR with providing standard CPR only and reporting outcomes of ROSC and survival to hospital discharge.

#### **Insights and Implications**

The incidence of opioid-associated cardiac arrest may be underestimated and has spiked during the COVID-19 pandemic and post-pandemic period. A 2021 cohort study evaluated trends in 83.7 million patient encounters in 49 states that participate in the National EMS Information System.<sup>63</sup> Opioid-associated cardiac arrests in 2020 were compared with baseline values from 2019 and data compared with provisional total mortality in the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention records from rolling 12-month windows spanning from January 2019 to July 2020. Opioid-associated cardiac arrests rose 42% nationally in 2020, and there was high concordance with provisional total overdose mortality numbers for months in which both data sets were available.<sup>63</sup> Opioid overdose education and in-home naloxone administration are essential interventions to manage the physiologic effects of overdose, including hypoventilation, apnea, hypoxemia and systemic ischemia leading to cardiac arrest.

# **Drowning Process Resuscitation**

Drowning is a leading cause of unintentional injury-related deaths. The drowning process is a continuum of events beginning with airway and respiratory impairment from submersion or immersion in liquid.<sup>64</sup> If the process is not stopped, liquid enters the nose and/or mouth, triggering reflex swallowing, closure of the glottis, and laryngospasm and asphyxia. Hypoxemia ensues, laryngospasm subsides, and gasping will then lead to aspiration. Severe hypoxemia eventually leads to cardiac arrest which may include a period of ventricular



fibrillation. This unique pathophysiology of the drowning process contrasts with the pathophysiology associated with other etiologies of cardiac arrests, such as those due to a primary cardiac cause, and explains in part why early resuscitation beginning with ventilations followed by CV-CPR is particularly important.

One recent cross-sectional study of drowning patients using data from 1,859 encounters identified in a national emergency medical services data registry between January 2016 and July 2018 reported that pediatric patients (less than 18 years old) accounted for 50% (n=919; 95% CI, 47%–52%) of cases meeting inclusion criteria.<sup>65</sup> Cardiac arrest was reported in 29% (n=537; 95% CI, 27%–31%) and ROSC in 37% of those presenting with cardiac arrest (n=186; 95% CI, 32%–41%). Higher rates of ROSC were noted in pediatric patients. The prehospital fatality rate was reported to be 18% (n=341; 95% CI, 17%–20%).

The highest drowning rates are in children ages 1 to 4 years, with most drownings in this population taking place in swimming pools, while over half of the drownings in people 15 years and older occur in natural waters such as lakes, rivers or oceans.<sup>66</sup> The rescue and initial resuscitation of a drowning victim may begin with lay responders, such as family members of a small child, followed by prehospital healthcare professionals providing advanced life support. For drownings that take place in larger pool complexes or in natural waters, other specially trained aquatic responders and healthcare professionals may participate in rescue operations and resuscitation in water, at aquatic complexes or beaches, or on a boat.

## **CPR for Drowning Process Resuscitation**

Is there drowning-specific evidence to support the current recommended sequence and CV ratio for CPR in adults and children?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Initiate compression-ventilation CPR (CV-CPR) for cardiac arrest following drowning in adults, children and infants. If CV-CPR is not possible, compression-only CPR should be performed.
- REAFFIRMED For adults, children, and infants with the drowning process and after determining the presence of cardiac arrest, resuscitation should start by opening the airway, providing 2 rescue breaths/manual ventilations, and then continuing CPR by providing cycles of 30 compressions followed by 2 rescue breaths/manual ventilations.
- Trained lay responders and healthcare professionals may consider providing more than 2 initial breaths when starting resuscitation of a drowning victim. Five initial rescue breaths/manual ventilations are suggested based on current practice.
- A CPR compression-to-ventilation ratio of 15:2 should be used for children and infants with the drowning process and cardiac arrest when two healthcare professionals or trained lay responders are available.



#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 systematic review<sup>67</sup> by ARCSAC evaluated the sequence of actions and the CV ratio for cardiac arrest due to drowning. The literature search was updated from a previous 2015 ARCSAC review. Of 165 studies identified initially, four indirect observational studies were included in the qualitative synthesis, including:

- A 2018 retrospective study<sup>68</sup> of drowning cases in Singapore treated by EMS over a 2-year period found that of the 93 patients who received CPR, four were reported to regain consciousness with ventilations alone.
- One observational study<sup>69</sup> prospectively analyzed all drowning cardiac arrest patients reported to the French cardiac arrest registry. The patients who received bystander ventilations displayed a much higher rate of intact vital signs on hospital admission compared to those who did not. Additionally, they reported a statistically significant higher odds ratio for survival with bystander ventilations (OR, 6.742).
- An observational cohort study<sup>70</sup> analyzed all drowning cardiac arrest patients presenting to Japanese emergency departments over a 3-year span to compare the effect of bystander CO-CPR with bystander CPR, including compressions and ventilations. After analysis, it was reported by the authors that there was no difference in outcome when comparing these CPR modalities. However, over 90% of the study population was over the age of 18, with over 80% of the population aged 65 and over.
- A fourth study<sup>21</sup> retrospectively analyzed registry data from CARES, specifically including patients who were
  presumed to have experienced drowning and in whom the type of bystander CPR was reported. The authors
  reported that CPR with ventilations was associated with neurologically favorable survival in patients aged 5
  years to 15 years and with survival to hospital discharge in all age groups. There was also a trend toward
  improved neurologically favorable survival in all age groups associated with CPR with ventilations.

While there is little evidence to suggest a need for change in ARCSAC guidelines, two of the studies in the ARCSAC systematic review<sup>67</sup> suggest an association between ventilations and improved outcomes. This includes an association between bystander ventilations without compressions and higher odds of survival, and an association between receiving CV-CPR compared with CO-CPR and neurologically favorable survival in patients aged 5 years to 15 years. The typical drowning victim is young, lacks underlying cardiac disease, and is often identified and rescued early in the drowning process, making them potentially at greater odds of survival through early ventilations and CPR with ventilations. No evidence was identified to strongly recommend a specific CV ratio for CPR in the drowning process resuscitation.

#### **Insights and Implications**

Given the unique role of airway and respiratory pathophysiology in the drowning process, including laryngospasm and hypoxemia and the morbidity and mortality following drowning, ventilations should be a priority of treatment. The evidence provides support for either a 2-ventilation or 5-ventilation strategy. None of the studies were designed or sufficiently powered to discern which strategy is preferable and if there were sub-populations that would benefit more from a particular ventilation approach. Therefore, while a 2-ventilation strategy continues to be taught and is supported by increased retention with a single resuscitation technique across different etiologies and shorter time to compressions following the initial ventilations, an option for facilities and agencies is to have a protocol for healthcare providers or trained lay responders to provide 5 breaths at the start of resuscitation.



### **Special Considerations in Drowning Process Resuscitation**

Most drownings of young children take place in a home pool where rescue can be rapid, and resuscitation can be started immediately after removal from the pool. In older children and adults, drowning may take place in a lake, river, or ocean, creating potential delays in starting CPR or raising concern for use of an AED when close to the water and with wet skin. Is there evidence to support in-water resuscitation or resuscitation of a drowning victim on a boat? Does the wet environment or wet skin pose a hazard to use of an AED in a drowning victim?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- REAFFIRMED In-water resuscitation can be considered in cases where a responder has proper training in the in-water resuscitation technique and is comfortable performing it without causing an unsafe environment for the responder or the drowning victim.
- **REAFFIRMED** Though in-water resuscitation can be performed without the aid of additional equipment, floating and propelling equipment should be considered.
- Resuscitation from drowning may be performed on a boat if conditions are safe and there are adequately trained responders to assist.
- **REAFFIRMED** If an adult, child or infant is in cardiac arrest following a drowning event, begin CPR and initiate automated external defibrillator use as soon as one is available and where feasible and safe.

#### **Evidence Summary**

#### **In-Water Resuscitation**

The topic of in-water resuscitation was most recently evaluated systematically by ARCSAC<sup>71</sup> in 2019. Scoping reviews by ILCOR in 2021 sought to identify literature related to in-water resuscitation,<sup>12,13,72</sup> resuscitation on a boat,<sup>12,13,73</sup> and use of an AED in drowning.<sup>12,13,74</sup> No evidence was identified to change the ARCSAC guidelines.

The ARCSAC scientific review<sup>71</sup> of in-water resuscitation focused on the technical feasibility and clinical outcomes. A single observational study was included<sup>75</sup> with 19 patients who received in-water resuscitation. Compared with the group of patients who did not receive in-water resuscitation, patients who received in-water resuscitation had significantly lower prehospital and hospital mortality. Other in-water resuscitation-specific studies used manikins in simulated rescue scenarios,<sup>76-79</sup> finding that:

- In-water resuscitation is feasible by mouth-to-mouth, BMV and laryngeal tube ventilation.
- In-water resuscitation increases the time and perceived difficulty of a rescue.
- In-water resuscitation increases the amount of measured water aspiration on the part of the patient.
- Lifeguards perform in-water resuscitation more effectively and efficiently than laypersons.

The ARCSAC review<sup>71</sup> concluded that although the evidence is limited, in-water resuscitation is feasible but difficult, and can be physically and metabolically taxing to a rescuer, particularly if the rescuer is not properly trained and physically fit. Physical and metabolic demands and rescue time can be decreased with the use of rescue equipment.



The 2021 scoping review<sup>12,13,72</sup> of in-water resuscitation by ILCOR concluded that in suitable water conditions, in-water resuscitation by highly trained rescue teams with water rescue equipment seems feasible.

#### **Resuscitation on a Boat**

A 2021 scoping review by ILCOR searched for studies related to delivering resuscitation to adults and children on a boat following a submersion event, compared with delaying resuscitation until they were on dry land.<sup>12,13,73</sup> The review identified two case series and four manikin studies. The larger of the case series described resuscitation of 24 cases on a lifeboat or another ship by lifeboat crews. None of the patients who received resuscitation on a boat survived. In the second case series, there was one survivor (who was a month out from the submersion event) out of six resuscitations on a boat or lifeboat. Three of the manikin studies evaluated CPR performance by lifeguards and fishermen on inflatable rescue boats or traditional fishing boats and found that while feasible, boat speed or sea conditions impacted the quality of resuscitation and made CPR physically demanding.

#### **AED Use for Drowning**

A 2021 scoping review by ILCOR<sup>12,13,74</sup> sought to identify literature evaluating the use of an AED for adults and children following submersion in water, compared with no AED use. Only indirect evidence was found from observational studies. Of note, among 14,920 patients in 12 studies, OHCA with a shockable rhythm (VF/VT) attributed to drowning was reported in only 2% to 14% of patients. One study<sup>80</sup> with 529 patients was described as showing, with multivariable analysis, an association between a shockable rhythm and increased 30-day survival.<sup>12,13,74</sup> Simulation studies included in this review were described as showing that AED use for cardiac arrest following drowning appears feasible and safe.

#### **Insights and Implications**

Because airway and respiratory pathophysiology, including systemic hypoxemia, are the most significant insults and primary cause of morbidity and mortality in the drowning process, the earlier an intervention can be applied to reverse the insult and the drowning process, the greater the chances should be for survival. The limited evidence suggests that in-water resuscitation is feasible, is performed better with proper training and equipment, and the use of rescue equipment may decrease the physical demands.

Very limited evidence also suggests that resuscitation on a boat is feasible if conditions are safe and if the number of available crew and deck space permits it. High-quality CPR may be difficult to perform, and rescuer fatigue may be problematic.

The review of AED use for drowning confirms prior observations that the incidence of a shockable rhythm in cardiac arrest following drowning is lower than for cardiac arrest due to a primary cardiac etiology. Additional studies are needed to help identify which patients may be more likely to have a shockable rhythm following a submersion event and ways to increase the success of defibrillation while minimizing any risk of AED use in settings near water.

# **Prehospital Oxygen in Drowning Process Resuscitation**

The drowning process begins with airway and respiratory compromise leading to asphyxia, hypoxemia, global ischemia and eventual cardiac arrest. The use of oxygen in the prehospital setting is typically guided using empirical evidence, and when available, by pulse oximetry with the goal of avoiding both hypoxia and hyperoxia. Should oxygen be empirically provided to drowning victims?



#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- If available, supplemental oxygen may be provided empirically to drowning victims who are conscious and with respiratory symptoms. Low-flow oxygen is suggested for those with mild symptoms and high-flow oxygen at 15 liters per minute through a face mask is suggested for severe symptoms. Once pulse oximetry is available, supplemental oxygen therapy should be appropriately titrated.
- For the drowning victim in cardiopulmonary arrest, supplemental oxygen should be provided, if available, with ventilations.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 scoping review by ILCOR<sup>12,13,81</sup> sought to identify literature demonstrating clinical and physiologic outcomes in drowning victims who receive prehospital oxygen compared with no prehospital oxygen administration.

Four observational studies were identified that provided indirect evidence for associations between hypoxemia, oxygen administration and worse outcomes.<sup>12,13,81</sup> No studies directly evaluated the prehospital use of oxygen in adults or children. Cohen et al.<sup>82</sup> performed a retrospective review over a 12-year period of 71 children presenting awake and without an advanced airway to a pediatric emergency department (ED) following a drowning event. Of the 26 children who were admitted, 81% (n=21) presented with an initial oxygen saturation (SaO<sub>2</sub>) less than 92% at the scene or upon ED arrival, compared with 15 out of 45 (34%) children who were discharged. Cantu et al.<sup>83</sup> also performed a retrospective analysis of 90 children who were 18 years or younger who presented to an ED after accidental drowning. The findings of this analysis indicate that discharge from the ED was significantly more likely with normal oxygen saturations (96% or greater) in triage (aOR, 6.80) and no field intervention by a bystander or first responder at the scene of the submersion, including chest compressions, back/chest blows or rescue breaths (aOR, 5.10). Gregorakos et al.<sup>84</sup> performed a retrospective analysis of 43 hospitalized adults and children presenting to the ED following a seawater drowning event over an 8-year period. On presentation, a partial pressure of oxygen (PaO<sub>2</sub>):fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO<sub>2</sub>) ratio less than 300 mmHg was noted in 41 out of 43 patients, but no association was found between the PaO<sub>2</sub>:FiO<sub>2</sub> ratio and duration of hospital stay.<sup>81</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

In the prehospital setting, oxygen administration is typically provided using empirical guidance, and then once available, guided by pulse oximetry. In drowning victims, particularly following cold-water submersion, pulse oximetry can be unreliable. In addition, there is no direct evidence from the prehospital setting to support the administration of oxygen following drowning. However, the pathophysiology of the drowning process and hypoxemia suggests the need for supplemental oxygen.



# **CHAPTER 2**

# **Advanced Life Support**



7 🗖

7

American Red Cross Training Services

# **Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation: Techniques and Process**

# **Rhythm Analysis During Chest Compressions**

Interrupting chest compressions during CPR to check for the presence of a rhythm, or to determine if a rhythm has become shockable, can contribute to a reduced CCF, leading to decreased coronary and cerebral blood flow, which reduces the potential for survival.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Immediately after a shock is delivered, CPR should be resumed for 2 minutes before pausing compressions to check for or analyze a rhythm.
- **REAFFIRMED** Based on the clinical situation, performing rhythm analysis after defibrillation may be considered by healthcare professionals.
- **REAFFIRMED** Compressions should be paused for rhythm analysis, even when using devices with artifact-filtering algorithms.
- REAFFIRMED After every 2 minutes of CPR, the rhythm should be reassessed (while minimizing interruptions to CPR for no more than 10 seconds).
- **REAFFIRMED** If there are physiologic signs of return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC), briefly pausing compressions for rhythm analysis may be considered.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update identified a single observational study enrolling 3,601 out-of-hospital cardiac arrests (OHCAs).<sup>85</sup> This study analyzed the frequency of interruptions greater than 1 second in chest compressions, the reasons for and the duration of interruption, and how they changed between 2007 and 2016. Most compression interruptions were associated with cardiac rhythm analysis. Manual ECG rhythm analysis and pulse checks accounted for 41.6% of total interruption time, with a median individual interruption time of 8 seconds. Automated external defibrillator rhythm analysis accounted for 13.7% of total interruption time (median 17 seconds) and manual rhythm analysis and shock delivery accounted for 8.0% of total interruption time (median 9 seconds).

While this study does not evaluate outcomes from chest compression interruptions, it demonstrates the extent of the interruption produced from rhythm analysis, both manual and with AED analysis, supporting the Red Cross guidelines to immediately resume chest compressions following defibrillation. Reducing chest compression interruption time remains paramount to improved CCF and improved outcomes. This topic was last reviewed systematically by ILCOR in 2020<sup>2</sup> with findings suggesting potential harm associated with an immediate check for cardiac rhythm following defibrillation. A previous ILCOR review<sup>27</sup> recommended against the routine use of artifact-filtering algorithms for analysis of electrocardiographic rhythm during CPR and recommended that their usefulness be assessed in clinical trials or research initiatives



#### **Insights and Implications**

There may be unique situations where a rhythm analysis is warranted. As such, healthcare professionals may, in these cases, consider a rhythm analysis but should minimize the duration of the interruption in compressions.

### **CPR and Defibrillation in the Prone Patient**

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to the further use of the prone position to improve oxygenation, with and without advanced airway management. This has led to questions regarding the feasibility of performing CPR and defibrillation with the patient in the prone position and its effectiveness compared with resuscitation in the supine position.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For patients in a prone position who develop cardiac arrest:
- If an advanced airway is not in place, the patient should be turned to a supine position as quickly as possible, and CPR initiated.
- If an advanced airway is in place and immediate supination is not feasible or poses a risk to the patient, CPR should begin while the patient is prone.

#### • If the patient cannot be immediately supinated, defibrillation should be attempted in the prone position.

 For patients with an advanced airway in place in the prone position while receiving CPR, the quality of CPR should be assessed with end-tidal carbon dioxide and arterial blood pressure monitoring, if feasible.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 systematic review<sup>86</sup> and CoSTR<sup>12,13</sup> by ILCOR focused on CPR and defibrillation for cardiac arrest in adults and children in any setting when in the prone position, compared with turning the patient to the supine position prior to the initiation of CPR and/or defibrillation. Outcomes of interest included survival with/without favorable neurologic outcome, ROSC, ETCO<sub>2</sub> and arterial BP readings during CPR, and time to defibrillation.

The search included all years. Two prospective nonrandomized studies and two simulation studies were identified. An additional 20 adult case reports were included, of which 12 had CPR initiated while in a prone position, and the remaining cases were supinated before starting CPR. The operating room was the predominant setting for case reports.<sup>86</sup>

The majority of evidence included for this review was assessed to be of very low certainty and difficult to interpret. The authors of the review commented that each case may be unique and require weighing the potential risk of delayed CPR and defibrillation against the possible risk of less effective CPR and defibrillation while prone. It was noted that it may be difficult to supinate a patient who is prone and mechanically ventilated and with capnography and additional arterial lines in place. In addition, the etiology of the cardiac arrest may define the urgency of supination.<sup>86</sup>





The treatment recommendations stemming from this review include several good practice statements, reflecting the lack of higher certainty evidence. A strong recommendation was made, for patients with cardiac arrest occurring while in the prone position without an advanced airway already in place, to turn that patient to the supine position as quickly as possible and begin CPR.<sup>86</sup> For patients with cardiac arrest while in the prone position with an advanced airway already in place, and where immediate supination is not feasible or poses a significant risk to the patient, initiating CPR while the patient is still prone may be a reasonable approach (good practice statement). Invasive blood pressure monitoring and continuous end-tidal carbon dioxide (ETCO<sub>2</sub>) monitoring may be useful to ascertain whether or not prone compressions are meeting benchmarks for adequate perfusion, and this information could inform decision making on when to prioritize supination (good practice statement). For patients with cardiac arrest with a shockable rhythm who are in the prone position and cannot be supinated immediately, attempting defibrillation in the prone position is a reasonable approach (good practice statement).<sup>86</sup>



#### **Insights and Implications**

Use of the prone position in the critical care of COVID-19 patients became commonplace over a short period of time, and the lack of comparative outcomes data makes it difficult to inform treatment recommendations. The ILCOR recommendations stem from a review of the best available evidence combined with task force discussion and expert consensus to create good practice statements that are reflected in the new Red Cross guidelines. Further research will be needed to address knowledge gaps, such as the time needed to supinate a patient with advanced airway in place, optimal hand and defibrillator pad placement while prone, and clinical outcomes following CPR or defibrillation while in the prone position.

## **Consciousness During CPR**

Consciousness of a person in cardiac arrest during CPR is occasionally described by rescuers. Some survivors of cardiac arrest also describe awareness during CPR, or describe near-death experiences with some degree of recall of the resuscitation event. Is any intervention indicated when consciousness is observed during CPR?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

• Sedatives and/or analgesics used in critical care may be considered in small doses for patients with possible consciousness during CPR.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 scoping review<sup>12,13,87</sup> by ILCOR sought to identify published and unpublished studies, case reports and series, and grey literature related to the use of sedation, analgesia or another intervention to prevent consciousness in adults in any setting during CPR. Outcomes of interest included any clinical outcome, arrest outcomes and psychological well-being post-arrest. The review sought to describe specific cardiac arrest experiences and any interventions, such as the use of sedatives to prevent those experiences, while assessing the need for a future systematic review. Five observational studies were identified evaluating different aspects of sedation and consciousness, as well as case reports with a total of 31 patients.

A narrative summary of the evidence noted several important points.<sup>87</sup> First, based on two of the included observational studies<sup>88,89</sup> including 39,569 patients, the estimated true prevalence rate of CPR-induced consciousness is very low, between 0.23% and 0.7%. Increased rates of ROSC and survival to hospital admission and to discharge were noted in those with CPR-induced consciousness compared with patients without signs of CPR-induced consciousness. Sedation was rarely used in CPR-induced consciousness, and rescuer distress was found to be a common outcome. Pharmacological intervention rates ranged between studies from 11.5% to 39.7% for CPR-interfering consciousness. Dosing of sedatives or analgesics during resuscitation is unclear, and their use may negatively impact survival outcomes.



The ILCOR Advanced Life Support Task Force discussed the findings of this scoping review and made the following good practice statements:<sup>12,13</sup>

- In settings where it is feasible, rescuers may consider using sedative or analgesic drugs (or both) in very small doses to prevent pain and distress to patients who are conscious during CPR.
- Neuromuscular-blocking drugs alone should not be given to conscious patients.
- The optimal drug regimen for sedation and analgesia during CPR is uncertain. Regimens can be based on those used in critically ill patients and according to local protocols.

#### **Insights and Implications**

Cardiac arrest experiences related by survivors are described differently and may include near-death experiences, out-of-body experiences, visual or auditory awareness, spiritual experiences or consciousness during CPR. Sedatives and analgesics have potential hemodynamic effects that may contribute negatively to survival outcomes and may potentially mask clinical signs of ROSC. These potential risks must be weighed against their benefit. The good practice statements by ILCOR provide reasonable suggestions for preventing pain and distress in patients who are conscious during CPR, but with the caveat of using local protocols and regimens in place for critical care patients.

# Oxygen Dose During CPR

The use of oxygen during CPR is recommended to help correct tissue hypoxia. Post-ROSC oxygen therapy is guided by oximetry and capnography, with a goal of preventing hypoxia while preventing hypereroxia. Is there a specific concentration of oxygen recommended during CPR?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

• During resuscitation of cardiac arrest in adults and children, supplemental high-concentration oxygen should be administered, once available, by a pocket mask, a bag-mask device or an advanced airway.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update did not identify human studies addressing this topic since 2015, and guidelines remain unchanged. A systematic review<sup>90</sup> was last completed by ILCOR in 2015, evaluating evidence comparing the administration of a maximal oxygen concentration to adults in cardiac arrest in any setting with no supplementary oxygen or a reduced oxygen concentration. No direct comparative evidence was identified in the review, however, a single retrospective observational study<sup>91</sup> was described, enrolling 145 patients with an advanced airway who, during CPR, received 100% inspired oxygen and had a PaO<sub>2</sub> value measured. The study reported improved ROSC with higher PaO<sub>2</sub> measurements during CPR, while for the outcomes of survival to hospital discharge with favorable neurologic outcome, no difference was found between an intermediate PaO<sup>2</sup> and a low PaO<sub>2</sub> value during CPR. A weak recommendation was made by ILCOR suggesting the use of the highest possible inspired oxygen concentration during CPR.<sup>90</sup>



American Red Cross Training Services A 2020 ILCOR scoping review<sup>92</sup> of oxygen dosing during the provision of CPR in children and infants did not identify human studies (beyond the neonatal period). A previous treatment recommendation was restated that there is insufficient information to recommend for or against any specific inspired oxygen concentration during and immediately after resuscitation from cardiac arrest, and until additional evidence is published, they support healthcare providers' use of 100% oxygen during resuscitation, when available.

#### **Insights and Implications**

The degree of tissue hypoxemia following cardiac arrest will vary depending on the etiology of the arrest and the time between onset of arrest and commencing CPR and advanced life support. For cardiac arrest precipitated by respiratory events, drowning or asphyxia, the use of maximal concentrations of oxygen during CPR is likely more important than for cardiac arrest of primary cardiac etiology and with immediate bystander response, but this remains a knowledge gap. The limited evidence available supports the administration of the highest concentration oxygen possible during CPR of adults and children.

# **Double Sequence Defibrillation**

Double sequence external defibrillation has been proposed as an option for patients who remain in refractory VF in OHCA. Is there evidence to support the use of double sequence external defibrillation compared with standard manual defibrillation for cardiac arrest with a shockable rhythm?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**REAFFIRMED** • Standard defibrillation rather than double sequence external defibrillation should be used for cardiac arrest with a shockable rhythm.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC literature update from January 2020 forward identified one additional case report,<sup>93</sup> one case series<sup>94</sup> and a pilot cluster randomized trial<sup>95</sup> with crossover enrolling 152 adults comparing continued resuscitation of OHCA in refractory VF/pulseless VT using one of three strategies after three standard defibrillation attempts:

- 1. Continued defibrillation therapy with pads in the anterolateral configuration
- 2. Vector change defibrillation with pads moved from the standard anterolateral position to the anteroposterior position as soon as possible during the 2-minute cycle of CPR after the third defibrillation attempt with minimal interruptions in CPR
- 3. Double sequence external defibrillation with pads from a second defibrillator placed in the anteroposterior position as soon as possible during the 2-minute CPR cycle following the third shock with minimal interruptions in CPR. Double sequence external defibrillation involved the use of defibrillators with the delivery of rapid sequential shocks for all subsequent defibrillation attempts. A different brand of defibrillator and initial shock energy was used by paramedics in different counties for this study.

Antiarrhythmics and epinephrine were given to all groups per local protocol. Cluster units defined by each EMS agency crossed over at 6 months to an alternate defibrillation strategy. The primary outcome was safety and feasibility for a full-scale RCT which is currently underway. Secondary outcomes included rates of VF termination



and ROSC for all three defibrillation strategies. Feasibility targets were met, and no safety concerns were identified, including defibrillator malfunction, skin burns or difficulty with pad placement. Rates of VF termination were 66.6% in the standard defibrillation group, 82.0% in the vector change group, and 76.3% in the double sequence external defibrillation group, while ROSC at any time occurred in 25.0% of the standard defibrillation group, 39.3% of the vector change group and 40.0% of the double sequence external defibrillation groups.<sup>95</sup>

The case reports and pilot RCT identified in the literature update are considered insufficient to warrant a systematic review at this time or a change in Red Cross guidelines. The topic of double sequence defibrillation was last reviewed systematically by ILCOR in 2020.<sup>96,97</sup> Individual study results, while not reported, were thought to show an association between double sequence external defibrillation and lower rates of survival and favorable neurological outcome. The limited evidence led to a weak recommendation against routine use of a double sequential defibrillation strategy compared with standard defibrillation for cardiac arrest with a shockable rhythm.<sup>96</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

Survival from refractory VF during cardiac arrest is unlikely, and case reports of successful defibrillation and ROSC with double sequence external defibrillation and vector change are encouraging. The included pilot RCT<sup>95</sup> is the first to assess feasibility and clinical outcomes of vector change and double sequence external defibrillation compared with standard defibrillation strategies for refractory VF. While encouraging, there were fewer enrollees in the standard defibrillation group than either of the intervention groups; different defibrillator models and initial electricity doses were used; and critical outcomes, such as survival with favorable neurologic function, were not evaluated. The ongoing RCT will hopefully shed more light on this intervention for refractory VF.

# **Steroids and Vasopressin for In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest**

Recently, the use of vasopressin and corticosteroids after epinephrine for IHCA has been the subject of research and systematic reviews. The interaction of vasopressin, a potent vasoconstrictor, and steroids has been described for septic shock with a reduction of systematic inflammatory response syndrome and a reduced vasopressor requirement. In addition to impaired adrenal function, post-arrest patients often develop a sepsis-like state with a surge in proinflammatory cytokines accompanied by vasodilation. Providing intra-arrest steroids has garnered interest as a potential means to modulate an inflammatory response earlier in the course, while improving hemodynamic stability.<sup>98</sup>

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**NEW** • There is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of steroids and vasopressin for in-hospital cardiac arrest.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC Answer<sup>99</sup> on the use of steroids for IHCA identified three RCTs<sup>100-102</sup> and one systematic review<sup>103</sup> meeting inclusion criteria. The most recent study<sup>100</sup> was a multi-center, double-blind, randomized placebo-controlled trial of vasopressin and methylprednisolone during adult IHCA, conducted in Denmark in adults who received at least one dose of epinephrine during CPR. A total of 501 patients received either 20 international units (IU) of vasopressin after each dose of epinephrine (maximum of 80 IU) or placebo, regardless of initial



rhythm, and 40 milligrams (mg) of methylprednisolone or placebo after the first dose of epinephrine. The average patient age was 71 years and 90% of the patients had a non-shockable rhythm. For the primary outcome of ROSC, the group receiving vasopressin and methylprednisolone experienced ROSC in 42% of patients (100/237) compared with 33% (86/264) in the placebo group (RR, 1.30 [95% Cl, 1.03–1.63]; RD, 9.5% [95% Cl, 1.1–18.0]; P=0.03). No difference was found between the intervention group and the placebo group for the outcomes of survival at 30 days and favorable neurologic outcome.

The systematic review by Shah et al.<sup>103</sup> identified two RCTs<sup>101,102</sup> by the same authors from 2013 and 2009 that compared the use of vasopressin-corticosteroids-epinephrine (VSE) with epinephrine and placebo during cardiac arrest in patients who received one or more doses of epinephrine. Surviving patients in the intervention group with post-resuscitation shock received hydrocortisone (300 mg per day beginning at 4 hours after resuscitation and for up to 7 days followed by gradual tapering). Those with evidence of myocardial infarction received hydrocortisone for up to 3 days. The surviving patient in the control group received a saline placebo.

The 2009 RCT<sup>102</sup> included 100 patients with IHCA, while the 2013 RCT included 268 patients with IHCA. Patients in both studies received vasopressin 20 IU plus methylprednisolone 40 mg or placebo after the first dose of epinephrine, followed by vasopressin 20 IU after each epinephrine dose (maximum of 100 IU). If ROSC was achieved, hydrocortisone (200 mg per day) was given if the patient was in shock 4 hours post-arrest. Results reported in the 2009 RCT included improved ROSC with the intervention group compared with the placebo group, from 52% (27/52) with placebo to 81% (39/48) with the intervention, and improved survival to hospital discharge from 4% (2/52) with the placebo group to 19% (9/48) with the intervention group. Of patients with post-resuscitation shock, those in the VSE group had improved survival to hospital discharge compared with the epinephrine-placebo group (19% versus 4%; P=0.02).

The 2013 RCT<sup>101</sup> also reported improved ROSC with the intervention group compared with placebo group, from 66% (91/128) with the placebo group to 84% (109/130) with the intervention group, and improved survival to hospital discharge with favorable neurologic outcome (CPC of 1 to 2), from 5% (7/138) with the placebo group to 14% (18/130) with the intervention group. Of the patients with post-resuscitation shock, those in the initial VSE group had a higher odds ratio for survival to hospital discharge with favorable neurologic outcome (21.1%, 16/76) compared with the placebo group (8.2%, 7/73); (OR, 3.74; 95% CI, 1.20–11.62; P=0.02). The authors concluded that for patients with cardiac arrest requiring vasopressors, the use of vasopressin, epinephrine and methylprednisolone during CPR and the use of stress-dose hydrocortisone in post-resuscitation shock improved survival to hospital discharge with the use of epinephrine with placebo.

#### **Insights and Implications**

The evidence summary highlights studies that combine vasopressin, steroids and epinephrine. Vasopressin use during cardiac arrest has been previously reviewed and found to offer no advantage to epinephrine when administered in combination with epinephrine or as a substitute to epinephrine.<sup>90</sup> The use of corticosteroids as an adjunct during resuscitation of IHCA or OHCA was recently evaluated in a systematic review with meta-analysis.<sup>103</sup> A benefit was not found from use of corticosteroids as adjunct therapy for outcomes of favorable neurological outcome, survival to hospital discharge and survival to one year or more, or for secondary outcomes including ROSC; however evidence for this review was limited, subject to imprecision and a difference could not be ruled out.

The 2009 and 2013 RCTs of VSE by Mentzelopoulos et al. both reported higher rates of ROSC; the 2009 RCT reported higher rates of survival to hospital discharge, and for the 2013 RCT, higher odds of survival to hospital discharge with favorable neurologic outcome.<sup>101,102</sup> A meta-analysis of these two RCTs in the systematic review by Shah et al. reported similar positive outcomes.<sup>103</sup>



The most recent RCT by Andersen<sup>100</sup> adds to the literature reporting improved rates of ROSC for patients who received vasopressin and methylprednisolone. However, no difference was found between the intervention and control groups for 30-day survival or survival at 30 days with good neurologic function (Cerebral Performance Category [CPC] of 1 or 2). The lack of a survival benefit may possibly be attributed to the trial protocol, which did not include steroids in the post-resuscitation period, and to a higher percentage of patients with an initial non-shockable rhythm than in the other two RCTs; also, compared with the 2009 and 2013 RCTs, there was a temporal lag with delivery of the trial drugs (8 minutes, compared with 3 minutes or 5 minutes). Notably, no adverse events were reported in patients who received VSE in any of the three RCTs.

Vasopressin was removed from resuscitation algorithms in 2015<sup>104</sup> and is likely no longer carried in most code carts, making use of a VSE protocol potentially problematic. Future research is needed on this promising intervention to include continued use of steroids in the post-resuscitation period.

# **Drowning Process Resuscitation**

## Advanced Airway Management in Drowning Process Resuscitation

The drowning process results in asphyxia, hypoxemia and global ischemia, which if not reversed, will lead to cardiac arrest. Airway management and ventilatory and oxygenation support are key to successful resuscitation.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**REAFFIRMED** • For the drowning process resuscitation, once cardiac arrest is recognized, resuscitation should begin with ventilations.

• Advanced airway management for victims of drowning with cardiac arrest should be by supraglottic airway or tracheal intubation, depending on local protocol or the skill/experience of the healthcare professional.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2020 scoping review<sup>12,13,105</sup> by ILCOR searched for studies of adults and children who were submerged in water who received advanced airway management compared with no advanced airway management. No studies were identified that evaluated a single airway management strategy compared with another airway management strategy or with no airway management strategy for submerged adults and children. Five observational studies were identified that indirectly evaluated airway management following the drowning process, including one in both adults and children<sup>69</sup> and four in children.<sup>106-109</sup> These studies all described an association between severity of injury, including cardiac arrest, and intubation. Intubation was associated with worse outcomes in two studies,<sup>107,108</sup> which was felt by the review authors to be confounded by intubation being limited to more severe drowning.<sup>105</sup> No recommendations were made by ILCOR from this scoping review. Past ILCOR recommendations for airway management during cardiac arrest apply to drowning victims, including the use of a supraglottic airway for adults with OHCA in settings with a low tracheal intubation success rate, and supraglottic airway or tracheal intubation for adults with OHCA in settings with a high tracheal intubation success rate.<sup>110</sup>



### **Insights and Implications**

The unique pathophysiology of the drowning process and data from CARES highlight the need for early ventilatory support in drowning victims in cardiac arrest. The ideal advanced airway management strategy following drowning remains a research and knowledge gap and may be influenced by the setting (in water, on a boat or on land) and the experience/skill of the healthcare professional.

## **Mechanical Ventilation in Drowning Process Resuscitation**

Ventilation strategies for patients with lung injury following drowning can include noninvasive ventilation and invasive mechanical ventilation. Is there evidence to support the use of one strategy compared with the other?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

 Healthcare professionals caring for adults and children with oxygenation or ventilation compromise following submersion or the drowning process may consider the use of noninvasive ventilation strategies (i.e., continuous positive airway pressure and bilevel positive airway pressure) or mechanical ventilation, based on clinical judgment.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 scoping review by ILCOR searched for literature related to the use of mechanical ventilation in adults and children who have been submerged in water, compared with no mechanical ventilation.<sup>12,13</sup> The review included a retrospective observational study<sup>111</sup> and three case series or reports, all describing ventilation strategies following drowning in a total of 93 adults and children. The observational study<sup>111</sup> compared 48 adult ICU patients treated for moderate to severe lung injury with noninvasive ventilation (continuous positive airway pressure or bilevel positive airway pressure) with patients treated with mechanical ventilation. The noninvasive ventilation group had a better initial Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score and MAP than the mechanical ventilation group. Both mechanical ventilation and noninvasive ventilation patients were reported to be associated with rapid (less than 6 hours) improvement of oxygenation and short ICU length of stay. The use of noninvasive ventilation was reported as successful in 92% of the patients with a 1.4-day average duration of ventilation.

#### **Insights and Implications**

The evidence identified in this scoping review is extremely limited but suggests that noninvasive ventilation is a viable treatment option for moderate to severe lung injury following drowning events in hemodynamically stable patients with a higher GCS score. Further prospective RCTs are needed to assess clinical outcomes and strategies for transition to mechanical ventilation.

# Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation in Drowning Process Resuscitation

The use of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) has been reported to treat drowning with refractory hypoxia and/or cardiac arrest. Is there evidence to support or guide the use of ECMO as part of the drowning process resuscitation?



American Red Cross Training Services

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- Use of extracorporeal CPR may be considered by healthcare professionals as a rescue therapy for select patients in cardiac arrest secondary to drowning.
- The use of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation may be considered by healthcare professionals in select patients with severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), following drowning.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ILCOR scoping review<sup>12,13,113</sup> searched for literature related to the use of ECMO compared with no ECMO in adults and children following drowning. The review ultimately included two retrospective observational studies<sup>114,115</sup> and multiple case series enrolling a total of 658 adults and children that evaluated the use of ECMO following drowning.<sup>12,13,113</sup> The use of venous-arterial ECMO was reported by most studies for patients in cardiac arrest, and venous-venous ECMO use was reported in several studies for respiratory failure, with a duration of treatment between 2 hours and 260 hours. Survival rates that were reported ranged from 10% to 100%, with the highest survival to discharge rate (71.4%) among patients without a cardiac arrest.<sup>12,13,113</sup>

Data from an international extracorporeal life support registry<sup>115</sup> reported survival in 57.0% of patients requiring CPR prior to ECMO. Multiple factors were reported as associated with worse outcomes, such as hyperkalemia, asystole as an initial rhythm, submersion duration greater than 10 minutes, and a low blood pH, while a core body temperature less than 26° C (78.8° F) and normal serum potassium were reported as associated with good outcomes.<sup>12,13,113</sup> The review concluded that the use of ECMO to treat cardiac arrest or severe respiratory failure caused by drowning is feasible. The evidence also supports existing ILCOR treatment recommendations<sup>113</sup> for the use of extracorporeal CPR (ECPR) as a rescue therapy for select patients with cardiac arrest, as well as guidelines<sup>116</sup> suggesting the use of ECMO in select patients with severe ARDS.

#### **Insights and Implications**

While ECMO and ECPR appear to be of use in select drowning victims with cardiac arrest or severe respiratory failure, the indications and optimal timing for starting ECMO and ECPR remain a knowledge gap.

# **Criteria for Discharge in Patients Who Have Had a Drowning Event**

The spectrum of signs and symptoms following a submersion event varies from asymptomatic to dyspnea, respiratory distress with hypoxemia, and respiratory or cardiac arrest. Not all drowning victims require hospitalization. Is there evidence to guide who can safely be discharged home from the emergency department?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

While the evidence does not support specific criteria, it is reasonable to consider discharge following a
drowning event for patients under the age of 18 years who have not had an ongoing oxygen requirement and
who have no alteration in mental status. For patients 18 years of age and older, it is reasonable to use clinical
judgment to guide discharge decisions.



### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 scoping review<sup>12,13,117</sup> by ILCOR searched for literature related to discharge criteria for adults and children following submersion.<sup>117</sup> The review ultimately included five retrospective observational studies for data abstraction, including a total of 834 patients, all under the age of 18. Various objective clinical findings, such as lung examination, room air oxygen saturation, vital signs, mental status, dyspnea, and need for airway support, were evaluated in the studies to determine what factors might predict the safe early discharge of a patient. Other findings evaluated in some studies included chest radiography and arterial blood gas results. In summary, the included studies found that for drowning patients under 18 years of age and presenting to an emergency department with normal mentation, an observation period of at least 6 hours appears to be sufficient to allow for any clinical deterioration to be observed.

The included studies reported that patients who maintain normal mentation without the need for supplemental oxygen and with normal age-adjusted vital signs can be considered for discharge following an observation period of at least 6 hours.<sup>12,13</sup> A future systematic review will be required for any recommendations by ILCOR.

#### **Insights and Implications**

Limited studies identified by the scoping review report associations between various clinical findings and ancillary study results and the likelihood of hospital admission following drowning. Prospective studies are needed to confirm these associations and to develop and validate a clinical decision rule. None of the included studies evaluated discharge from the prehospital setting or scene of the submersion event.

# **Post-Cardiac Arrest Care**

# Early Coronary Angiography After Return of Spontaneous Circulation (ROSC)

Patients with an ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) without cardiac arrest are routinely taken directly to the cardiac catheterization laboratory for percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), when indicated. For patients who remain unconscious with sustained ROSC following cardiac arrest of suspected cardiac origin and with ST-elevation on ECG, early coronary angiography with PCI, when indicated, has been advocated.<sup>118</sup> Less clear is the benefit from early coronary angiography in post-arrest patients without ST-elevation on an ECG and if a non-coronary cause of cardiac arrest is identified. What is the evidence to support early versus late coronary angiography following cardiac arrest of suspected cardiac etiology with ROSC, with or without ST-elevation on ECG?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- An early or a delayed approach is reasonable for unresponsive post-arrest patients without ST-elevation when coronary angiography is being considered.
- **NEW** Early coronary angiography should be considered in comatose post-cardiac arrest patients with ST-elevation.



#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ILCOR systematic review<sup>119</sup> and CoSTR<sup>12,13,120</sup> sought to evaluate the impact of early (within 2 to 6 hours) versus delayed (greater than 6 hours after ROSC) or no coronary angiography with interventional PCI, if indicated, on clinical outcomes in patients who remain unresponsive after ROSC from cardiac arrest of presumed cardiac origin. The review included patients with both STEMI and non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) on ECG and all rhythms (shockable and non-shockable). Evidence was presented based on five cohorts:

- 1. Post-ROSC with no ST elevation and any initial rhythm
- 2. Post-ROSC with no ST elevation and an initial shockable rhythm
- 3. Post-ROSC with ST elevation
- 4. Post-ROSC with all ECG patterns and all initial rhythms
- 5. Post-ROSC with all ECG patterns and an initial shockable rhythm

Critical outcomes of interest for this review included both favorable neurologic outcome at ICU discharge (CPC 2 or less), survival and functional (CPC 1-2) survival at hospital discharge and at 30 days and 180 days at hospital discharge.

For the cohort of *post-ROSC without ST-elevation on ECG, and with any initial rhythm*, compared with no early coronary angiography, one RCT<sup>121</sup> enrolling 99 patients with ROSC reported on critical outcomes. No differences were found between early coronary angiography groups and no early coronary angiography groups for any outcomes.<sup>12,13,120</sup> A second RCT with 78 patients showed no improvement in 24-hour survival with early coronary angiography compared with late or no coronary angiography.<sup>122</sup>

For the cohort of *post-ROSC without ST elevation on ECG, and with an initial shockable rhythm on ECG*, one RCT<sup>123</sup> enrolling 538 patients was included. No benefit was found from early coronary angiography compared with late or no coronary angiography for critical outcomes.<sup>120</sup> One observational study<sup>124</sup> with 4029 patients showed benefit with early coronary angiography for the outcome of survival with favorable neurological outcome at hospital discharge (aOR, 1.60; 95% CI, 1.14–2.26), and a second observational study<sup>125</sup> with 203 patients show favorable neurological outcome at ICU discharge associated with early coronary angiography (aOR, 2.77; 95% CI, 1.31–5.85).<sup>12,13,120</sup>

For the cohort of *post-ROSC with ST-elevation on ECG*, a single observational study<sup>125</sup> of 112 patients found no effect (with adjusted effect estimates) with early coronary angiography compared with late/no coronary angiography for survival to hospital discharge and for the outcome of favorable neurologic outcome at hospital discharge.<sup>120</sup>

For the cohort of *post-ROSC with all ECG patterns and all initial rhythms*, one study<sup>126</sup> with 1,722 patients showed benefit for the outcome of survival at 30 days with the use of early coronary angiography compared with late/no coronary angiography (OR, 1.43; 95% CI, 1.12–1.83; 64 patients more out of 1000 survived with the intervention; 95% CI, 19 more patients out of 1000 to 116 more patients out of 1000 survived with the intervention).<sup>12,13,120</sup> The same study showed no benefit for survival at 1 to 3 years with early coronary angiography compared with late/no coronary angiography. Three observational studies<sup>124,127,128</sup> enrolling a total of 8,124 patients showed a benefit from early coronary angiography compared with late/no coronary angiography for the outcome of survival with favorable neurologic outcome at discharge (OR 1.93; 95% CI, 1.20–3.10). However, one observational study<sup>129</sup> with 544 patients reported no effect with early coronary angiography compared with late/no coronary angiography for the outcome of survival study<sup>129</sup> with 544 patients reported no effect with early coronary angiography compared with late/no coronary angiography for the outcome of survival with favorable neurologic outcome at 3 to 6 months.<sup>12,13,120</sup>

For the cohort of *post-ROSC with all ECG patterns and an initial shockable rhythm*, one observational study<sup>124</sup> with 4,029 patients was identified. Early coronary angiography was reported to show a benefit for favorable neurologic outcome at hospital discharge when compared with late/no angiography (OR, 1.47; 95% CI, 1.36–1.72).<sup>120</sup>



The systematic review notes that for cardiac arrest patients post-ROSC with all ECG patterns regardless of initial rhythm, four observational studies included in the data synthesis indicated benefit associated with early coronary angiography, while higher certainty evidence from the included RCTs do not show benefit from early coronary angiography for critical survival outcomes.<sup>119</sup> Consistent evidence was not identified in the review in support of early coronary arteriography in undifferentiated patients, or in patients with or without ST elevation; however, the ECG post-ROSC may not be reliable for identifying myocardial infarction, and acute coronary artery lesions have been identified in up to 80% of patients with STEMI or new left bundle-branch block following ROSC, and in up to 35% of patients without ST elevation following ROSC.<sup>130</sup> Early coronary angiography is considered the standard of care for STEMI without cardiac arrest, and no evidence was found in the systematic review to alter this strategy for STEMI following cardiac arrest with ROSC.<sup>120</sup>

A weak recommendation was made by ILCOR that when coronary angiography is considered for comatose post-arrest patients without ST-segment elevation, it is suggested that either an early or a delayed approach for coronary angiography is reasonable. A good practice statement was made suggesting the use of early coronary angiography in comatose post-cardiac arrest patients with STEMI.<sup>12,13,120</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

Insufficient evidence was identified in the ILCOR systematic review demonstrating improved outcomes with early coronary angiography for post-arrest patients with/without ST-elevation on EGG, regardless of a shockable or non-shockable initial rhythm. This topic remains a knowledge gap to target for future research.

# **Post-Cardiac Arrest Temperature Control**

The use of targeted temperature management (TTM) for adults with sustained ROSC following OHCA and who remain unconscious has been recommended to reduce global oxygen demand and improve outcomes after cardiac arrest. This is an active research topic with the recent publication of a large clinical trial<sup>131</sup> that has triggered a fresh look at the evidence for temperature management following OHCA with ROSC.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For patients who remain unconscious after return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) from cardiac arrest, it is reasonable to actively prevent fever and maintain a core temperature of 37.5° C (99.5° F) or less for at least 72 hours.
- While a normothermic temperature control approach is preferred, patients with mild hypothermia who remain unconscious after ROSC should not be actively warmed to achieve normothermia.
- Surface or endovascular temperature control techniques may be considered when temperature control is used in patients who remain unconscious after ROSC.
- Temperature control devices that include a feedback system based on continuous temperature monitoring are preferred to maintain a target temperature in post-cardiac arrest patients who remain unconscious after ROSC.
- Hypothermic temperature control may be considered in certain subpopulations of cardiac arrest patients who remain unconscious after ROSC.
- Rapid infusion of large volumes of cold intravenous fluid immediately after ROSC should not be used for prehospital cooling of post-cardiac arrest patients.



### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 ARCSAC Answer<sup>132</sup> addressed a recently published large RCT<sup>131</sup> of TTM2 to determine if the study findings might change Red Cross guidelines. The TTM2 trial was an open-label RCT enrolling 1,850 patients comparing hypothermia (body temperature at 33° C [91.4° F]) to normothermia (body temperature less than 37.8° C (100.04° F); including, as needed, a reduction in fever).<sup>131</sup> Surface cooling was used in 70% of patients and intravascular cooling in 30%. Most patients had an initial shockable rhythm. Of the patients included, 50% of the hypothermia group died versus 48% of the normothermia group (RR, 1.04; 95% CI, 0.94–1.14; P=0.37). Both groups had a 55% rate of significant disability (Rankin Score greater than or equal to 4). Arrhythmia with hemodynamic compromise was more common in the hypothermia group (24% versus 17%; P<0.001).

In 2002, mild therapeutic hypothermia ( $32^{\circ}$  C to  $34^{\circ}$  C [ $89.6^{\circ}$  F to  $93.2^{\circ}$  F]) for 24 hours gained popularity following an investigation evaluating 75 patients who were cooled following VF arrest.<sup>133</sup> The authors demonstrated an improvement in neurologic outcome with TTM (CPC 1 to 2 = 55% versus 39%; RR, 1.4; 95% CI, 1.08–1.81; P=0.009), as well as a mortality benefit (RR, 0.74; 95% CI, 0.58–0.95; P=0.02). Bernard demonstrated similarly encouraging results on VF arrest with a similarly modest number of patients (n=77).<sup>134</sup> In that investigation, 49% of patients were discharged to home or rehabilitation following therapeutic hypothermia compared with 26% in the normothermia group (P=0.046). Notably, patients in the hypothermia group were not more likely to suffer hemodynamic instability or other adverse events.

More recent data with larger patient sets (n=939) and a more heterogeneous cohort (i.e., not all VF arrest) failed to replicate the encouraging work of previous investigations.<sup>135</sup> Nielsen et al.<sup>135</sup> found all-cause mortality to be no different between hypothermia (33° C [91.4° F]) and normothermia (36° C [96.8° F]). The hazard ratio for mortality was 1.06 (95% CI, 0.89–1.28; P=0.51), and follow up at 180 days showed a risk ratio for mortality and/or poor CPC of 1.02 (95% CI, 0.88–1.16; P=0.78).

A recent meta-analysis of targeted therapeutic hypothermia in critical illness evaluated 14 trials, including 2,670 patients looking specifically at traumatic brain injury, serious infection and stroke.<sup>136</sup> The analysis excluded intraoperative hypothermia, adult cardiac arrest and hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of newborns since they were regarded as being supported by international guidelines. Therapeutic hypothermia was associated with worsened mortality at follow up (31% versus 25%; RR, 1.24; 95% CI, 1.10–1.39; P=0.0004) and did not demonstrate an improvement in neurological favorable outcome among survivors (43% versus 46%; RR, 1.04; 95% CI, 0.97–1.12; P=0.27).<sup>136</sup>

The ARCSAC Answer concluded that, overall, survival remains poor after cardiac arrest and the data may support TTM following cardiac arrest of certain etiologies; however, broadly applied, TTM is not currently supported by the literature, and the emphasis should instead be on avoidance of fever.

A 2021 systematic review<sup>137</sup> and CoSTR<sup>138</sup> by ILCOR evaluated the use of TTM (hypothermia, 32° C to 34° C [89.6° F to 93.2° F]) in adults in any setting compared with no use of TTM (normothermia or fever prevention). Other variables evaluated were timing of the intervention (i.e., prehospital), the specific temperature targeted, the duration of temperature management and the method of TTM. The systematic review included 32 randomized and nonrandomized trials between 2001 and 2021. Most studies included only OHCA patients, limiting the conclusions to that population. Meta-analysis was completed using data from six trials that compared hypothermia at 32° C to 34° C (89.6° F to 93.2° F) for 12 to 24 hours with normothermia. The overall certainty of evidence was rated as low. No statistically significant improvement was shown for outcomes of survival (RR, 1.08; 95% CI, 0.89–1.30) or favorable neurologic outcome (RR, 1.21; 95% CI, 0.91–1.61) at 90 to 189 days after the cardiac arrest. Other temperature targets (33° C [91.4° F] versus 36° C [96.8° F], 32° C [89.6° F] and 33° C [91.4° F] versus 34° C [93.2° F]) were assessed by three trials, again with no difference in outcomes.<sup>137</sup>



For the comparison of prehospital versus no prehospital cooling, meta-analysis did not show improved survival to hospital discharge (RR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.92–1.11) or survival to hospital discharge with favorable neurologic outcome (RR, 1.00; 95% CI, 0.90–1.11). Results for subgroups of shockable and non-shockable initial rhythm were similar. For endovascular cooling compared with surface cooling, meta-analysis of data from three trials did not show a statistically significant improvement in survival to hospital discharge or 28 days or for survival with a favorable neurologic outcome. For duration of TTM, only one trial with 355 patients was included, finding no difference in outcomes with TTM at 32° C to 34° C (89.6° F to 93.2° F) for 48 hours compared with 24 hours. The review concluded that for adults with cardiac arrest, the use of TTM at 32° C to 34° C (89.6° F to 93.2° F) compared with normothermia was not shown in meta-analysis to improve outcomes, and there was no effect from initiating TTM before hospital arrival.<sup>137</sup>

The accompanying ILCOR CoSTR<sup>138</sup> made a good practice statement that suggests active prevention of fever for at least 72 hours in post-cardiac arrest patients who remain comatose. The systematic review only included a single trial of TTM at 32° C (89.6° F) to 35° C (95° F) and found no difference in outcomes for a TTM duration of 48 hours compared with 24 hours. The good practice statement, however, was based on trials with temperature control for at least 72 hours in patients who remained sedated or comatose.<sup>138</sup>

The ILCOR systematic review<sup>100</sup> and CoSTR<sup>138</sup> support the findings of the ARCSAC review and updated/new Red Cross guidelines for use of post-cardiac arrest temperature management, with an emphasis on avoidance of fever.

#### **Insights and Implications**

Reviewed studies appear to support maintaining patient temperature at or below 37.5° C (99.5° F) with conservative and pharmacologic interventions and initiating active surface or endovascular cooling if temperature reaches 37.8° C (100.4° F) or higher, but the data do not show a benefit for targeted hypothermia at 33° C (91.4° F). Ongoing trials, including the Influence of Cooling Duration on Efficacy in Cardiac Arrest Patients (ICECAP) being run by the SIREN Network, may provide further guidance once completed.

With the emergence of new evidence, the Red Cross has modified the guidelines to recommend an approach of active fever control and maintaining normothermia for cardiac arrest patients with ROSC and persistent unconsciousness, while hypothermic temperature control may be considered for certain sub-populations based on the clinical situation. Of note, most cardiac arrest cases included in the TTM1 and TTM2 trials were due to a primary cardiac etiology, and thus results may not be generalizable to all cardiac arrest populations. In addition, most RCTs have not used a rapid cooling time (2 hours post-ROSC) to a targeted temperature. Whether cardiac arrest etiologies and rapid cooling time post-ROSC might impact outcomes from hypothermic temperature control remain major research and knowledge gaps. Guidance recommending against prehospital cooling using a rapid infusion of large volume of cold intravenous (IV) fluids is informed by ILCOR<sup>138</sup> and based on a 2014 trial<sup>139</sup> showing increased rates of rearrest and pulmonary edema.

# Initial Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock in Adults

Sepsis is a significant healthcare problem accounting for an estimated 6% of hospitalizations in adults and resulting in a considerable economic burden.<sup>140</sup> Mortality varies with severity from 5.6% to as high as 34% for septic shock. The early recognition and management of sepsis is key to improved outcomes. The Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC) is an international collaboration committed to reducing the mortality and morbidity associated with sepsis and septic shock through evidence-based guidelines, best practice statements and recommendations for treatment. Updated adult sepsis guidelines were published in October 2021 by the SSC.<sup>141</sup> Guidelines for the care of pediatric sepsis and septic shock were published by the SSC in 2020.<sup>142</sup> Red Cross guidelines for the initial management of adult and pediatric sepsis and septic shock are informed by the SSC guidelines.



## **Initial Resuscitation of Adults with Sepsis and Septic Shock**

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

	•	Ad	ult patients with sepsis and septic shock should be treated immediately and resuscitated, to include:
NEW		0	Administering at least 30 ml/kg of intravenous crystalloid fluid within the first 3 hours of resuscitation of patients with sepsis-induced hypoperfusion or septic shock.
NEW		0	Use of dynamic parameters, such as response to passive leg raise or fluid bolus, stroke volume variation or pulse pressure variation over static parameters or physical examination alone to guide fluid resuscitation.
Use of capillary refill time to guide resuscitation should be accompanied by frequent		Using capillary refill time as an adjunct to other measures of perfusion to help guide resuscitation. Use of capillary refill time to guide resuscitation should be accompanied by frequent and repeated comprehensive patient evaluation to predict or improve early recognition of fluid overload.	
NEW		0	Using a decrease in serum lactate to help guide fluid resuscitation of patients with an elevated lactate level.
NEW		0	Using an initial target mean arterial pressure of 65 mmHg for septic shock requiring vasopressors.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A review of the evidence was completed by the SSC on topics related to the initial resuscitation of a patient with sepsis or septic shock, to include the choice and volume of IV fluids, use of dynamic measures to assess fluid responsiveness, use of capillary refill to assess tissue perfusion and initial resuscitation targets for mean arterial pressure (MAP).<sup>141</sup>

The recommended minimum volume of IV crystalloids for initial fluid resuscitation is based on observational studies, with one retrospective study<sup>143</sup> of adults with sepsis or septic shock in an emergency department setting showing an association between failure to receive 30 ml/kg of crystalloid fluids within 3 hours of sepsis onset and an increased length of ICU stay.

An association between an elevated serum lactate level and the likelihood of sepsis is established and part of the definition of septic shock.<sup>144</sup> Other studies have evaluated the use of lactate as a means of screening for sepsis in adults with clinically suspected sepsis.<sup>145-147</sup> However, the SSC notes that a serum lactate level alone is neither sensitive nor specific enough for diagnosing sepsis and should be interpreted based on the clinical context and with consideration for other causes of an elevated lactate level. For these reasons, a weak recommendation is made for measurement of serum lactate levels in adults suspected of having sepsis.<sup>141</sup>

Beyond the initial 30 ml/kg initial fluid resuscitation, dynamic measures, such as response to passive leg raising combined with cardiac output measurement, and response to fluid challenges with stroke volume, stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation or echocardiography can be used to predict fluid responsiveness as compared with static measures such as heart rate, central venous pressure and systolic blood pressure. A systematic review with meta-analysis showed that the use of dynamic assessment to guide fluid therapy was associated with reduced mortality (RR, 0.59; 95% CI, 0.42–0.83), ICU length of stay, and duration of mechanical ventilation.<sup>148</sup> In settings with limited resources, fluid responsiveness can be predicted by a greater than15% increase in pulse pressure with passive leg raise testing.<sup>149</sup>



## Initial Resuscitation of Sepsis and Septic Shock in Adults

Within first 3 hours for

or septic shock

30 ml/kg

sepsis-induced hypoperfusion

→ Intravenous crystalloids fluids

→ Begin treatment and resuscitation immediately.

#### Antibiotics

SEPSIS	SEPTIC SHOCK	ANTIMICROBIAL TIMING
Definite or Probable	Present or Absent	Immediately, ideally within 1 hour of recognition of septic shock
Possible	Present	Immediately, ideally within 1 hour of recognition of septic shock

	SEPSIS	SEPTIC SHOCK	ANTIMICROBIAL TIMING
3	Possible	Absent	Rapid evaluation, and if concern for infection persists, it is reasonable to administer antimicrobials within 3 hours from the time when sepsis was first recognized

#### **Measuring Response to Therapy**

#### **Dynamic parameters**

(response to passive leg raise or fluid bolus, stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation)

ightarrow May help guide resuscitation over static parameters or physical examination alone

#### Capillary refill time

- → May be used as an adjunct to other measures of perfusion to help guide resuscitation
- → Should be accompanied by frequent and repeated comprehensive patient evaluation to predict or improve early recognition of fluid overload

#### Change in serum lactate

→ May help guide resuscitation of patients with an elevated serum lactate level

#### Mean arterial pressure

→ Use an initial target MAP of 65 mmHg for septic shock requiring vasopressors



Capillary refill time has been shown to reflect tissue perfusion.<sup>150,151</sup> When a normal capillary refill time target is used as a resuscitation strategy, it has been found to be more effective than a strategy targeting normalized or 20% reduction of lactate in the first 8 hours of septic shock.<sup>152</sup> The SSC cautions, however, that an approach using capillary refill time to guide fluid resuscitation should be augmented by repeated and comprehensive patient evaluation to predict or promote early recognition of fluid overload.<sup>141</sup>

The recommendation for an initial target MAP of 65 mmHg is unchanged from previous SSC guidelines and reflects evidence from an RCT that showed no difference in mortality between patients given vasopressors with a target MAP of 65 mmHg to 70 mmHg compared with a target MAP of 80 mmHg to 85 mmHg, but showed a higher risk of atrial fibrillation in the high target MAP group.<sup>153</sup>

A more recent RCT<sup>154,155</sup> compared permissive hypotension (mean arterial pressure, 66.7 mmHg) with "usual care" with vasopressors and a MAP target set by the treating physician (mean arterial pressure, 72.6 mmHg) in septic shock patients aged 65 years and older. The intervention group had significantly less exposure to vasopressors and a 90-day mortality rate similar to the comparison group. The SSC recommendation for a target MAP of 65 mmHg reflects the lack of advantage associated with higher MAP targets and the lack of harm among elderly patients with lower MAP targets of 60 mmHg to 65 mmHg.<sup>141</sup>

In summary, the SSC recommends, as a best practice statement, the immediate treatment and resuscitation of adults with sepsis and septic shock, to include:<sup>141</sup>

- Using crystalloids as first-line fluid for resuscitation (strong recommendation), with a suggestion to use balanced crystalloid instead of normal saline, a suggestion against the use of gelatin and a recommendation against the use of starches for resuscitation.
- Administering at least 30 ml/kg of crystalloid fluid within the first 3 hours of resuscitation for sepsis-induced hypoperfusion or septic shock (weak recommendation).
- Guiding resuscitation to decrease serum lactate in patients with elevated lactate levels over not using serum lactate (weak recommendation).
- Using dynamic measures to guide fluid resuscitation (i.e., response to passive leg raise or a fluid bolus; stroke volume, stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation or echocardiography) over physical examination or static parameters alone (weak recommendation).
- Using capillary refill time to guide resuscitation as an adjunct to other measures of perfusion (weak recommendation).
- Using an initial target MAP of 65 mmHg over higher MAP targets in the initial resuscitation of adults with septic shock requiring vasopressors (strong recommendation).

## **Insights and Implications**

The SCC guidelines for the initial resuscitation of a patient with sepsis and septic shock are unchanged from 2016, except for the addition of a best practice statement recommendation that treatment and resuscitation for sepsis and septic shock begin immediately, and a downgrading of evidence from strong to weak for the administration of crystalloid fluids, at least 30 ml/kg within the first 3 hours of resuscitation.



### **Timing of Antimicrobial Administration for Sepsis and Septic Shock**

Antibiotics are critical for reducing the mortality from sepsis and septic shock. Previous recommendations from the SCC advised starting antibiotics as soon as possible after recognition of sepsis and septic shock, and within 1 hour for both. For 2021, the SCC strongly recommends that for adults with possible septic shock or a high likelihood for sepsis, antimicrobials be administered immediately, ideally within 1 hour of recognition. What evidence supports this change?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For adults with a high likelihood of sepsis, with or without shock, antimicrobials should be administered immediately, ideally within 1 hour of recognition of septic shock.
- For adults with shock and possible sepsis, antimicrobials should be administered immediately, ideally within 1 hour of recognition.
- For adults with possible sepsis without shock, it is reasonable to rapidly evaluate the patient and if concern for infection persists, administer antimicrobials within 3 hours from the time when sepsis was first recognized.
- For adults with sepsis or septic shock who are at high risk for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), empiric antimicrobials with coverage for MRSA should be initiated.
- For adults with sepsis or septic shock who are at low risk for MRSA, it is reasonable to not include empiric antimicrobial coverage for MRSA.
- For adults with sepsis or septic shock who are at high risk of multidrug resistant (MDR) organisms, use two
  antimicrobials with gram-negative coverage for empiric treatment.
- For adults with sepsis or septic shock who are at low risk of MDR organisms, use one gram-negative antimicrobial for empiric treatment.

#### **Evidence Summary**

Several large studies<sup>156-158</sup> have reported a strong association between each hour delay in time from emergency department arrival to administration of antimicrobials and in-hospital mortality with septic shock, while other observational studies at risk of bias and with design limitations have not observed an association between timing of antimicrobial administration and mortality.<sup>141</sup> For sepsis without shock, the association between time to antimicrobial administration and mortality.<sup>141</sup> For sepsis without shock, the association between times to antimicrobial administration exceeding 3 to 5 hours from hospital arrival and/or sepsis recognition. Thus, for adults with possible sepsis without shock, a time-limited course of rapid investigation is suggested, and if concern for infection persists, antimicrobials should be administered within 3 hours from the time when sepsis was first recognized.<sup>141</sup>

Outcomes from studies of antibiotic coverage for documented MRSA infection vary, with some showing that delays of greater than 24 to 48 hours to antibiotic administration being associated with increased mortality, and other studies not finding this association. The use of broad-spectrum antibiotics against MRSA in undifferentiated patients with pneumonia or sepsis has been shown to be associated with higher mortality.<sup>141</sup> The decision for use of antimicrobials active against MRSA depends on the likelihood of MRSA causing an infection, the risk of harm from withholding treatment when a patient has MRSA and the risk of harm from MRSA treatment when MRSA is absent. When adults with sepsis or septic shock are at high risk of MRSA, it is recommended to use empiric antimicrobials with MRSA coverage, while, conversely, it is suggested against using empiric antimicrobials with MRSA coverage for those at low risk of MRSA.



#### **Insights and Implications**

In summary, when sepsis is definite or probable and regardless of the presence or absence of shock, antimicrobials should be administered immediately and ideally within 1 hour of recognition. In a patient with shock and possible sepsis, antimicrobials should also be administered immediately and ideally within 1 hour of recognition. If sepsis is possible and shock is absent, then the patient should be rapidly assessed for an infectious versus a noninfectious cause of acute illness, including obtaining a history and physical examination, testing for infectious and noninfectious causes of acute illness, and treating acute conditions that can mimic sepsis. Ideally, assessment should be completed within 3 hours of presentation and antimicrobials should be administered within that time if the likelihood of infection is thought to be high.

# **Vasoactive Agents for Adults with Septic Shock**

Patients with septic shock who do not respond to fluid resuscitation will require support with vasopressors. Is there scientific evidence to support the choice of one initial vasopressor over another? What alternatives or additional vasopressors should be considered? Should other vasopressors be selected for patients with septic shock and cardiac dysfunction?

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- Adults with septic shock should have vasopressors begun through peripheral access to improve mean arterial pressure (MAP) rather than waiting for central access.
- Norepinephrine should be used as the first-line vasopressor agent in adults with septic shock unresponsive to IV fluid resuscitation.
- **NEW** Adults with septic shock should be treated initially with norepinephrine over other vasopressors.
- It is reasonable to use epinephrine or dopamine for adults with septic shock when norepinephrine is not available.
- For adults with septic shock and persistent MAP less than 65 mmHg on norepinephrine, consider adding vasopressin rather than increasing the dose of norepinephrine.
- For adults with septic shock and persistent MAP less than 65 mmHg on norepinephrine and vasopressin, consider adding epinephrine.
- For adults with septic shock and cardiac dysfunction, add dobutamine to norepinephrine or use epinephrine alone.
- For adults with septic shock, consider invasive arterial blood pressure monitoring as soon as practical and if resources are available.

#### **Evidence Summary**

Norepinephrine is an alpha-1 ( $\alpha$ -1) and beta-1 ( $\beta$ -1) adrenergic receptor agonist with more potent vasoconstrictor effects than dopamine, resulting in increased MAP without a significant effect on heart rate. Meta-analysis of RCTs in a 2000 systematic review showed a lower mortality (RR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.81–0.98) and risk of arrhythmia (RR, 0.48; 95% CI, 0.40–0.58) with use of norepinephrine compared with dopamine.<sup>159</sup>





\*Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International Guidelines for Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock 2021



Epinephrine at higher doses produces increased cardiac output and systematic vascular resistance, but its use may be limited by adverse effects, such as arrhythmias and splanchnic ischemia, and it may increase lactate production. Despite these challenges, a recent RCT found no difference in 90-day mortality and vasopressor-free days with epinephrine use in patients with shock compared with norepinephrine.<sup>160</sup>

Vasopressin, an endogenous peptide hormone, produces vasoconstrictor effects from multiple mechanisms. A fixed dose of 0.03 units per minute is typically used for septic shock; higher doses may be associated with adverse effects, such as cardiac ischemia. Previous studies have shown improved survival for a subgroup of patients with less severe shock who received norepinephrine plus vasopressin<sup>161</sup> and a catecholamine-sparing effect from vasopressin.<sup>161,162</sup>

A systematic review of 10 RCTs by the SSC showed reduced mortality with the use of vasopressin with norepinephrine as compared with norepinephrine alone (RR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.83–0.99) and no difference in risks of digital ischemia or arrhythmias.<sup>141</sup>

A new weak recommendation from the SCC suggests that for adults with septic shock, vasopressors should be started by peripheral IV access to restore MAP rather than delaying initiation until a central venous access is secured. The SSC guidelines otherwise remain essentially unchanged for the hemodynamic management of adults with septic shock using vasoactive agents, with a strong recommendation to use norepinephrine as the first-line agent.

Alternatives to norepinephrine, if not available, include epinephrine or dopamine. If MAP levels remain inadequate despite norepinephrine, it is suggested to add vasopressin rather than escalating the dose of norepinephrine. If MAP levels remain inadequate despite norepinephrine and vasopressin, it is suggested to add epinephrine. For septic shock and cardiac dysfunction with persistent hypoperfusion despite adequate volume status and arterial blood pressure, the SCC suggests adding either dobutamine to norepinephrine or using epinephrine alone, while a new weak recommendation suggests against using levosimendan.<sup>141</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

The desirable and undesirable or potential harm from vasopressors were considered by the SSC in making the recommendation to use norepinephrine rather than dopamine, vasopressin, epinephrine and other vasopressors as a first-line agent for septic shock. Additional considerations were the higher cost of vasopressin and limited availability. In summary, norepinephrine should be used as a first-line vasopressor. If not available, epinephrine and dopamine remain alternative vasopressors. A MAP of 65 mmHg should be targeted for patients with septic shock receiving vasopressors. Healthcare professionals may consider initiating invasive monitoring of arterial blood pressure monitoring, and if central access has not been obtained, consider starting vasopressors peripherally. Should MAP targets not be met despite low-to-moderate dose norepinephrine is 0.25 to 0.5 micrograms per kilogram per minute. If the MAP remains inadequate, healthcare professionals may consider adding epinephrine.

# Oxygenation and Ventilatory Management of Sepsis with Respiratory Failure

What oxygenation and ventilatory management strategy is recommended for patients with sepsis-induced hypoxemic respiratory failure, with or without acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)?



#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For adults with sepsis-induced hypoxemic respiratory failure, it is reasonable to use high-flow nasal oxygen, when tolerated. Consider the use of noninvasive ventilation based on clinical judgment.
- For mechanically ventilated adults with sepsis-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and for sepsis-induced respiratory failure without ARDS, use a low-tidal volume strategy over a high-tidal volume strategy.
- For mechanically ventilated adults with sepsis-induced severe ARDS, target an upper limit goal of 30 mmHg for plateau pressure.
- For adults with moderate to severe sepsis-induced ARDS, use a prone position for greater than 12 hours per day.

#### **Evidence Summary**

Sepsis with pneumonia or other infections can cause acute hypoxemic respiratory failure. In the absence of hypercapnia, hypoxia is managed initially with high-concentration oxygen through a nasal cannula, face mask or Venturi mask. As hypoxia worsens, noninvasive ventilation or high-flow oxygen may improve gas exchange and help reduce the work of breathing, avoiding potential complications of intubation and mechanical ventilation. High-flow nasal cannula therapy allows for airflows up to 60 liters per minute (FiO<sub>2</sub>, 95% to 100%) but is less effective than noninvasive ventilation at reducing the work of breathing and providing greater positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP).<sup>163</sup>

One large RCT evaluated ventilation strategies for acute hypoxemic respiratory failure despite the use of conventional oxygen.<sup>164</sup> For a strategy of noninvasive ventilation compared with high-flow nasal cannula therapy, no difference in intubation rate at 28 days was reported, but improved 90-day survival was reported with the use of high-flow nasal cannula compared with noninvasive ventilation (OR, 0.42; 95% Cl, 0.2–0.85). Analysis of patients with severe hypoxemia reported a 35% intubation rate with high-flow nasal cannula therapy compared with noninvasive ventilation (58%).

A new recommendation from the SSC suggests the use of high-flow nasal oxygen over noninvasive ventilation for adults with sepsis-induced hypoxemic respiratory failure. There was insufficient evidence to make a recommendation on the use of conservative oxygen targets. Unchanged strong recommendations include using a low-tidal volume ventilation strategy (6 ml/kg) over a high-tidal volume strategy (less than 10 ml/kg) for adults with sepsis-induced ARDS and an upper limit goal for plateau pressures of 30 centimeters H<sub>2</sub>O, and in those with moderate to severe ARDS using prone ventilation for greater than 12 hours a day. For sepsis-induced respiratory failure without ARDS, a low-tidal volume is suggested compared with high-tidal volume ventilation.<sup>141</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

While high-flow nasal cannula therapy appears to be beneficial for sepsis patients with progressive hypoxia without hypercapnia, these patients are at high risk of needing intubation and require close monitoring for ventilatory failure. There was insufficient evidence to make a recommendation on the use of conservative oxygen targets in adults with sepsis-induced hypoxemic respiratory failure, but several trials are currently underway. Similarly, there was insufficient evidence to make a recommendation on the use of noninvasive ventilation compared with invasive ventilation for adults with sepsis-induced hypoxemic respiratory failure.



**CHAPTER 3** 

# **Pediatric Advanced** Life Support

....

1

 

7

> **American Red Cross** Training Services

# Pediatric Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation: Techniques and Process

# **CPR and Defibrillation in the Prone Patient**

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to the further use of the prone position to improve oxygenation, with and without advanced airway management. This has led to questions regarding the feasibility of performing CPR and defibrillation with the patient in the prone position and its effectiveness compared with resuscitation in the supine position.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For patients in a prone position who develop cardiac arrest:
- If an advanced airway is not in place, the patient should be turned to a supine position as quickly as possible, and CPR initiated.
- If an advanced airway is in place and immediate supination is not feasible or poses a risk to the patient, CPR should begin while the patient is prone.
- If the patient cannot be immediately supinated, defibrillation should be attempted in the prone position.
- For patients with an advanced airway in place in the prone position while receiving CPR, the quality of CPR should be assessed with end-tidal carbon dioxide and arterial blood pressure monitoring, if feasible.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 CoSTR and systematic review<sup>12,13,86</sup> by ILCOR focused on cardiopulmonary resuscitation and defibrillation for cardiac arrest in adults and children in any setting when in the prone position, compared with turning the patient to the supine position prior to the initiation of CPR and/or defibrillation. Outcomes of interest included survival with/without favorable neurologic outcome, ROSC, ETCO<sub>2</sub> and arterial BP readings during CPR, and time to defibrillation.

The search included all years. Twelve pediatric case reports were included, of which 11 had CPR initiated while prone, and one patient was supinated before starting CPR.<sup>86</sup> All pediatric cases occurred in an operating room setting, with head fixation or devices that impeded the rapid and safe repositioning to a supine position. Of the pediatric cases reporting the outcome of ROSC, 10 out of 11 cases in which CPR was started while the patient was prone achieved ROSC. The single case in which a prone child was placed in a supine position before starting CPR, also achieved ROSC. Survival to hospital discharge was reported in 7 out of 10 cases in which CPR was started in the prone position and in the one case where the patient was placed supine prior to CPR.<sup>12,13,86</sup>

The authors of the review noted that each case may be unique and require weighing the potential risk of delayed CPR and defibrillation against the possible risk of less effective CPR and defibrillation while prone. It was also noted that it may be difficult to supinate a patient who is prone and mechanically ventilated and with capnography and arterial lines in place; in addition, the etiology of the cardiac arrest may define the urgency of supination.<sup>86</sup>



The treatment recommendations stemming from this review include good practice statements, reflecting the lack of higher-certainty evidence. A strong recommendation was made by ILCOR for patients with cardiac arrest occurring while in the prone position without an advanced airway already in place to turn that patient to the supine position as quickly as possible and begin CPR.<sup>86</sup> For patients with cardiac arrest while in the prone position with an advanced airway already in place and where immediate supination is not feasible or poses a significant risk to the patient, initiating CPR while the patient is still prone may be a reasonable approach (good practice statement). Invasive blood pressure monitoring and continuous ETCO<sub>2</sub> monitoring may be useful to ascertain whether prone compressions are meeting benchmarks for adequate perfusion. This information could also inform decision making on when to prioritize supination (good practice statement). For patients with cardiac arrest with a shockable rhythm who are in the prone position and cannot be supinated immediately, attempting defibrillation in the prone position is a reasonable approach (good practice statement).<sup>12,13,86</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

Use of the prone position in the critical care of COVID-19 patients became commonplace over a short period of time, and the lack of comparative outcomes data makes it difficult to form treatment recommendations. The ILCOR recommendations stem from a review of the best available evidence combined with task force discussion and expert consensus to create good practice statements that are reflected in the Red Cross guidelines.

# **Post-Cardiac Arrest Temperature Control in Children and Infants**

Recent studies in adults who remain unconscious after ROSC from cardiac arrest have failed to show a benefit with the use of targeted hypothermic temperature control compared with normothermia. Cardiac arrest in children and infants tends to be of hypoxemic origin compared with primary cardiac etiologies in adults, and pediatric cardiac arrest tends to occur in a younger age range. Thus, results of studies of targeted temperature management performed in adults may not apply to children. Are there pediatric-specific studies of post-cardiac arrest hypothermic temperature control to inform guidelines?

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- For children and infants who remain unconscious after return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) from cardiac arrest, it is reasonable to actively prevent fever and maintain a core temperature of 37.5° C (99.5° F) or less.
- While a normothermic approach is preferred, patients with mild hypothermia who remain unconscious after ROSC should not be actively warmed to achieve normothermia.
- Surface or endovascular temperature control techniques may be considered when temperature control is used in patients who remain unconscious after ROSC.
- Temperature control devices that include a feedback system based on continuous temperature monitoring are preferred to maintain a target temperature in post-cardiac arrest patients who remain unconscious after ROSC.
- Hypothermic temperature control may be considered in certain clinical presentations for children and infants after out-of-hospital and in-hospital (IHCA) cardiac arrest and who remain unconscious after ROSC.
- Rapid infusion of large volumes of cold intravenous fluid immediately after ROSC should not be used for prehospital cooling of post-cardiac arrest patients.



### **Evidence Summary**

A systematic review of adult and pediatric targeted temperature management post-cardiac arrest with ROSC was completed by ILCOR in 2019<sup>165</sup> with a separate CoSTR<sup>110</sup> for children and infants. A weak recommendation was made based on evidence from two RCTs and eight observational studies, suggesting that for infants and children who remain comatose following ROSC from OHCA and IHCA, TTM be used to maintain a central temperature of 37.5° C (99.5° F) or less. There was inconclusive evidence to support or refute the use of TTM at 32° C to 34° C (89.6° F to 99.5° F) compared with TTM at 36° C to 37.5° C (96.8° F to 99.5° F) or an alternative temperature.<sup>110</sup>

A 2021 Evidence Update<sup>166</sup> by ILCOR identified eight new studies, including seven that were secondary analyses of subgroups from the Therapeutic Hypothermia After Pediatric Cardiac Arrest (THAPCA) randomized trial<sup>167,168</sup> The secondary analysis data was reported to show no difference between treatment groups of 32° C to 34° (89.6° F to 99.5° F) and 36° C to 37.5° C (96.8° F to 99.5° F) for multiple subgroups. One retrospective cohort study<sup>169</sup> found no difference in survival following treatment with induced hypothermia to less than 35° C compared with normothermia (36° C to 37.5° C) [96.8° F to 99.5° F] but did report improved quality of life measures. Treatment recommendations by ILCOR regarding pediatric post-cardiac arrest temperature management remain unchanged other than for a minor wording change from "targeted temperature management" to "active control of temperature".<sup>166</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

Results from studies of hypothermic temperature control in pediatric patients with ROSC following cardiac arrest suggest clinical equipoise, highlighting an urgent need for additional well-designed trials. Most cardiac arrest cases included in the TTM1 and TTM2 trials were due to a primary cardiac etiology, and thus results may not be generalizable to all pediatric cardiac arrest populations. In addition, most RCTs to date have not used a rapid cooling time (2 hours post-ROSC) to a targeted temperature. These remain research and knowledge gaps. An approach with active fever control and maintaining normothermia is reasonable for pediatric cardiac arrest patients with ROSC who remain unconscious. The guidelines option to consider the use of hypothermic temperature control for certain pediatric post-cardiac arrest patients who remain unconscious following ROSC reflects clinical equipoise with the potential benefit from hypothermic temperature control in certain pediatric patients and settings. Guidance recommending against prehospital cooling using a rapid infusion of large volume of cold IV fluids is informed by ILCOR<sup>138</sup> and based on a 2014 trial<sup>139</sup> showing increased rates of rearrest and pulmonary edema.



American Red Cross Training Services **CHAPTER 4** 

# **Neonatal Life Support**



7 🗖

7

American Red Cross Training Services
# **Neonatal Resuscitation**

## **Preterm Cord Management**

Traditionally, an infant's umbilical cord has been clamped immediately after birth. However, clamping the umbilical cord at birth triggers cardiovascular physiologic changes that vary with apnea and hypoxia at birth. This has led to many studies comparing different cord management strategies for preterm infants.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- Delayed umbilical cord clamping for at least 30 seconds is suggested for preterm infants born at less than 34+0 weeks' gestation not requiring immediate resuscitation after birth.
- For infants born at 28+0 weeks' to 33+6 weeks' gestation who do not require immediate resuscitation after birth, intact cord milking is a reasonable alternative to deferred cord clamping.
- NEW For infants born at less than 28+0 weeks' gestation, intact cord milking is not advised.

#### **Evidence Summary**

Red Cross guidelines are informed by a 2021 ILCOR systematic review<sup>170</sup> and CoSTR<sup>171</sup> that sought to evaluate the use of delayed cord clamping, intact cord milking and cut cord milking in preterm infants less than 34+0 weeks' gestation, compared with:

- Early cord clamping (less than 30 seconds after birth).
- Between-intervention comparisons.
- Delayed cord clamping at 30 seconds or more to less than 60 seconds compared with 60 seconds or more.
- Delayed cord clamping based on time since birth compared with physiologic approach to cord clamping (until cessation of pulsation or based on vital signs monitoring).

Outcomes of interest focused on both maternal and neonatal aspects:

- Survival to discharge.
- Survival without moderate to severe neurodevelopmental impairment in early childhood.
- Severe intraventricular hemorrhage.
- Maternal post-partum hemorrhage.
- Inpatient morbidities.
- Hematologic and cardiovascular status.
- Hyperbilirubinemia treated with phototherapy.
- Maternal complications.
- Need for resuscitation.



Detailed results of all outcome measures, comparisons and subgroup analyses are available in the CoSTR<sup>12,13,171</sup> and systematic review.<sup>170</sup>

For the comparison of delayed cord clamping (30 seconds of more) compared with early cord clamping (less than 30 seconds), 23 trials were identified enrolling a total of 3,515 infants, with most studies including infants under 34+0 weeks' gestation.<sup>170</sup> For the outcome of survival to discharge, meta-analysis of evidence of moderate certainty from 2,988 infants suggests either a slight benefit or no effect (RR, 1.02; 95% CI, 1.00–1.04). Other important hematologic and hemodynamic beneficial outcomes suggested from delayed cord clamping included a higher hemoglobin concentration and hematocrit within 24 hours after birth, a lower number of infants receiving inotropic support for hypotension within 24 hours after birth, and fewer infants receiving any blood transfusions.<sup>170</sup>

For the comparison of intact cord milking compared with early cord clamping, meta-analysis of data from 945 infants suggests a slight improvement in survival with intact cord milking (RR, 1.02; 95% CI, 0.98–1.06). An association with improved hematologic outcomes was suggested similar to those reported for delayed cord clamping.<sup>170</sup>

For the comparison of cut cord milking compared with early cord clamping, very low-certainty evidence from a single study could not exclude benefit or harm from any included outcomes, with the exception of a suggested benefit for hematocrit in the first 24 hours after birth.<sup>170</sup>

For the comparison of intact cord milking compared with delayed cord clamping, meta-analysis of data could not exclude a survival benefit or harm from delayed cord clamping. Of note, a signal for harm from intact cord milking was noted in the CoSTR for infants born at less than 28+0 weeks' gestation from data of a single large study. Similar inconclusive results were found for all other outcomes with this comparison.<sup>170</sup>

For all other planned comparisons, no studies were identified meeting inclusion criteria. The systematic review concluded that the ideal cord management strategy for preterm infants remains unknown, but that early clamping may be harmful. Delayed cord clamping appears to be associated with some benefit for infants born at less than 34+0 weeks' gestation, while cord milking needs additional evidence to determine potential benefits or harm.<sup>170</sup> Several ILCOR treatment recommendations were made based on the results of the CoSTR, including:<sup>171</sup>

- A weak recommendation suggests deferral of cord clamping for at least 30 seconds for infants born at less than 34+0 weeks' gestational age who do not require immediate resuscitation after birth.
- A weak recommendation suggests intact cord milking as a reasonable alternative to deferred cord clamping for infants born at 28+0 weeks' to 33+6 weeks' gestational age who do not require immediate resuscitation after birth.
- A weak recommendation suggests against intact cord milking for infants born at less than 28+0 weeks' gestation.
- There is insufficient evidence to make a recommendation for cord management in infants born at less than 34+0 weeks' gestation who require immediate resuscitation.
- There is insufficient evidence to make a recommendation for cord management for conditions such as multiple fetuses, congenital anomalies, placental abnormalities, alloimmunization, and/or fetal anemia, fetal compromise and maternal illness. A weak recommendation suggests that in these situations, individualized decisions be based on the severity of the condition and assessment of maternal and neonatal risk.<sup>171</sup>



## **Insights and Implications**

Despite the multitude of RCTs evaluating different strategies for cord management in preterm infants, the ideal cord management for preterm infants remains elusive, although there appears to be some benefit associated with delayed cord clamping in infants less than 34+0 weeks' gestation. Varying results were noted for studies from higher income countries compared with low- or medium-income countries, which may stem from variable resources available to participating hospitals. Several research studies related to umbilical cord management are underway and this topic is likely to be revisited in the future.

## **Term Cord Management**

How the umbilical cord is managed at birth can potentially impact a newborn's initial cardiovascular transition with the onset of breathing, as well as the volume of placental transfusion to the infant, with implications for development of iron deficiency anemia. Research into cord management has focused on immediate cord clamping, delayed cord clamping for up to 60 seconds or more, clamping with the onset of respirations, and milking or stripping of the intact or cut cord. Which cord management strategy is currently supported by the literature?

## **Red Cross Guidelines**

• It is reasonable to delay clamping of the cord for 60 or more seconds for term and late preterm infants born at 34+0 weeks' or more gestation and who are vigorous or considered to not require immediate resuscitation at birth.

## **Evidence Summary**

Red Cross guidelines are informed by a 2021 ILCOR systematic review<sup>172</sup> and CoSTR<sup>173</sup> that sought to evaluate the use of delayed cord clamping for 30 or more seconds, intact cord milking and cut cord milking in term and late preterm infants (34+0 weeks' or more gestation) compared with:

- Early clamping of the cord (less than 30 seconds after birth) without cord milking or initiation of respiratory support and compared to each of the above interventions.
- Between-intervention comparisons.
- Delayed cord clamping at less than 60 seconds compared with 60 seconds or greater.
- Delayed cord clamping based on time since birth compared with physiologic approach to cord clamping (until cessation of pulsation or based on vital signs monitoring/initiation of breathing).

Primary outcomes included survival without moderate to severe neurodevelopmental impairment in early childhood, anemia by 4 to 6 months after delivery or maternal postpartum hemorrhage (estimated blood loss of greater than or equal to 500 ml). Secondary outcomes included neonatal mortality, moderate to severe hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy, resuscitation and numerous others described in the online CoSTR publication.<sup>173</sup>

For the comparison of delayed cord clamping at 30 or more seconds compared with early cord clamping at less than 30 seconds after birth, very low-certainty evidence from four trials including 537 infants evaluated the critical outcome of neonatal mortality.<sup>172</sup> Meta-analysis was not able to demonstrate an impact on neonatal mortality (RR, 2.54; 95% CI, 0.50–12.74), the need for resuscitation (RR, 5.08; 95% CI, 0.25–103.58) or admission to the



neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) (RR, 1.16; 95% CI, 0.69–1.95). The review noted that compared to early cord clamping, delayed cord clamping greater than or equal to 30 seconds may improve hematologic measures within 24 hours after birth and 7 days after birth but may make little to no difference to maternal postpartum hemorrhage greater than or equal to 500 ml.<sup>172</sup>

A single study reported on the comparison of intact cord milking compared with early cord clamping, reporting no effect from intact cord milking on admission to the NICU, clinical jaundice or exchange transfusion. Intact cord milking in this study may improve hemoglobin and hematocrit values within the first 7 days after birth compared with early cord clamping (MD, 2.20; 95% CI, 0.48–3.92; and MD, 7.50; 95% CI, 2.30–12.70, respectively).<sup>172</sup>

For the comparison of cut cord milking with early cord clamping, a single study was included; no impact of cut cord milking was shown for NICU admission, neonatal mortality or hyperbilirubinemia requiring phototherapy. Cut cord milking compared with early cord clamping was reported to possibly improve hematologic measures at 24 and 72 hours after birth.<sup>172</sup>

For the comparison of intact cord milking versus delayed cord clamping 30 or more seconds, a single study with 388 infants was included; no impact was shown for neonatal mortality.<sup>172</sup>

For the comparison of cut cord milking versus delayed cord clamping, no differences were observed in neonatal mortality (one study, 300 infants), NICU admission (one study, 200 infants) or phototherapy for hyperbilirubinemia (two studies, 500 infants). Lower hematologic measures were seen at 24 hours and 7 days after birth (two studies, 500 infants) with delayed cord clamping compared with cut cord milking.<sup>172</sup>

For the comparison of delayed cord clamping 60 or more seconds compared with less than 60 seconds, little or no difference was shown for neonatal mortality (one trial, 231 infants), resuscitation (one trial, 60 infants), NICU admission (two studies, 291 infants), moderate-to-severe hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy or respiratory support (one study, 60 infants).<sup>172</sup>

The systematic review concludes that delayed cord clamping or cord milking increases hemoglobin and hematocrit immediately after birth in infants at 34 or more weeks' gestation when compared with early cord clamping.<sup>172</sup> A weak recommendation by ILCOR suggests delayed clamping of the cord at 60 or more seconds for term and late preterm infants born at 34 or more weeks' gestation who are vigorous or deemed not to require immediate resuscitation at birth.<sup>12,13,173</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

Definitions for delayed clamping varied among the included studies from 30 seconds to more than 3 minutes, while early clamping ranged from within 5 seconds to within 30 seconds. While there may had been some overlap between the early and delayed groups, most of the included studies for this review that compared delayed cord clamping with early cord clamping used a delay of 60 or more seconds.

The finding that delayed cord clamping or cord milking increases hemoglobin and hematocrit immediately after birth in infants 34 or more weeks' gestation when compared with early cord clamping is important since anemia during infancy may contribute to childhood neurodevelopmental delay. However, none of the included studies reported on the primary outcome of survival without moderate to severe neurodevelopmental impairment. It was noted that a single study reported better childhood neurodevelopment scores in the 60 seconds or greater delayed clamping group.<sup>172,173</sup>



## **Positive Pressure Ventilations at Birth**

Approximately 5% of term infants require respiratory support at birth with PPVs. Most commonly, support is provided with a flow-inflating bag, a self-inflating bag or a T-piece resuscitator. The choice of which device to use has previously been supported by bench and animal studies, but recent publications may help inform the Red Cross guidelines.

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

For newborns requiring positive pressure ventilation at birth, a T-piece resuscitator should be used.
 If a T-piece resuscitator is unavailable or staff are untrained/not competent in its use, a self-inflating bag, with or without a positive end-expiratory pressure valve, can be used.

## **Evidence Summary**

Red Cross guidelines were informed by a 2021 ILCOR systematic review<sup>174</sup> and CoSTR<sup>12,13,175</sup> that compared the use of different devices for administering positive pressure ventilations (PPV) to infants at birth. Comparisons that were searched for included:

- T-piece resuscitator versus self-inflating bag.
- T-piece resuscitator versus flow-inflating bag.
- Flow-inflating bag versus self-inflating bag.
- Self-inflating bag with positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) versus self-inflating bag.

The primary outcome of interest was in-hospital mortality. Multiple secondary outcomes were selected. A total of six studies were ultimately included in the systematic review and meta-analysis, including five RCTs, and one prospective cohort study that enrolled only preterm newborns. Risk of bias was judged high for the RCTs included in the completed comparisons, and moderate for the observational study. Certainty of evidence was rated as very low or low for relevant outcomes due to serious risk of bias and imprecision.<sup>174</sup>

For the comparison of T-piece resuscitator versus self-inflating bag, meta-analysis of data from the four RCTs (1257 infants) did not find a difference between the treatment groups for in-hospital mortality, while for the observational study, a reduction of in-hospital mortality was associated with the use of a T-piece resuscitator compared with a self-inflating bag (RR, 0.71; 95% CI, 0.63–0.80; RD, -0.13).<sup>174</sup> The observational study also found that use of a T-piece resuscitator was associated with a reduced risk of intraventricular hemorrhage, severe intraventricular hemorrhage and intubation in the delivery room. A reduction in the probability of bronchopulmonary dysplasia was shown with meta-analysis for T-piece resuscitator use compared with a self-inflating bag use (RR, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.43–0.95; RD, -0.03), and a small reduction in the duration of PPV was shown with the use of a T-piece resuscitator (MD, -19.8 seconds; 95% CI, -27.7 to -12.0 seconds).<sup>174</sup>

For the comparison of self-inflating bag with a PEEP valve versus a self-inflating bag without a PEEP valve, meta-analysis of two RCTs (933 infants) did not find a difference between groups for the outcome of in-hospital mortality. Duration of hospital stay was slightly increased with self-inflating bag with a PEEP valve (MD, 0.14 days; 95% CI, 0.01–0.27 days).<sup>174</sup> No eligible studies were identified comparing a T-piece resuscitator with a flow-inflating bag or comparing a flow-inflating bag with a self-inflating bag.



The review concludes that there is no significant difference in the risk of in-hospital mortality with T-piece resuscitator use compared with self-inflating bag use; however, resuscitation with a T-piece resuscitator compared with a self-inflating bag reduces the duration of PPV and risk of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. There is insufficient evidence to determine the effectiveness of PEEP valves when used with self-inflating bags.<sup>174</sup> The ILCOR treatment recommendations state that where resources permit, the use of a T-piece resuscitator is suggested over the use of a self-inflating bag (with or without a PEEP valve) in infants receiving PPV at birth.<sup>12,13</sup> It was noted that a self-inflating bag should be available as a backup device for the T-piece resuscitation in case of gas supply failure.

## **Insights and Implications**

Mechanical advantages of T-piece resuscitators previously shown in bench experiments include a more precise peak inflation pressure, lower probability of unintended high-pressure inflations and the ability to apply continuous PEEP.<sup>174</sup> These advantages are consistent with the findings in this systematic review of a reduction of bronchopulmonary dysplasia in the T-piece resuscitator group. This may be of particular benefit in very preterm infants, although subgroup analysis by gestation was not possible in this review and future studies are needed. But, there are providers who are not familiar/competent in T-piece resuscitator use. For these individuals, it is preferable to use a self-inflating bag versus the risk for inadequate ventilation or overventilation.

While a T-piece resuscitator is a preferred method for providing respiratory support to newborns requiring PPV, many prehospital professionals and healthcare professionals who provide initial care may not have this device available. Care should not be delayed while obtaining a T-piece resuscitator. In this situation, prehospital professionals and healthcare professionals should begin respiratory support to newborns needing PPV with a self-inflating bag.

## **Family Presence During Neonatal Resuscitation**

Many hospitals now have policies and protocols for allowing family presence during CPR. At birth, the mother is always present, and other family members are frequently present. What evidence supports policies and protocols that allow family presence during the resuscitation of children and infants?

## **Red Cross Guidelines**

• It is reasonable for parents to be present, if they desire, during the resuscitation of neonates and where resources permit.

## **Evidence Summary**

Red Cross guidelines are informed by a systematic review<sup>176</sup> and CoSTR<sup>12,13,177</sup> by ILCOR that sought to evaluate published evidence related to family presence during pediatric and neonatal resuscitation in any setting, compared with no family presence during resuscitation. Outcomes included short- and long-term patient outcomes, short- and long-term family-centered outcomes (including perception of the resuscitation), and healthcare provider-centered outcomes (such as perception of the resuscitation and psychological stress). Thirty-six studies were included for review, including seven involving family presence during neonatal resuscitation of both survey and interview designs.<sup>176</sup> Meta-analysis was not possible and a narrative review was completed. Included studies focused on parental or family opinion of being present or absent during their child's resuscitation, and on healthcare provider experience or opinion of family presence during resuscitation.



Findings from studies of parental or family opinion of their presence during resuscitation reflect opinions that their presence during the resuscitation experience was very helpful, brought their child comfort and helped them with adjusting to the loss of their child.<sup>176</sup> Prominent themes included the parents' desire to be present and to understand what was happening, a need for physical contact with their child, and that their presence helped them to know that all had been done for their child. In over 80% of the included studies measuring hypothetical opinion of parents/families, parents believed it should be their decision whether to be present or not for the resuscitation of their child.<sup>176</sup>

Results of studies including healthcare providers with experience having parental/family present during resuscitation were mixed. The overall agreement with family presence was higher among clinically senior healthcare providers and those experienced with family presence. Overall, agreement was found to range from 85% disagreement to greater than 60% acceptance with family presence during resuscitation. Surveys of healthcare providers who disagreed with family presence described concern for psychological trauma for the parents, risk of interference with medical management, and potential stress on the care team, such as anxiety related to performance.<sup>176</sup>

Studies specifically related to family presence during immediate neonatal resuscitation were limited to six qualitative and one survey study.<sup>176</sup> The focus of the papers was on the experience of fathers during their infant's resuscitation, the experience of both parents, provider opinion, and one paper focused on both parent and provider opinions. In summary, the studies found:<sup>176</sup>

- A father's experience is unique. At the time of the resuscitation, fathers/partners focus on their partner.
- Although parents reported reservations about the emotional toll of their presence during resuscitation, they felt that their presence provided reassurance and the opportunity to be involved and to communicate.
- Education and training are needed for healthcare and nonhealthcare providers assigned to support family presence during resuscitation.
- Parental presence at birth was described as intense and ranged from desperation to immediately see their baby to the opposite end of the spectrum with fear of observing a situation involving their baby that they would prefer to have avoided.

The systematic review concludes that parents wish to be offered the opportunity to be present during resuscitation of their child, but perspectives on family presence vary greatly among healthcare providers.<sup>176</sup> The ILCOR treatment recommendation suggests it is reasonable for mothers/father/partners to be present during the resuscitation of neonates where circumstances, facilities and parental inclination allow (weak recommendation based on very low-certainty evidence).<sup>12,13,177</sup>

#### **Insights and Implications**

While this review offers parental and healthcare provider perspectives on the topic of family presence during resuscitation, most of the included studies were surveys, using investigator-designed tools. Well-designed comparative studies are needed to measure the impact of family presence on patient-, family- or provider-centered outcomes. In addition, the included studies were conducted in multiple countries without consideration for cultural differences regarding family presence during resuscitation. Aspects that may influence parental and healthcare provider acceptance need further research, such as the impact of having trained support staff as part of an organized approach to family presence. Parents from some cultures may not feel comfortable with being present during resuscitation. In practice, parental presence, if offered, needs to be the choice or personal preference of the parent.



## **CHAPTER 5**

# **Education Science**

1



7

# **Self-Directed Digital Basic Life Support Training**

The Red Cross has been a pioneer over the last decade in bringing quality resuscitation courses in digital format to the market. The courses offer learner-centered experiences and the use of visuals, including photos and videos. Self-directed, digital-based learning has been particularly popular among students during the COVID-19 pandemic to complete course work without the risk of disease transmission. To maintain a perspective on the value of self-directed digital education and training, it is important to compare them to instructor-led courses and training.

### **Red Cross Guidelines**

**NEW** • Basic life support (BLS) course content and skills may be offered to adult and high-school aged children through:

- Instructor-led training, including manikin practice.
- Blended learning as:
  - A self-directed online session to gain knowledge and understanding of the information and an in-person automated manikin practice session with feedback for skill training
  - A self-directed online session to gain knowledge and understanding of the information and an in-person, instructor-led session for skill practice with manikin practice and feedback.

### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 systematic review and CoSTR<sup>12,13,178</sup> by ILCOR compared self-directed digital-based BLS training for adults and children with traditional instructor-led training.

Patient-centered outcomes that were sought included good neurological outcome at hospital discharge or 30 days, survival at hospital discharge or 30 days, return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC), rates of bystander CPR, bystander CPR quality during OHCA, and rates of AED use.

Educational outcomes that were sought at the end of training and within 12 months included CPR quality and AED competency, CPR and AED knowledge, and confidence and willingness to perform CPR. Self-directed, digital-based BLS training included any form of digital education or training for BLS that can be completed without an instructor, except for mass media campaigns, such as videos with or without self-directed manikin practice, phone application-based, internet-based, game-based learning, virtual reality and augmented reality.

The reviewers included a total of 41 studies; overall certainty of evidence was very low to moderate across outcomes due primarily to risk of bias. A narrative synthesis of findings per outcome and by digital training medium (e.g., video or interactive computer programs with manikin practice) was reported. The reader is referred to the CoSTR for full details of this thorough, multifaceted review.<sup>12,13,178</sup>

In summary, the ILCOR CoSTR<sup>178</sup> reported that:

 Comparable educational outcomes were shown for most CPR skills and knowledge gained immediately following training and up to 1 year with both instructor-led training and digital training using video or interactive computer programs with manikin practice.



- Comparable educational outcomes were shown for most CPR skills and knowledge gained immediately following training and up to 1 year, and overall CPR competency and knowledge immediately for both instructor-led training and digital training using video only.
- Instructor-led training for AED skills may be more effective immediately following training, but not in the long term.
- For most studies, there was no difference between instructor-led and digital-based instruction for outcomes
  of mean compression depth and proportion of compressions with correct depth, chest compression fraction,
  complete chest recoil, ventilation rate and hand position during compressions. For overall CPR skill
  competency judged by instructors, results were mixed, although more studies found no difference between
  instructor-led training and digital training.
- For AED competency, most studies reported instructor-led training to be superior; failures in the digital groups included failure to "clear during analysis and shock" or to activate the AED.
- For CPR knowledge, AED knowledge, confidence and willingness to perform CPR, most studies reported that there was no difference between instructor-led and digital training groups.
- For long-term CPR and AED knowledge and skills that were measured between 2 months and 12 months, the majority of studies reported no differences between groups for chest compression rates and depth.
- Use of videos with self-directed manikin practice was the most commonly used mode of instruction and was
  comparable to instructor-led training for most educational outcomes. Limited evidence for video-only training
  and outcomes of overall CPR competence and knowledge immediately after training favored instructor-led
  training or showed no difference between training modes.<sup>178</sup>

The ILCOR Consensus on Science<sup>12,13,178</sup> led to strong treatment recommendations for use of instructor-led training (with manikin practice with feedback device) or the use of self-directed training with video kits (instructional video and manikin practice with feedback device) for the acquisition of CPR theory and skills in lay adults and high-school aged (older than 10 years) children. In addition, a strong recommendation was made for instructor-led training (with AED scenario and practice) or the use of self-directed video kits (instructional video with AED scenario) for the acquisition of AED theory and skills in lay adults and high-school aged (older than 10 years) children. A weak recommendation was made suggesting the use of BLS video education (without manikin practice) when instructor-led training or self-directed training with video kits (instructional video plus manikin with feedback device) are not accessible, or when quantity over quality of BLS training is needed in adults and children.

## **Insights and Implications**

Digital-based training for BLS gained popularity during the COVID-19 pandemic and demand for this mode of education remains strong. Although instructor-led training may be superior to digital training for some AED skills, the reviewers considered the significant improvement in AED skills attained with both methods compared with groups without training to be of greater importance because of voice prompts found on newer AEDs. Several important limitations of this review are acknowledged in the online CoSTR, such as variability in manikins used in the included studies and their technical specifications.

With its popularity among learners, digital training will likely be an active research topic going forward. In addition, the comparison of blended learning techniques that include instructor-led practice versus automated manikins requires further study.



## **Opioid Overdose First Aid Education**

A 2020 position statement<sup>179</sup> by the Red Cross recognizes the declaration by the United States Department of Health and Human Services of the opioid epidemic as a public health emergency. The Red Cross supports the availability of community opioid education and naloxone distribution programs to reduce mortality from opioid overdose and to reduce the burden on society.

#### **Red Cross Guidelines**

- **REAFFIRMED** Overdose education programs and naloxone distribution programs should be widely available to the community.
- **REAFFIRMED** Overdose education programs should include training on naloxone administration, the potential complications of naloxone administration and the management of these complications.

#### **Evidence Summary**

A 2021 scoping review by ILCOR<sup>180</sup> sought literature related to education of first aid providers on the response and care of an individual with an opioid overdose emergency, as compared with nonspecialized first aid education. Outcomes that were sought included any clinical or educational outcomes. From the initial 2,089 records identified, 59 studies were included in an observational synthesis and eight studies were included in meta-analysis. Most of the studies were of a one-group pretest/posttest design that did not allow data extraction for comparisons between studies. Key findings from the review include:<sup>180</sup>

- Improved learning outcomes were reported in more studies that were without skill practice compared with studies that had skill practice. For clinical outcomes, more studies reported improved results with skill practice compared with studies without skill practice. However, it was noted that all clinical outcomes were selfreported and unverified.
- Training times varied from less than or equal to 15 minutes (brief) to 16 to 60 minutes for stand-alone
  programs and more than 60 minutes for opioid education embedded in other programs. There was not a
  consistent relationship identified between overdose education and naloxone distribution training duration
  and educational outcomes.
- In two studies enrolling 173 participants, no statistical difference was found between training versus no training among those lay persons who reported providing first aid interventions.

The scoping review concludes that results show that lay responders are engaged and able to learn to recognize opioid overdose, provide first aid and to summon advanced medical care appropriately.<sup>180</sup>

## **Insights and Implications**

Although there was no evidence that overdose education and naloxone distribution education improved the odds of receiving naloxone, this may simply reflect the ease of access to naloxone post-education. A significant number of knowledge gaps were identified in the scoping review that will require further research to strengthen first aid education guidelines.



## References

- 1. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: AED placement. Red Cross Learning Center. January 2017. Accessed August 19, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- Olasveengen TM, Mancini ME, Perkins GD, et al. Adult Basic Life Support: 2020 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 20 2020;142(16\_suppl\_1):S41-s91. doi:10.1161/cir.000000000000892
- 3. Gantzel Nielsen C, Andelius LC, Hansen CM, et al. Bystander interventions and survival following out-of-hospital cardiac arrest at Copenhagen International Airport. *Resuscitation*. May 2021;162:381-387. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.01.039
- 4. Shibahashi K, Sakurai S, Kobayashi M, Ishida T, Hamabe Y. Effectiveness of public-access automated external defibrillators at Tokyo railroad stations. *Resuscitation*. Jul 2021;164:4-11. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.04.032
- Kishimori T, Kiguchi T, Kiyohara K, et al. Public-access automated external defibrillator pad application and favorable neurological outcome after outof-hospital cardiac arrest in public locations: A prospective population-based propensity score-matched study. Int J Cardiol. Jan 15 2020;299:140-146. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.07.061
- 6. Żuratyński P, Ślęzak D, Dąbrowski S, Krzyżanowski K, Mędrzycka-Dąbrowska W, Rutkowski P. Use of Public Automated External Defibrillators in Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in Poland. *Medicina (Kaunas)*. Mar 22 2021;57(3)doi:10.3390/medicina57030298
- Grunau B, Humphries K, Stenstrom R, et al. Public access defibrillators: Gender-based inequities in access and application. Resuscitation. May 2020;150:17-22. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.02.024
- 8. Aeby D, Staeger P, Dami F. How to improve automated external defibrillator placement for out-of-hospital cardiac arrests: A case study. *PLoS One*. 2021;16(5):e0250591. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0250591
- 9. Liu CH, Sung CW, Fan CY, et al. Strategies on locations of public access defibrillator: A systematic review. Am J Emerg Med. Feb 27 2021;47:52-57. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2021.02.033
- 10. Chung S, Avis S, Castren M, et al. Video-based Dispatch System Consensus on Science with Treatment Recommendations [Internet]. International Liaison Committee on Resusciation. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 11, 2021, 2021.
- 11. Lee SY, Song KJ, Shin SD, Hong KJ, Kim TH. Comparison of the effects of audio-instructed and video-instructed dispatcher-assisted cardiopulmonary resuscitation on resuscitation outcomes after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation*. Feb 1 2020;147:12-20. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.12.004
- Wyckoff MH, Singletary EM, Soar J, et al. 2021 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations: Summary From the Basic Life Support; Advanced Life Support; Neonatal Life Support; Education, Implementation, and Teams; First Aid Task Forces. *Resuscitation*. Nov 5 2021;doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.10.040
- 13. Wyckoff MH, Singletary EM, Soar J, et al. 2021 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations: Summary From the Basic Life Support; Advanced Life Support; Neonatal Life Support; Education, Implementation, and Teams; First Aid Task Forces; and the COVID-19 Working Group. *Circulation*. Nov 11 2021:Cir00000000001017. doi:10.1161/cir.000000000001017
- 14. Lin YY, Chiang WC, Hsieh MJ, Sun JT, Chang YC, Ma MH. Quality of audio-assisted versus video-assisted dispatcher-instructed bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Resuscitation*. Feb 2018;123:77-85. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2017.12.010
- 15. Drennan IR, Geri G, Brooks S, et al. Diagnosis of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest by emergency medical dispatch: A diagnostic systematic review. *Resuscitation*. Feb 2021;159:85-96. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.11.025
- 16. Blomberg SN, Christensen HC, Lippert F, et al. Effect of Machine Learning on Dispatcher Recognition of Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest During Calls to Emergency Medical Services: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Netw Open*. Jan 4 2021;4(1):e2032320. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.32320
- 17. Murphy TW, Windermere S, Morris T, Slish J, Holtzman L, Becker TK. Risk and ROSC Legal implications of bystander CPR. *Resuscitation*. Jun 2020;151:99-102. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.03.017
- Olasveengen TM, de Caen AR, Mancini ME, et al. 2017 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations Summary. *Circulation*. Dec 5 2017;136(23):e424-e440. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000541
- Rea TD, Fahrenbruch C, Culley L, et al. CPR with chest compression alone or with rescue breathing. N Engl J Med. Jul 29 2010;363(5):423-33. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0908993
- 20. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: A-B-C vs. C-A-B. Red Cross Learning Center. June 2020. Accessed August 27, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- 21. Tobin JM, Ramos WD, Greenshields J, et al. Outcome of Conventional Bystander Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation in Cardiac Arrest Following Drowning. *Prehosp Disaster Med.* Apr 2020;35(2):141-147. doi:10.1017/s1049023x20000060
- 22. Kamikura T, Iwasaki H, Myojo Y, Sakagami S, Takei Y, Inaba H. Advantage of CPR-first over call-first actions for out-of-hospital cardiac arrests in nonelderly patients and of noncardiac aetiology. *Resuscitation*. Nov 2015;96:37-45. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2015.06.027
- Nichol G, Leroux B, Wang H, et al. Trial of Continuous or Interrupted Chest Compressions during CPR. N Engl J Med. Dec 3 2015;373(23):2203-14. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1509139
- 24. Kellum MJ, Kennedy KW, Barney R, et al. Cardiocerebral resuscitation improves neurologically intact survival of patients with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Ann Emerg Med. Sep 2008;52(3):244-52. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2008.02.006



- 25. Bobrow BJ, Clark LL, Ewy GA, et al. Minimally interrupted cardiac resuscitation by emergency medical services for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Jama*. Mar 12 2008;299(10):1158-65. doi:10.1001/jama.299.10.1158
- 26. Garza AG, Gratton MC, Salomone JA, Lindholm D, McElroy J, Archer R. Improved patient survival using a modified resuscitation protocol for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Circulation*. May 19 2009;119(19):2597-605. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.108.815621
- Travers AH, Perkins GD, Berg RA, et al. Part 3: Adult Basic Life Support and Automated External Defibrillation: 2015 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 20 2015;132(16 Suppl 1):S51-83. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000272
- 28. Considine J, Gazmuri RJ, Perkins GD, et al. Chest compression components (rate, depth, chest wall recoil and leaning): A scoping review. *Resuscitation*. Jan 1 2020;146:188-202. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.08.042
- 29. Bibl K, Gröpel P, Berger A, Schmölzer GM, Olischar M, Wagner M. Randomised simulation trial found an association between rescuers' height and weight and chest compression quality during paediatric resuscitation. *Acta Paediatr.* Sep 2020;109(9):1831-1837. doi:10.1111/apa.15229
- 30. Contri E, Cornara S, Somaschini A, et al. Complete chest recoil during laypersons' CPR: Is it a matter of weight? Am J Emerg Med. Sep 2017;35(9):1266-1268. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2017.03.060
- 31. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: Pulse check for cardiac arrest. Red Cross Learning Center. January 24, 2015. Accessed August 27, 2021. <u>https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/</u>
- 32. Torsy T, Deswarte W, Karlberg Traav M, Beeckman D. Effect of a dynamic mattress on chest compression quality during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Nurs Crit Care. Apr 21 2021;doi:10.1111/nicc.12631
- Paganini M, Mormando G, Carfagna F, Ingrassia PL. Use of backboards in cardiopulmonary resuscitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Emerg Med. Jun 1 2021;28(3):180-188. doi:10.1097/mej.00000000000784
- 34. Holt J, Ward A, Mohamed TY, et al. The optimal surface for delivery of CPR: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Resuscitation*. Aug 2 2020;155:159-164. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.07.020
- 35. Lee S, Oh J, Kang H, et al. Proper target depth of an accelerometer-based feedback device during CPR performed on a hospital bed: a randomized simulation study. *Am J Emerg Med*. Oct 2015;33(10):1425-9. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2015.07.010
- Wigginton J, Olasveengen TM, O'Neil B, et al. Head-up CPR for Cardiac Arrest in Adults Consensus on Science with Treatment Recommendations. International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 13, 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/head-up-cpr-bls-systematic-revies</u>
- Pepe PE, Scheppke KA, Antevy PM, et al. Confirming the Clinical Safety and Feasibility of a Bundled Methodology to Improve Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation Involving a Head-Up/Torso-Up Chest Compression Technique. Crit Care Med. Mar 2019;47(3):449-455. doi:10.1097/ccm.00000000003608
- Dee R, Smith M, Rajendran K, et al. The effect of alternative methods of cardiopulmonary resuscitation Cough CPR, percussion pacing or precordial thump - on outcomes following cardiac arrest. A systematic review. *Resuscitation*. May 2021;162:73-81. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.01.027
- 39. 2005 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science with Treatment Recommendations. Part 2: Adult basic life support. *Resuscitation*. Nov-Dec 2005;67(2-3):187-201. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2005.09.016
- 40. Sayre MR, Koster RW, Botha M, et al. Part 5: Adult basic life support: 2010 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 19 2010;122(16 Suppl 2):S298-324. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.110.970996
- 41. Sutton RM, Reeder RW, Landis WP, et al. Ventilation Rates and Pediatric In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Survival Outcomes. Crit Care Med. Nov 2019;47(11):1627-1636. doi:10.1097/ccm.00000000003898
- 42. Aufderheide TP, Lurie KG. Death by hyperventilation: a common and life-threatening problem during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Crit Care Med. Sep 2004;32(9 Suppl):S345-51. doi:10.1097/01.ccm.0000134335.46859.09
- 43. Aufderheide TP, Sigurdsson G, Pirrallo RG, et al. Hyperventilation-induced hypotension during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Circulation*. Apr 27 2004;109(16):1960-5. doi:10.1161/01.Cir.0000126594.79136.61
- 44. von Goedecke A, Bowden K, Wenzel V, Keller C, Gabrielli A. Effects of decreasing inspiratory times during simulated bag-valve-mask ventilation. *Resuscitation*. Mar 2005;64(3):321-5. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2004.09.003
- 45. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: Bag-valve-mask vs. mouth-to-mask ventilation for single rescuers. Red Cross Learning Center. Updated January 2021. Accessed August 30, 2021. <u>https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/</u>
- 46. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: Bag-valve-mask vs. mouth-to-mask ventilation for single rescuers. Red Cross Learning Center. Accessed August 30, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- 47. Lakomek F, Lukas RP, Brinkrolf P, et al. Real-time feedback improves chest compression quality in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A prospective cohort study. *PLoS One*. 2020;15(2):e0229431. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0229431
- 48. Vahedian-Azimi A, Rahimibashar F, Miller AC. A comparison of cardiopulmonary resuscitation with standard manual compressions versus compressions with real-time audiovisual feedback: A randomized controlled pilot study. *Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci.* Jan-Mar 2020;10(1):32-37. doi:10.4103/ijciis.ljciis\_84\_19
- 49. Wang SA, Su CP, Fan HY, Hou WH, Chen YC. Effects of real-time feedback on cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality on outcomes in adult patients with cardiac arrest: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Resuscitation*. Oct 2020;155:82-90. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.07.024
- 50. Lyngby RM, Händel MN, Christensen AM, et al. Effect of real-time and post-event feedback in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest attended by EMS A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Resusc Plus.* Jun 2021;6:100101. doi:10.1016/j.resplu.2021.100101



- 51. Gugelmin-Almeida D, Tobase L, Polastri TF, Peres HHC, Timerman S. Do automated real-time feedback devices improve CPR quality? A systematic review of literature. *Resusc Plus*. Jun 2021;6:100108. doi:10.1016/j.resplu.2021.100108
- 52. Miller AC, Scissum K, McConnell L, et al. Real-time audio-visual feedback with handheld nonautomated external defibrillator devices during cardiopulmonary resuscitation for in-hospital cardiac arrest: A meta-analysis. *Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci.* Jul-Sep 2020;10(3):109-122. doi:10.4103/ijciis.ljciis\_155\_20
- 53. Vahedian-Azimi A, Zehtabchi S, Miller AC. Real-time audiovisual feedback during CPR: A clarification, meta-analysis update, and caution for interpretation. *Resuscitation*. Jan 2021;158:295-297. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.09.043
- 54. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. First Aid: Infection risk in first aid and CPR. Red Cross Learning Center. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- 55. Couper K, Taylor-Phillips S, Grove A, et al. COVID-19 in cardiac arrest and infection risk to rescuers: A systematic review. *Resuscitation*. Jun 2020;151:59-66. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.04.022
- 56. Ran L, Chen X, Wang Y, Wu W, Zhang L, Tan X. Risk Factors of Healthcare Workers With Coronavirus Disease 2019: A Retrospective Cohort Study in a Designated Hospital of Wuhan in China. *Clin Infect Dis.* Nov 19 2020;71(16):2218-2221. doi:10.1093/cid/ciaa287
- 57. Liu W, Tang F, Fang LQ, et al. Risk factors for SARS infection among hospital healthcare workers in Beijing: a case control study. *Trop Med Int Health*. Nov 2009;14(Suppl 1):52-9.
- 58. News TGaKH. Lost on the frontline. August 11, 2020. Lost on the frontline: COVID-19 coronavirus US healthcare workers death database Accessed 15 August 2021. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/series/lost-on-the-frontline
- Mancini ME, Soar J, Bhanji F, et al. Part 12: Education, implementation, and teams: 2010 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 19 2010;122(16 Suppl 2):S539-81. doi:10.1161/ circulationaha.110.971143
- 60. Esibov A, Chapman FW, Melnick SB, Sullivan JL, Walcott GP. Minor Variations in Electrode Pad Placement Impact Defibrillation Success. *Prehosp Emerg Care*. 2016;20(2):292-8. doi:10.3109/10903127.2015.1076095
- 61. Jacobs I, Sunde K, Deakin CD, et al. Part 6: Defibrillation: 2010 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 19 2010;122(16 Suppl 2):S325-37. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.110.971010
- 62. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: Naloxone administration during resuscitation. Red Cross Learning Center. Accessed August 27, 2021. <u>https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/</u>
- 63. Friedman J, Mann NC, Hansen H, et al. Racial/Ethnic, Social, and Geographic Trends in Overdose-Associated Cardiac Arrests Observed by US Emergency Medical Services During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA Psychiatry*. Aug 1 2021;78(8):886-895. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.0967
- 64. American Red Cross. Lifeguardinig Manual. American Red Cross; 2016.
- 65. Popp LM, Ashburn NP, McGinnis HD, Stopyra JP. Prehospital Cross-Sectional Study of Drowning Patients Across the United States. *Wilderness Environ Med.* Sep 2021;32(3):271-277. doi:10.1016/j.wem.2021.03.003
- 66. Centers for Disease Control. Drowning Facts/Drowning Prevention. CDC.gov. Updated June 17, 2021. Accessed October 12, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/drowning/facts/index.html
- 67. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Aquatics: CPR for drowning. Red Cross Learning Center. January 2021. Accessed August 30, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- 68. Chan JS, Ng MX, Ng YY. Drowning in swimming pools: clinical features and safety recommendations based on a study of descriptive records by emergency medical services attending to 995 calls. *Singapore Med J.* Jan 2018;59(1):44-49. doi:10.11622/smedj.2017021
- 69. Hubert H, Escutnaire J, Michelet P, et al. Can we identify termination of resuscitation criteria in cardiac arrest due to drowning: results from the French national out-of-hospital cardiac arrest registry. *J Eval Clin Pract*. Dec 2016;22(6):924-931. doi:10.1111/jep.12562
- 70. Fukuda T, Ohashi-Fukuda N, Hayashida K, Kondo Y, Kukita I. Bystander-initiated conventional vs compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation and outcomes after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest due to drowning. *Resuscitation*. Dec 2019;145:166-174. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.08.026
- 71. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Aquatics: In-water resuscitation. Red Cross Learning Center. June 2019. Accessed August 27, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- 72. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. In-water resuscitation in drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet]. ILCOR. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed 15 August, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-in-water-resuscitation-in-drowning-tf-scoping-review</u>
- 73. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. Resuscitation on a boat following drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet]. ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-resuscitation-a-boat-following-drowning-tf-scoping-review</u>
- 74. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. Automated External Defibrillation in Drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-automated-external-defibrillator-use-in-drowning-aed-use-tf-scoping-review</u>
- 75. Szpilman D, Soares M. In-water resuscitation--is it worthwhile? Resuscitation. Oct 2004;63(1):25-31. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2004.03.017
- 76. Lungwitz YP, Nussbaum BL, Paulat K, Muth CM, Kranke P, Winkler BE. A novel rescue-tube device for in-water resuscitation. *Aerosp Med Hum Perform*. Apr 2015;86(4):379-85. doi:10.3357/amhp.4133.2015
- 77. Barcala-Furelos R, Szpilman D, Palacios-Aguilar J, et al. Assessing the efficacy of rescue equipment in lifeguard resuscitation efforts for drowning. Am J Emerg Med. Mar 2016;34(3):480-5. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2015.12.006



- 78. Abelairas-Gómez C, Barcala-Furelos R, Mecías-Calvo M, et al. Prehospital Emergency Medicine at the Beach: What Is the Effect of Fins and Rescue Tubes in Lifesaving and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation After Rescue? *Wilderness Environ Med.* Sep 2017;28(3):176-184. doi:10.1016/j.wem.2017.03.013
- International Life Saving Federation. MPS 08: In-water resuscitation. ilsf.org. Updated November 27, 2018. Accessed 15 August, 2021. <u>https://www.ilsf.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/MPS-08-2015-In-water-resuscitation.pdf</u>
- 80. Claesson A, Lindqvist J, Herlitz J. Cardiac arrest due to drowning--changes over time and factors of importance for survival. *Resuscitation*. May 2014;85(5):644-8. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2014.02.006
- 81. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. Prehospital Oxygen in Drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-pre-hospital-oxygen-in-drowning-tf-scoping-review</u>
- Cohen N, Capua T, Lahat S, Glatstein M, Sadot E, Rimon A. Predictors for hospital admission of asymptomatic to moderately symptomatic children after drowning. Eur J Pediatr. Sep 2019;178(9):1379-1384. doi:10.1007/s00431-019-03429-1
- 83. Cantu RM, Pruitt CM, Samuy N, Wu CL. Predictors of emergency department discharge following pediatric drowning. Am J Emerg Med. Mar 2018;36(3):446-449. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2017.08.057
- 84. Gregorakos L, Markou N, Psalida V, et al. Near-drowning: clinical course of lung injury in adults. Lung. Mar-Apr 2009;187(2):93-7. doi:10.1007/s00408-008-9132-4
- Hanisch JR, Counts CR, Latimer AJ, Rea TD, Yin L, Sayre MR. Causes of Chest Compression Interruptions During Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Resuscitation. J Am Heart Assoc. Mar 17 2020;9(6):e015599. doi:10.1161/jaha.119.015599
- Berg K, Hsu CH, Considine J, et al. Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Defibrillation for Cardiac Arrest when Patients are in the Prone Position Consensus on Science with Treatment Recommendations [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/prone-cpr-als-systematic-review</u>
- West RL, Otto Q, Drennan IR, et al. CPR-related cognitive activity, consciousness, awareness and recall and its management: Scoping Review and Task Force Insights [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed Augist 15, 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/consciousness-during-cpr-als-tf-scoping-review</u>
- Olaussen A, Shepherd M, Nehme Z, et al. CPR-induced consciousness: A cross-sectional study of healthcare practitioners' experience. Australas Emerg Nurs J. Nov 2016;19(4):186-190. doi:10.1016/j.aenj.2016.07.002
- Doan TN, Adams L, Schultz BV, et al. Insights into the epidemiology of cardiopulmonary resuscitation-induced consciousness in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Emerg Med Australas. Oct 2020;32(5):769-776. doi:10.1111/1742-6723.13505
- 90. Callaway CW, Soar J, Aibiki M, et al. Part 4: Advanced Life Support: 2015 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 20 2015;132(16 Suppl 1):S84-145. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000273
- 91. Spindelboeck W, Schindler O, Moser A, et al. Increasing arterial oxygen partial pressure during cardiopulmonary resuscitation is associated with improved rates of hospital admission. *Resuscitation*. Jun 2013;84(6):770-5. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.01.012
- 92. Ong G, Maconochie I, Aicken R, et al. Oxygen titration during pediatric cardiac arrest. Scoping Review. Pediatric Life Support Task Force Insights [Internet]. ILCOR.org. Accessed August 15, 2021, 2021. https://costr.ilcor.org/document/oxygen-titration-during-pediatric-cardiac-arrest-pls-396-scoping-review
- 93. Park S, Kim JY, Cho YD, Lee E, Shim B, Yoon YH. Successful resuscitation of refractory ventricular fibrillation with double sequence defibrillation. Acute Crit Care. Feb 2021;36(1):67-69. doi:10.4266/acc.2020.00122
- 94. Choi HJ, Noh H. Successful defibrillation using double sequence defibrillation: Case reports. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. Mar 12 2021;100(10):e24992. doi:10.1097/md.000000000024992
- 95. Cheskes S, Dorian P, Feldman M, et al. Double sequential external defibrillation for refractory ventricular fibrillation: The DOSE VF pilot randomized controlled trial. *Resuscitation*. May 2020;150:178-184. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.02.010
- 96. Berg KM, Soar J, Andersen LW, et al. Adult Advanced Life Support: 2020 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation*. Oct 20 2020;142(16\_suppl\_1):S92-s139. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000893
- 97. Deakin CD, Morley P, Soar J, Drennan IR. Double (dual) sequential defibrillation for refractory ventricular fibrillation cardiac arrest: A systematic review. *Resuscitation*. Jun 16 2020;155:24-31. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.06.008
- 98. Sligl WI, Milner DA, Jr., Sundar S, Mphatswe W, Majumdar SR. Safety and efficacy of corticosteroids for the treatment of septic shock: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Infect Dis.* Jul 1 2009;49(1):93-101. doi:10.1086/599343
- 99. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: Vasopressin and steroids for in-hospital cardiac arrest. Red Cross Learning Center. Accessed December 3, 2021. <u>https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/</u>
- 100. Andersen LW, Isbye D, Kjærgaard J, et al. Effect of Vasopressin and Methylprednisolone vs Placebo on Return of Spontaneous Circulation in Patients With In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Jama*. Sep 29 2021;doi:10.1001/jama.2021.16628
- 101. Mentzelopoulos SD, Malachias S, Chamos C, et al. Vasopressin, steroids, and epinephrine and neurologically favorable survival after in-hospital cardiac arrest: a randomized clinical trial. Jama. Jul 17 2013;310(3):270-9. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.7832
- 102. Mentzelopoulos SD, Zakynthinos SG, Tzoufi M, et al. Vasopressin, epinephrine, and corticosteroids for in-hospital cardiac arrest. Arch Intern Med. Jan 12 2009;169(1):15-24. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2008.509
- 103. Shah K, Mitra AR. Use of Corticosteroids in Cardiac Arrest-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Crit Care Med. Jun 1 2021;49(6):e642-e650. doi:10.1097/ccm.000000000004941



75

- 104. Link MS, Berkow LC, Kudenchuk PJ, et al. Part 7: Adult Advanced Cardiovascular Life Support: 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation. Nov 3 2015;132(18 Suppl 2):S444-64. doi:10.1161/cir.000000000000261
- 105. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. Airway Management in drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet] ILCOR.org. Accessed Augist 15, 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-airway-management-in-drowning-tf-scoping-review</u>
- 106. Garner AA, Barker CL, Weatherall AD. Retrospective evaluation of prehospital triage, presentation, interventions and outcome in paediatric drowning managed by a physician staffed helicopter emergency medical service. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. Nov 6 2015;23:92. doi:10.1186/s13049-015-0177-0
- 107. Joanknecht L, Argent AC, van Dijk M, van As AB. Childhood drowning in South Africa: local data should inform prevention strategies. *Pediatr Surg Int*. Feb 2015;31(2):123-30. doi:10.1007/s00383-014-3637-0
- 108. Kieboom JK, Verkade HJ, Burgerhof JG, et al. Outcome after resuscitation beyond 30 minutes in drowned children with cardiac arrest and hypothermia: Dutch nationwide retrospective cohort study. Bmj. Feb 10 2015;350:h418. doi:10.1136/bmj.h418
- 109. Salas Ballestín A, de Carlos Vicente JC, Frontera Juan G, et al. Prognostic Factors of Children Admitted to a Pediatric Intensive Care Unit After an Episode of Drowning. *Pediatr Emerg Care*. Apr 1 2021;37(4):e192-e195. doi:10.1097/pec.00000000001554
- 110. Soar J, Maconochie I, Wyckoff MH, et al. 2019 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations: Summary From the Basic Life Support; Advanced Life Support; Pediatric Life Support; Neonatal Life Support; Education, Implementation, and Teams; and First Aid Task Forces. *Circulation*. Dec 10 2019;140(24):e826-e880. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000734
- 111. Michelet P, Bouzana F, Charmensat O, et al. Acute respiratory failure after drowning: a retrospective multicenter survey. *Eur J Emerg Med*. Aug 2017;24(4):295-300. doi:10.1097/mej.00000000000362
- 112. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. Mechanical ventilation in drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet] Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-mechanical-ventilation-in-drowning-tf-scoping-review</u>
- 113. Bierens J, Barcala-Furelos R, Beerman S, et al. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenator (ECMO) in Drowning. Review and Task Force Insights [Internet]. ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed 15 August 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-extra-corporeal-membrane-oxygenator-ecmo-in-drowning-tf-scoping-review</u>
- 114. Champigneulle B, Bellenfant-Zegdi F, Follin A, et al. Extracorporeal life support (ECLS) for refractory cardiac arrest after drowning: an 11-year experience. *Resuscitation*. Mar 2015;88:126-31. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2014.11.023
- Burke CR, Chan T, Brogan TV, et al. Extracorporeal life support for victims of drowning. *Resuscitation*. Jul 2016;104:19-23. doi:10.1016/j. resuscitation.2016.04.005
- 116. Griffiths MJD, McAuley DF, Perkins GD, et al. Guidelines on the management of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *BMJ Open Respir Res.* 2019;6(1):e000420. doi:10.1136/bmjresp-2019-000420
- 117. Force BLST. Criteria for Discharge in drowning: Scoping Review. ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed 15 August, 2021. https://costr.ilcor.org/document/bls-856-criteria-for-discharge-in-drowning-tf-scoping-review
- 118. Callaway CW, Donnino MW, Fink EL, et al. Part 8: Post-Cardiac Arrest Care: 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. *Circulation*. Nov 3 2015;132(18 Suppl 2):S465-82. doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000262
- 119. Nikolaou NI, Netherton S, Welsford M, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of routine early angiography in patients with return of spontaneous circulation after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. *Resuscitation*. Apr 7 2021;163:28-48. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.03.019
- 120. Drennan IR, Nikolaou N, Netherton S, et al. Early Coronary Angiography Post-ROSC [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://costr.ilcor.org/document/early-coronary-angiography-post-rosc-als-costr-systematic-review
- 121. Kern KB, Lotun K, Patel N, et al. Outcomes of Comatose Cardiac Arrest Survivors With and Without ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: Importance of Coronary Angiography. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. Jul 2015;8(8):1031-1040. doi:10.1016/j.jcin.2015.02.021
- 122. Elfwén L, Lagedal R, Nordberg P, et al. Direct or subacute coronary angiography in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (DISCO)-An initial pilot-study of a randomized clinical trial. *Resuscitation*. Jun 2019;139:253-261. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.04.027
- 123. Lemkes JS, Janssens GN, Straaten HM, et al. Coronary angiography after cardiac arrest: Rationale and design of the COACT trial. Am Heart J. Oct 2016;180:39-45. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2016.06.025
- 124. Vyas A, Chan PS, Cram P, Nallamothu BK, McNally B, Girotra S. Early Coronary Angiography and Survival After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. Oct 2015;8(10)doi:10.1161/circinterventions.114.002321
- 125. Garcia S, Drexel T, Bekwelem W, et al. Early Access to the Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory for Patients Resuscitated From Cardiac Arrest Due to a Shockable Rhythm: The Minnesota Resuscitation Consortium Twin Cities Unified Protocol. J Am Heart Assoc. Jan 7 2016;5(1)doi:10.1161/jaha.115.002670
- 126. Geri G, Dumas F, Bougouin W, et al. Immediate Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Is Associated With Improved Short- and Long-Term Survival After Outof-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. Oct 2015;8(10)doi:10.1161/circinterventions.114.002303
- 127. Callaway CW, Schmicker RH, Brown SP, et al. Early coronary angiography and induced hypothermia are associated with survival and functional recovery after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation*. May 2014;85(5):657-63. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.12.028
- 128. Tømte O, Andersen G, Jacobsen D, Drægni T, Auestad B, Sunde K. Strong and weak aspects of an established post-resuscitation treatment protocol-A fiveyear observational study. *Resuscitation*. Sep 2011;82(9):1186-93. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2011.05.003
- 129. Dankiewicz J, Nielsen N, Annborn M, et al. Survival in patients without acute ST elevation after cardiac arrest and association with early coronary angiography: a post hoc analysis from the TTM trial. Intensive Care Med [Internet]. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2015;41(5):856-64. 24 March 2015. Accessed August 15, 2021. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00134-015-3735-z">http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00134-015-3735-z</a>



- 130. Yannopoulos D, Bartos JA, Aufderheide TP, et al. The Evolving Role of the Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory in the Management of Patients With Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. Mar 19 2019;139(12):e530-e552. doi:10.1161/ cir.000000000000630
- 131. Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, et al. Hypothermia versus Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. N Engl J Med. Jun 17 2021;384(24):2283-2294. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2100591
- 132. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Resuscitation: Targeted temperature management. Red Cross Learning Center. Accessed August 30, 2021. https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/
- 133. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. Feb 21 2002;346(8):549-56. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa012689
- 134. Bernard SA, Gray TW, Buist MD, et al. Treatment of comatose survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with induced hypothermia. N Engl J Med. Feb 21 2002;346(8):557-63. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa003289
- 135. Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. Dec 5 2013;369(23):2197-206. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1310519
- 136. Kim JH, Nagy Á, Putzu A, et al. Therapeutic Hypothermia in Critically III Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of High Quality Randomized Trials. Crit Care Med. Jul 2020;48(7):1047-1054. doi:10.1097/ccm.00000000004364
- 137. Granfeldt A, Holmberg MJ, Nolan JP, Soar J, Andersen LW. Targeted temperature management in adult cardiac arrest: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Resuscitation*. Aug 30 2021;167:160-172. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.08.040
- 138. Soar J, Nolan JP, Andersen LW, et al. Temperature Management in Adult Cardiac Arrest Consensus on Science with Treatment Recommendations [Internet] ILCOR. Updated October 13, 2021. Accessed November 1, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/systematic-review-temperature-management-in-adult-cardiac-arrest-als-1</u>
- 139. Kim F, Nichol G, Maynard C, et al. Effect of prehospital induction of mild hypothermia on survival and neurological status among adults with cardiac arrest: a randomized clinical trial. Jama. Jan 1 2014;311(1):45-52. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.282173
- 140. Paoli CJ, Reynolds MA, Sinha M, Gitlin M, Crouser E. Epidemiology and Costs of Sepsis in the United States-An Analysis Based on Timing of Diagnosis and Severity Level. Crit Care Med. Dec 2018;46(12):1889-1897. doi:10.1097/ccm.00000000003342
- 141. Evans L, Rhodes A, Alhazzani W, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of sepsis and septic shock 2021. Intensive Care Med. Oct 2 2021:1-67. doi:10.1007/s00134-021-06506-y
- 142. Weiss SL, Peters MJ, Alhazzani W, et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign International Guidelines for the Management of Septic Shock and Sepsis-Associated Organ Dysfunction in Children. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* Feb 2020;21(2):e52-e106. doi:10.1097/pcc.0000000002198
- 143. Kuttab HI, Lykins JD, Hughes MD, et al. Evaluation and Predictors of Fluid Resuscitation in Patients With Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock. Crit Care Med. Nov 2019;47(11):1582-1590. doi:10.1097/ccm.0000000003960
- 144. Shankar-Hari M, Phillips GS, Levy ML, et al. Developing a New Definition and Assessing New Clinical Criteria for Septic Shock: For the Third International Consensus Definitions for Septis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). Jama. Feb 23 2016;315(8):775-87. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.0289
- 145. Contenti J, Corraze H, Lemoël F, Levraut J. Effectiveness of arterial, venous, and capillary blood lactate as a sepsis triage tool in ED patients. Am J Emerg Med. Feb 2015;33(2):167-72. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2014.11.003
- 146. Ljungström L, Pernestig AK, Jacobsson G, Andersson R, Usener B, Tilevik D. Diagnostic accuracy of procalcitonin, neutrophil-lymphocyte count ratio, C-reactive protein, and lactate in patients with suspected bacterial sepsis. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(7):e0181704. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181704
- 147. Morris E, McCartney D, Lasserson D, Van den Bruel A, Fisher R, Hayward G. Point-of-care lactate testing for sepsis at presentation to health care: a systematic review of patient outcomes. Br J Gen Pract. Dec 2017;67(665):e859-e870. doi:10.3399/bjgp17X693665
- 148. Fleischmann-Struzek C, Mellhammar L, Rose N, et al. Incidence and mortality of hospital- and ICU-treated sepsis: results from an updated and expanded systematic review and meta-analysis. Intensive Care Med. Aug 2020;46(8):1552-1562. doi:10.1007/s00134-020-06151-x
- 149. Misango D, Pattnaik R, Baker T, Dünser MW, Dondorp AM, Schultz MJ. Hemodynamic Assessment and Support in Sepsis and Septic Shock in Resource-Limited Settings. In: Dondorp AM, Dünser MW, Schultz MJ, eds. Sepsis Management in Resource-limited Settings. Springer Copyright 2019, The Author(s). 2019:151-62.
- 150. Cecconi M, Hernandez G, Dunser M, et al. Fluid administration for acute circulatory dysfunction using basic monitoring: narrative review and expert panel recommendations from an ESICM task force. Intensive Care Med. Jan 2019;45(1):21-32. doi:10.1007/s00134-018-5415-2
- 151. Lara B, Enberg L, Ortega M, et al. Capillary refill time during fluid resuscitation in patients with sepsis-related hyperlactatemia at the emergency department is related to mortality. PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0188548. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188548
- 152. Hernández G, Ospina-Tascón GA, Damiani LP, et al. Effect of a Resuscitation Strategy Targeting Peripheral Perfusion Status vs Serum Lactate Levels on 28-Day Mortality Among Patients With Septic Shock: The ANDROMEDA-SHOCK Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama. Feb 19 2019;321(7):654-664. doi:10.1001/ jama.2019.0071
- 153. Hylands M, Moller MH, Asfar P, et al. A systematic review of vasopressor blood pressure targets in critically ill adults with hypotension. Can J Anaesth. Jul 2017;64(7):703-715. Une revue systématique des cibles de tension artérielle sous vasopresseurs chez des adultes gravement malades atteints d'hypotension. doi:10.1007/s12630-017-0877-1
- 154. Lamontagne F, Meade MO, Hébert PC, et al. Higher versus lower blood pressure targets for vasopressor therapy in shock: a multicentre pilot randomized controlled trial. Intensive Care Med. Apr 2016;42(4):542-550. doi:10.1007/s00134-016-4237-3



- 155. Lamontagne F, Richards-Belle A, Thomas K, et al. Effect of Reduced Exposure to Vasopressors on 90-Day Mortality in Older Critically III Patients With Vasodilatory Hypotension: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama. Mar 10 2020;323(10):938-949. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.0930
- 156. Seymour CW, Gesten F, Prescott HC, et al. Time to Treatment and Mortality during Mandated Emergency Care for Sepsis. N Engl J Med. Jun 8 2017;376(23):2235-2244. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1703058
- 157. Liu VX, Fielding-Singh V, Greene JD, et al. The Timing of Early Antibiotics and Hospital Mortality in Sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. Oct 1 2017;196(7):856-863. doi:10.1164/rccm.201609-1848OC
- 158. Peltan ID, Brown SM, Bledsoe JR, et al. ED Door-to-Antibiotic Time and Long-term Mortality in Sepsis. Chest. May 2019;155(5):938-946. doi:10.1016/j. chest.2019.02.008
- 159. Avni T, Lador A, Lev S, Leibovici L, Paul M, Grossman A. Vasopressors for the Treatment of Septic Shock: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0129305. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129305
- 160. Myburgh JA, Higgins A, Jovanovska A, Lipman J, Ramakrishnan N, Santamaria J. A comparison of epinephrine and norepinephrine in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med. Dec 2008;34(12):2226-34. doi:10.1007/s00134-008-1219-0
- 161. Russell JA, Walley KR, Singer J, et al. Vasopressin versus norepinephrine infusion in patients with septic shock. N Engl J Med. Feb 28 2008;358(9):877-87. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa067373
- 162. Ukor IF, Walley KR. Vasopressin in Vasodilatory Shock. Crit Care Clin. Apr 2019;35(2):247-261. doi:10.1016/j.ccc.2018.11.004
- 163. Mauri T, Turrini C, Eronia N, et al. Physiologic Effects of High-Flow Nasal Cannula in Acute Hypoxemic Respiratory Failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. May 1 2017;195(9):1207-1215. doi:10.1164/rccm.201605-0916OC
- 164. Frat JP, Thille AW, Mercat A, et al. High-flow oxygen through nasal cannula in acute hypoxemic respiratory failure. N Engl J Med. Jun 4 2015;372(23):2185-96. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1503326
- 165. Buick JE, Wallner C, Aickin R, et al. Paediatric targeted temperature management post cardiac arrest: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Resuscitation. Jun 2019;139:65-75. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.03.038
- 166. Scholefield BR, Guerguerian AM, Tijssen J, et al. Post-arrest temperature management in children. ILCOR. Accessed 20 November, 2021. https://ilcor.org/news/post-arrest-temperature-management-in-children
- 167. Moler FW, Silverstein FS, Holubkov R, et al. Therapeutic Hypothermia after In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in Children. N Engl J Med. Jan 26 2017;376(4):318-329. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1610493
- 168. Moler FW, Silverstein FS, Holubkov R, et al. Therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in children. N Engl J Med. May 14 2015;372(20):1898-908. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411480
- 169. Magee A, Deschamps R, Delzoppo C, et al. Temperature Management and Health-Related Quality of Life in Children 3 Years After Cardiac Arrest. Pediatr Crit Care Med. Aug 23 2021;doi:10.1097/pcc.00000000002821
- 170. Seidler AL, Gyte GML, Rabe H, et al. Umbilical Cord Management for Newborns <34 Weeks' Gestation: A Meta-analysis. Pediatrics. Mar 2021;147(3) doi:10.1542/peds.2020-0576
- 171. Costa-Nobre DT, Davis PG, Soll R, et al. Preterm Umbilical Cord Management. ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://costr.ilcor.org/document/cord-management-at-birth-for-preterm-infants-nls-787-systematic-review
- 172. Gomersall J, Berber S, Middleton P, et al. Umbilical Cord Management at Term and Late Preterm Birth: A Meta-analysis. Pediatrics. Mar 2021;147(3) doi:10.1542/peds.2020-015404
- 173. El-Naggar W, Davis PG, Soll RF, et al. Cord Management at Birth for Term and Late Preterm infants. . ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed 15 August 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/cord-management-at-birth-for-term-and-late-preterm-infants-nls-1551-systematic-review</u>
- 174. Trevisanuto D, Roehr CC, Davis PG, et al. Devices for Administering Ventilation at Birth: A Systematic Review. Pediatrics. Jul 2021;148(1)doi:10.1542/ peds.2021-050174
- 175. Trevisanuto D, Roehr CC, Davis PG, et al. Devices for administering PPV at birth (NLS#870) [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021, 2021. https://costr.ilcor.org/document/devices-for-administering-positive-pressure-ventilation-ppv-at-birth-nls-870-systematic-review
- 176. Dainty KN, Atkins DL, Breckwoldt J, et al. Family presence during resuscitation in paediatric and neonatal cardiac arrest: A systematic review. Resuscitation. May 2021;162:20-34. doi:10.1016/j.resuscitation.2021.01.017
- 177. Dainty KN, Atkins DL, Breckwoldt J, et al. Effect of family presence during resuscitation in pediatric cardiac arrest on patient, parent and health care provider outcomes: A systematic review ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed August 15, 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/systematic-review-nls-family-presence-during-resus-neonatal-costr</u>
- 178. Bray JE, Eastwood K, Bhanji F, et al. Self-directed digitally-based basic life support (BLS) education and training in adults and Children [Internet] ILCOR.org. Updated April 19, 2021. Accessed Augist 15, 2021, 2021. <u>https://costr.ilcor.org/document/self-directed-digital-bls-training-eit-647-tf-systematic-review</u>
- 179. American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council. Education: Opioid education and Naloxone distribution position statement. Red Cross Learning Center. Updated June 2020. Accessed August 30, 2021. <u>https://www.redcrosslearningcenter.org/s/</u>
- Pellegrino JL, Krob JL, Orkin A. First Aid Education for Opioid Overdose Poisoning: Scoping Review. Cureus. Jan 3 2021;13(1):e12454. doi:10.7759/ cureus.12454



American Red Cross Training Services

78

# **Appendix A: Abbreviations in Focused Updates and Guidelines 2021**

## **Commonly Used Abbreviations**

A-B-C	Airway-Breathing-Circulation
AED	automated external defibrillator
ARCSAC	American Red Cross Scientific Advisory Council
BiPAP	bilevel positive airway pressure
BMI	body mass index
BMV	bag-mask ventilation
CARES	Cardiac Arrest Registry for Enhanced Survival
CCF	chest compression fraction
С	Celsius
CO-CPR	compression-only CPR
CoSTR	Consensus on Science with Treatment Recommendations
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
CPAP	continuous positive airway pressure
CPC	Cerebral Performance Category
CPR	cardiopulmonary resuscitation
CV	compression-to-ventilation
CV-CPR	compression-ventilation CPR
ECG	electrocardiogram
ECMO	extracorporeal membrane oxygenation
ED	emergency department
EMS	emergency medical services
ETCO <sub>2</sub>	end-tidal carbon dioxide
FiO <sub>2</sub>	fraction of inspired air
ICU	intensive care unit
IHCA	in-hospital cardiac arrest



ILCOR	International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation
NICU	neonatal intensive care unit
NSTEMI	non-ST elevation myocardial infarction
OHCA	out-of-hospital cardiac arrest
PaO <sub>2</sub>	partial pressure of oxygen
PEEP	positive end-expiratory pressure
PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention
PPE	personal protective equipment
PPV	positive pressure ventilation
ROSC	return of spontaneous circulation
SSC	Surviving Sepsis Campaign
SaO <sub>2</sub>	oxygen saturation
STEMI	ST-elevation myocardial infarction
TTM	targeted temperature management
VF	ventricular fibrillation
VSE	vasopressin-steroids-epinephrine
VT	ventricular tachycardia

## **Abbreviations in Statistical Analyses**

aOR adjusted odds ratio

- ARR absolute risk reduction
- CI confidence interval
- MD mean difference
- sample size n
- OR odds ratio
- Ρ probability
- relative risk RR
- RD risk difference
- RCT randomized controlled trial

